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INTRODUCTORY COVER NOTE
What is this document?

This document (the "Base Prospectus™) constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 8 of the
Prospectus Regulation in respect of all Products, other than Exempt Products (as described below). This
Base Prospectus is valid for 12 months after its approval and will expire on 24 June 2021.

This Base Prospectus may be supplemented from time to time to reflect any significant new factor,
material mistake or inaccuracy relating to the information included in it. The obligation to supplement a
prospectus in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to
the information included in it does not apply when such prospectus is no longer valid. Each supplement
will be available for viewing on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange at www.bourse.lu.

This Base Prospectus supersedes and replaces in its entirety the Base Prospectus dated 18 June 2019,
which expires on 25 June 2020, in respect of the Programme (as described below). This does not affect
any Securities issued prior to the date of this Base Prospectus.

When used in this document, "Prospectus Regulation" means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. References
in this Base Prospectus to "Exempt Products" are to Products for which no prospectus is required to be
published, in the EEA or the United Kingdom, under the Prospectus Regulation (or in respect of which
a separate prospectus will be published under the Prospectus Regulation).

Approval of the Base Prospectus

This Base Prospectus has been approved by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the
"CSSF"), which is the competent authority for the purpose of the Prospectus Regulation, for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the issue of Products (excluding Exempt Products) by Leonteq
Securities AG which may also be acting through its Guernsey branch (Leonteq Securities AG, Guernsey
Branch) or its Amsterdam branch (Leonteq Securities AG, Amsterdam Branch) (the "Issuer") under the
Programme during the period of 12 months from the date of this Base Prospectus. The CSSF has only
approved this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and
consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Pursuant to article 6(4) of the Luxembourg Law dated
16 July 2019 on prospectuses for securities (the "Luxembourg Prospectus Law"), by approving this
Base Prospectus, the CSSF gives no undertaking as to, and assumes no responsibility for, the economic
and financial characteristics of the Products to be issued hereunder or the quality and solvency of the
Issuer. Such approval should not be considered as an endorsement of the quality of the Products that are
the subject of this Base Prospectus. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of
investing in the Products.

The CSSF has neither approved nor reviewed the Form of Pricing Supplement or the information
contained therein nor reviewed any information in relation to an admission to trading on SIX Swiss
Exchange and offers to the public in Switzerland. In addition, the CSSF has neither approved nor
reviewed any information in relation to the Exempt Products.

This Base Prospectus has also been approved by the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the issue of Exempt Products only by the Issuer under the Programme
during the period of 12 months from the date of this Base Prospectus.

What type of products may be issued under this Base Prospectus?

The Issuer may from time to time issue securities in the form of Notes, Certificates or Warrants (all of
which are referred to in this Base Prospectus as "Products") as part of the European Issuance and
Offering Programme for the issuance of Notes, Certificates and Warrants (the "Programme") under this
Base Prospectus. Products may (a) have any maturity, (b) be listed and traded on a regulated (or other)
market, or not listed or traded, (c) be non-interest bearing or bear fixed or floating rate interest or other
variable interest, (d) have interest and/or redemption amounts which are dependent on the performance
of one or more underlying(s) (as described below), () be partially redeemed on partial redemption dates
prior to the scheduled final redemption date, (f) be settled by way of cash payment or delivery of the
underlying(s) and (g) provide that the scheduled amount payable could be as low as zero or else provide
some level of minimum scheduled amount payable at maturity (subject to the credit risk of the Issuer).
Products may or may not be subject to mandatory early redemption dependent on the performance of the
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underlying(s) and/or have an option to allow early redemption at the discretion of the Issuer prior to
scheduled maturity.

The Products are unsecured and unsubordinated general obligations of the Issuer, provided that the Issuer
may issue Products with collateral security in the form of TCM Secured Products. The relevant Issue
Terms (as described below) will indicate whether or not the Product is a TCM Secured Product.

What type of underlying(s) may determine the interest and/or redemption amount payable (or
underlying(s) deliverable) under the Products?

The interest and repayment terms of Products issued under this Base Prospectus may be linked to the
performance of one or more of the following types of Underlying(s): share, participation certificate,
depositary receipt, index, commaodity, currency exchange rate, futures contract, fixed rate instrument,
derivative instrument, exchange traded fund share, fund unit, interest rate, reference rate or a basket
containing some or all of such types of assets. Investors in Products will have no rights of ownership in
the Underlying(s) in respect of such Product.

Who is the Issuer and where do | find information about them?

The Products will be issued by Leonteq Securities AG which may also be acting through its Guernsey
branch ("Leonteq Securities AG, Guernsey Branch") or its Amsterdam branch ("Leonteq Securities
AG, Amsterdam Branch") ("Leonteq" or the "Issuer"). The payment of any amount or delivery of any
underlying(s) under the Products is subject to the financial position of the Issuer and the ability of the
Issuer to meet its obligations at the relevant time. The Registration Document for the Issuer (as defined
in the section of this Base Prospectus entitled 'Information Incorporated by Reference’) which is
incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus, together with other information provided in this
Base Prospectus, provides a description of the business activities of the Issuer as well as certain financial
information and material risks faced by the Issuer.

The Products (other than the TCM Secured Products) are unsecured and unsubordinated general
obligations of the Issuer. The TCM Secured Products are general obligations of the Issuer that are
collateralized in accordance with the TCM Security Agreement (as described in more detail below in the
section of this Base Prospectus 'Description of TCM ("Triparty Collateral Management™) Secured
Products’).

How do | use this Base Prospectus?

This Base Prospectus (including the Registration Document and the other information which is
incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus) contains all information which is necessary to enable
investors to make an informed decision regarding the financial position and prospects of the Issuer and
the rights attaching to the Products. Some of this information is incorporated by reference from other
publicly available documents and some of this information is completed in the Issue Terms (as described
below). Investors should read each of these documents, before making any decision to invest in a Product.

What are Issue Terms?

"Issue Terms" means either (i) if the Products are not Exempt Products, the applicable Final Terms, or
(i) if the Products are Exempt Products, the applicable Pricing Supplement.

What are Final Terms?

The "Final Terms" will be prepared in relation to each issuance of Products (other than Exempt
Products), and sets out the specific details of the Products. For example, the Final Terms will contain the
issue date, the redemption date, the Underlying(s) to which the Products are linked (and the related
Underlying Specific Conditions which apply to the Product) and specify the applicable Payout
Conditions used to calculate the redemption amount and any interest payments (if applicable) of the
Product. Final Terms will be prepared and deposited with the FinSA Prospectus Office in connection
with each Swiss Public Offering/FMIA Admission to Trading (via FinSA Prospectus Recognition) (as
described in "Important Legal Information — Offer in Switzerland" below.

In addition, an issue-specific summary will be annexed to the Final Terms for each issuance of Products
(other than Exempt Products) where required under the Prospectus Regulation. Each issue-specific
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summary will contain a summary of key information relating to the Issuer, the Products, the risks relating
to the Issuer and the Products, and the offer of Products.

What is a Pricing Supplement?

A "Pricing Supplement” will be prepared in relation to each issuance of Exempt Products, and sets out
the specific details of the Exempt Products. For example, the Pricing Supplement will contain the issue
date, the redemption date, the Underlying(s) to which the Products are linked (and the related Underlying
Specific Conditions which apply to the Product) and specify the applicable Payout Conditions used to
calculate the redemption amount and any interest payments (if applicable) of the Exempt Product.

What are the risks in relation to the Products?

Investing in Products is subject to a number of risks, as described in the section of this Base Prospectus
entitled 'Risk Factors' below, including the section 'Risk Factors' in the Registration Document
incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Products are speculative investments, and returns may
at times be volatile and losses may occur quickly and in unanticipated magnitude. Depending on the
particular Payout Conditions (as described in this Base Prospectus and as specified in the applicable Issue
Terms) of the Product, investors may bear the risk of losing some or up to all of their investment
depending on the performance of the Underlying(s) to which the Product is linked. For all Products, if
the Issuer becomes insolvent or bankrupt or otherwise fail to make payment or delivery obligations on
the Product, investors will lose some or all of their investment (save in respect of TCM Secured Products
where investors will have a claim over certain collateral).

Investors should not acquire a Product unless they (whether on their own or in conjunction with a
financial adviser) understand the nature of the Product and the extent of the exposure to potential loss on
the Product, and any investment in a Product must be consistent with such investor's overall investment
strategy. Investors (whether on their own or in conjunction with a financial adviser) should consider
carefully whether the Product is suitable for them in the light of their investment objectives, financial
capabilities and expertise. Investors should consult their own legal, tax, accountancy, regulatory,
investment and other professional advisers as may be required to assist them in determining the suitability
of the Product for them as an investment.



Important Legal Information

IMPORTANT LEGAL INFORMATION

THE AMOUNT PAYABLE OR UNDERLYING(S) DELIVERABLE ON REDEMPTION OF
THE PRODUCTS MAY BE LESS THAN THE ORIGINAL INVESTED AMOUNT (AND IN
SOME CASES MAY BE ZERO), IN WHICH CASE INVESTORS WILL LOSE SOME OR
ALL OF THEIR INVESTMENT.

FOR ALL PRODUCTS, INVESTORS ARE SUBJECT TO THE CREDIT RISK OF THE
ISSUER. FOR TCM SECURED PRODUCTS ONLY, INVESTORS WILL ALSO HAVE
RECOURSE TO THE RELEVANT COLLATERAL. THE PRODUCTS (OTHER THAN THE
TCM SECURED PRODUCTS) ARE UNSECURED OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER. THE
PRODUCTS ARE NOT BANK DEPOSITS AND ARE NEITHER INSURED NOR
GUARANTEED BY ANY GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY OR DEPOSIT PROTECTION
SCHEME IN SWITZERLAND OR IN ANY OTHER JURISDICTION. THEREFORE, IF THE
ISSUER FAILS OR ARE OTHERWISE UNABLE TO MEET ITS PAYMENT OR
DELIVERY OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE PRODUCTS (OTHER THAN THE TCM
SECURED PRODUCTS), INVESTORS WILL LOSE SOME OR ALL OF THEIR
INVESTMENT. IN RESPECT OF THE TCM SECURED PRODUCTS, IF THE
COLLATERAL IS LIQUIDATED AND THE VALUE OF THE COLLATERAL IS LESS
THAN THE VALUE OF THE TCM SECURED PRODUCT, INVESTORS MAY LOSE SOME
OF THEIR INVESTMENT.

INVESTING IN PRODUCTS INVOLVES CERTAIN RISKS, AND INVESTORS SHOULD
FULLY UNDERSTAND THESE BEFORE THEY INVEST. SEE THE SECTION HEADED
'RISK FACTORS' BELOW.

EEA and UK Retail Investors

If the Issue Terms in respect of any Products includes a legend entitled 'Prohibition of Sales to EEA and
UK Retail Investors', the Products are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and
should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic
Area ("EEA") or in the United Kingdom ("UK"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person
who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU
(as amended, "MIFID I1"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the
"Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as
defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the
Prospectus Regulation. Consequently, no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No
1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation™) for offering or selling the Products or otherwise
making them available to retail investors in the EEA or the UK has been prepared and therefore offering
or selling the Products or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA or the UK
may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

Offer in Switzerland

If and to the extent the Products will be publicly offered, directly or indirectly, in Switzerland within the
meaning of the Financial Services Act of 15 June 2018 ("FinSA") or if the Products shall be admitted to
trading on a Swiss trading venue pursuant to the Financial Market Infrastructure Act of 19 June 2015
("FMIA"), e.g. on SIX Swiss Exchange, a prospectus in accordance with FinSA would be required as
from 1 December 2020. Such requirement may be met on the basis of (i) an automatic recognition of this
Base Prospectus in Switzerland under the rules of the FinSA by way of a notification of, and a registration
of this Base Prospectus with, a Swiss prospectus office (a "FinSA Prospectus Office™) pursuant to the
rules of the FinSA, as implemented by the relevant FinSA Prospectus Office and (ii) depositing the
relevant Final Terms with the FinSA Prospectus Office. Such a registration would be possible for a Base
Prospectus that is approved by the CSSF, as competent authority under the Prospectus Regulation. Any
such Swiss offering and/or listing and/or admission to trading described in this paragraph and in respect
of which the FinSA prospectus requirement is intended to be satisfied in accordance with (i) and (ii) in
this paragraph above, is referred to as a "Swiss Public Offering/FMIA Admission to Trading (via
FinSA Prospectus Recognition)".
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Except to the extent the Base Prospectus is registered with the FinSA Prospectus Office under the rules
of the FinSA, neither this Base Prospectus nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the
Products constitutes a prospectus pursuant to the FinSA, and neither this Base Prospectus nor any other
offering or marketing material relating to the Products may be publicly distributed or otherwise made
publicly available in Switzerland, unless the requirements of FinSA and Financial Services Ordinance of
6 November 2019 ("FinSO") for such public distribution are complied with.

None of the Products constitute a participation in a collective investment scheme within the meaning of
the Collective Investment Schemes Act of 23 June 2006 ("CISA™) and are neither subject to the
authorisation nor the supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority ("FINMA") and
investors do not benefit from the specific investor protection provided under the CISA.

If and to the extent the Products will be offered, sold or advertised, directly or indirectly to retail clients
(Privatkundinnen und -kunden) within the meaning of FinSA ("Retail Clients") a key investor document
(Basisinformationsblatt) pursuant to Article 58 et seq. of FinSA relating to the Products (a "FinSA-
KID") would need to be prepared, unless the Retail Clients shall receive a key information document
pursuant to the PRIIPs Regulation instead of a FinSA-KID. Prior to 1 January 2022, the issuer may use
a Swiss simplified prospectus in the sense of the CISA ("Swiss Simplified Prospectus") instead of a
FinSA-KID or a key information document pursuant to the PRIIPs Regulation.

Benchmarks Regulation: Amounts payable under the Products or underlying(s) deliverable under the
Products may be calculated or otherwise determined by reference to a reference rate, an index or a price
source. Any such reference rate, index or price source may constitute a benchmark for the purposes of
Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (as amended, the "Benchmarks Regulation"). If any such reference rate,
index or price source does constitute such a benchmark the relevant Issue Terms will indicate whether
or not the benchmark is provided by an administrator included in the register of administrators and
benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority ("ESMA"™)
pursuant to article 36 of the Benchmarks Regulation. Not every reference rate, index or price source will
fall within the scope of the Benchmarks Regulation. The registration status of any administrator under
the Benchmarks Regulation is a matter of public record and, save where required by applicable law, the
Issuer does not intend to update the relevant Issue Terms to reflect any change in the registration status
of the administrator.

No investment advice

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Issue Terms is or purports to be investment advice. Unless expressly
agreed otherwise with a particular investor, none of the Issuer or the Lead Manager is acting as an
investment adviser, providing advice of any other nature, or assuming any fiduciary obligation to any
investor in the Products.

Independent evaluation

Nothing in this Base Prospectus is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation (except
in respect of any purchase of Products described herein) or should be considered as a recommendation
by the Issuer or the Lead Manager that any recipient of this Base Prospectus (or any document referred
to herein) should purchase any Products.

Investors should not purchase any Products unless they understand the extent of the exposure to potential
loss. Investors are urged to read the factors described in the section of this Base Prospectus entitled 'Risk
Factors' below, together with the other information in this Base Prospectus (including any information
incorporated by reference), as supplemented from time to time, and the Issue Terms, before investing in
the Products.

Investors should note that (i) the risks described in the section in this Base Prospectus entitled 'Risk
Factors' below and (ii) the risks described in the section entitled 'Risk Factors' of the Registration
Document (which is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus) are not the only risks that the
Issuer faces or that may arise because of the nature of the Products. The Issuer has described only those
risks relating to its operations and to the Products that the Issuer considers to be material. There may be
additional risks that the Issuer currently considers not to be material or of which it is not currently aware.
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Given the nature, complexity and risks inherent in the Products (and investments relating to the type of
Underlying(s)), the Products may not be suitable for an investor's investment objectives in the light of
their financial circumstances. Investors should consider seeking independent advice to assist them in
determining whether the Products are a suitable investment for them and to assist them in evaluating the
information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or set out in the Issue Terms.

Investors have sole responsibility for the management of their tax and legal affairs including making any
applicable filings and payments and complying with any applicable laws and regulations. None of the
Issuer, the Lead Manager, any Agent or any of their respective affiliates will provide investors with tax
or legal advice and investors should obtain their own independent tax and legal advice tailored to their
individual circumstances. The tax treatment of securities, such as the Products, can be complex and the
tax treatment applied to an individual depends on their circumstances. The level and basis of taxation
may alter during the term of any Product.

Amounts due to be paid to investors are described on a gross basis, i.e., without calculating any tax
liability. The Issuer shall make no deduction for any tax, duty, or other charge unless required by law.

Potential for Discretionary Determinations by the Calculation Agent under the Products

Under the terms and conditions of the Products, following the occurrence of certain events outside of the
control of the Issuer, the Lead Manager, the Agents and their respective affiliates, the Calculation Agent
may exercise discretion to take one or more of the actions available to it in order to deal with the impact
of such event on the Products or (if applicable) the Issuer's hedging arrangements. Any such discretionary
determinations could have a material adverse impact on the value of and return on the Products.

Distribution

The distribution or delivery of this Base Prospectus or any Issue Terms and any offer or sale of Products
in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. This document does not constitute, and may not be used
for the purposes of, an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation
is not authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offering or solicitation. Other than
as expressly described in this Base Prospectus, no action is being taken to permit an offering of Products
or the delivery of this Base Prospectus in any jurisdiction. Persons into whose possession this Base
Prospectus or any Issue Terms comes are required by the Issuer to inform themselves about and to
observe any such restrictions. Details of selling restrictions for various jurisdictions are set out in the
section of this Base Prospectus 'Purchase and Sale' below and may also be set out in the Issue Terms.

United States selling restrictions

The Products and in certain cases, the Entitlements have not been and will not be registered under the
US Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or with any securities regulatory authority
of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States. Trading in the Products and the Entitlements has
not been approved by the US Commodities Futures Trading Commission under the US Commodity
Exchange Act of 1936 (the "Commodity Exchange Act") and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder. The Products and in certain cases, the Entitlements, may not be offered and sold within the
United States, or to or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the
Securities Act ("Regulation S")) ("U.S. persons"), except in certain transactions exempt from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. The Products are
being offered and sold outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S.

Products in bearer form may be subject to US tax law requirements (as described below). Subject to
certain exceptions, such Products may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its
possessions or to, or for the account or benefit of, United States persons (as defined in the US Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, (the "Code") and the regulations thereunder).

For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers, sales and transfers of Products and
delivery of this Base Prospectus and any Issue Terms, see 'Purchase and Sale' herein.

THE PRODUCTS HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY
THE US SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ANY STATE SECURITIES
COMMISSION IN THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER US REGULATORY AUTHORITY,
NOR HAVE ANY OF THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE
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MERITS OF THE OFFERING OF PRODUCTS OR THE ACCURACY OR THE ADEQUACY OF
THE OFFERING DOCUMENTS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL
OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES.

Guernsey Regulatory

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Products offered pursuant to this Base Prospectus have been
reviewed or approved by the Guernsey Financial Services Commission and neither the Guernsey
Financial Services Commission nor does the States of Guernsey take any responsibility for the financial
soundness of the Issuer or its securities, or for the correctness of any of the statements made or opinions
expressed with regard to it.

If you are in any doubt about the contents of this Base Prospectus you should consult your accountant,
legal or professional adviser or financial adviser.

The directors of the Issuer have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the facts stated in this document
are true and accurate in all material respects, and that there are no other facts the omission of which
would make misleading any statement in the document, whether of facts or of opinion. All of the directors
accept responsibility accordingly.

It should be remembered that the price of products and the income from them can go down as well as up.
Change of circumstances

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus (including the Registration Document or any other
information incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus) or any Issue Terms, nor any sale of
Products, shall create any impression that information in such documents relating to the Issuer is correct
at any time subsequent to the date of the Base Prospectus and the Registration Document or that any
other information supplied in connection with the Products or the Programme is correct as of any time
subsequent to the date of the relevant document containing the same (the foregoing being without
prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under applicable rules and regulations).

Representations

In connection with the issue and sale of Products, no person has been authorised to give any information
or to make any representation not contained in or consistent with the Base Prospectus and Issue Terms
and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been
authorised by the Issuer. None of the Issuer, the Lead Manager, any Agent or any of their respective
affiliates accepts any responsibility for any information not contained in this Base Prospectus and Issue
Terms.

Calculations and determinations

All calculations and determinations in respect of the Products shall be made by the Calculation Agent.
Unless otherwise specified in the Issue Terms for a particular Product, Leonteq Securities AG will act as
the Calculation Agent for all Products (in such capacity, the "Calculation Agent"). All calculations and
determinations made by the Calculation Agent in respect of the Products shall be final and binding on
the Issuer and Investors in the absence of manifest error. No liability shall attach to the Calculation Agent
for errors or omissions in respect of any calculation, determination or other exercise of discretion under
the Conditions provided that, it has acted in accordance with General Condition 11.2 (Determinations by
the Calculation Agent).

Capitalised terms

All capitalised terms used will be defined in this Base Prospectus or the Issue Terms and are referenced
in the Index to this Base Prospectus.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The following description constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of the
Article 25 of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 and does not purport to be complete and
is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, the remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to
the terms and conditions of any particular Products, the applicable Issue Terms.

Description:

Issuer (and legislation under which
the Issuer operates):

Lead Manager:

Paying Agent:

Calculation Agent:

In respect of TCM Products only:
Collateral Agent:
Custodian:

Status of the Products:

Listing and admission to trading:

European Issuance and Offering Programme (the
"Programme").

Leonteq Securities AG, Zurich, Switzerland

Leonteq Securites AG is authorised as a securities firm and
subject to supervision by FINMA.

Issuer Legal entity identifier (LEI):
ML61HP3A4MKTTAL1ZB671

Leonteq Securities AG, Zurich, Switzerland (unless otherwise
specified in the Issue Terms).

e In respect of SIX SIS Securities only: Leonteq Securities
AG, Zurich, Switzerland (unless otherwise specified in the
Issue Terms); and

e In respect of Euroclear/Clearstream Securities and
Euroclear Sweden Securities: the Issuer shall not issue any
Euroclear/Clearstream Securities or Euroclear Sweden
Securities until such time as it has duly appointed the
applicable Paying Agent(s).

Leonteq Securities AG, Zurich, Switzerland (unless otherwise
specified in the Issue Terms).

SIX Repo AG, Zurich, Switzerland.
SIX SIS AG, Olten, Switzerland.

The Products (other than the TCM Secured Products) constitute
direct, unsecured and unsubordinated general obligations of the
Issuer and rank equally among themselves and with all other
direct unsecured and unsubordinated general obligations of the
Issuer.

The TCM Secured Products constitute general contractual
obligations of the Issuer and are collateralized in accordance
with the TCM Security Agreement (as described in more detail
below in the section of this Base Prospectus '‘Description of
TCM ("Triparty Collateral Management™) Secured Products’).
The TCM Secured Products shall rank equally among
themselves and, save for such exceptions as may be provided by
applicable law, shall rank pari passu with all other collateralized
and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer.

The Products do not evidence deposits of the Issuer. The
Products are not insured or guaranteed by any government or
government agency.

Applications may be made to list the Products on a regulated
market or multilateral trading facility and admit the Products to
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Governing Law:

Clearing Systems:

Issue Price:

Currencies:

Maturities:

Minimum Denomination:

Method of Issue:

Selling Restrictions:

trading on a regulated market or multilateral trading facility, as
disclosed in the Issue Terms. Products may also be unlisted and
not admitted to trading. See the Issue Terms of the Product.

All Products issued under this Base Prospectus shall be
governed under English law or Swiss law, as specified in the
Issue Terms of the relevant Product.

SIX SIS Securities shall be cleared through the Swiss central
depository.

Euroclear Sweden Securities shall be cleared through Euroclear
Sweden AB.

Euroclear/Clearstream Securities shall be cleared through
Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. and Clearstream Banking, société
anonyme.

In the event that the applicable Issue Terms specify Monte Titoli
as the Relevant Clearing System, the Products may be held only
through an authorised intermediary entitled to hold securities
deposit accounts with the Monte Titoli on behalf of their
customers.

The Issue Price may be par, at a discount to par, or at a premium
over par. The issue price of the Products will likely be more than
its market value as at the issue date and more than the price at
which such Products may be sold in any secondary market
transactions.

Subject to compliance with all applicable laws, regulations and
directives, Products may be issued in any currency, as specified
in the Issue Terms of the relevant Product.

Any maturity, subject to all applicable laws, regulations or
directives, as specified in the Issue Terms of the relevant
Product.

All Products will have a minimum denomination or notional
amount of at least EUR 1,000 (or equivalent), save for any
Products which are non-equity securities giving the right to
acquire any transferable securities or to receive a cash amount
as a consequence of the rights conferred by them being
exercised (provided that Leonteq is not the issuer of the
underlying securities or an entity belonging to the same group
as the issuer of the underlying securities) provided that both (i)
Exempt Products and (ii) Unit Certificates shall have no
minimum denominations.

The Products will be issued in one or more series and each series
may be issued in tranches on the same or different issue dates.
The Products of each series are intended to be interchangeable
with all other Products of that series.

The offer and sale of Products may be restricted in certain

jurisdictions. See the section of this Base Prospectus 'Purchase
and Sale' below and the Issue Terms.
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Risk Factors

RISK FACTORS

An investment in Products involves substantial risks and is a riskier investment than an investment in
ordinary debt securities. An investment in Products is not equivalent to investing directly in the
Underlying(s).

The Issuer believes that the following risk factors are material for the purpose of making an informed
investment decision associated with the Products.

Investors should consider the following risk factors and should make any investment decision only on
the basis of the Base Prospectus as a whole including the documents incorporated by reference
(including the Registration Document), any supplements to the Base Prospectus and the applicable
Issue Terms.

Investors should not acquire Products without a thorough understanding of the mechanics of the
relevant Products and without being aware of the potential risk of loss. Investors should carefully
examine whether an investment in the Products is appropriate given their personal circumstances and
financial situation and should consult a financial advisor to discuss any questions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS - RISK FACTORS

Categories Page
1 Risk factors associated wWith the ISSUET ...........cccovrinincinc e 14
2 Risk factors associated with the Products ..., 14
2.1 Risks associated with the liquidity and value of the Products..................... 14
2.2 Risks associated with TCM Products and other types of Product............... 19
2.3 22

Risks associated with certain features of the Products .............cccceeveevveeee.
24 Risks associated with Products linked to one or more Underlyings............ 25

25 Risks associated with conflicts of interest of Leonteq AG as Issuer, Lead 36
Manager and Calculation Agent and its subsidiaries and of the
discretionary powers of the Issuer and Calculation Agent.............c.cccoeve.

RISK WARNING
Investors may lose some or all of their investment in the Products where:

. Minimum scheduled repayment amount less than invested amount: The terms of the
Product may not provide for scheduled minimum payment of the face value or issue
price of the Products at maturity (or, if applicable, across the partial redemption dates
and at maturity). Depending on the performance of the Underlying(s), investors may
lose some or all of their investment.

. Credit risk of the Issuer: The payment of any amount or delivery of any underlying(s)
due under the Products is dependent upon the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations
when they fall due. For TCM Secured Products only, investors will also have recourse
to the relevant collateral. The Products (other than the TCM Secured Products) are
unsecured obligations of the issuer. The Products are not deposits and they are not
protected under any deposit protection insurance scheme. Therefore, if the Issuer fails
or are otherwise unable to meet its payment or delivery obligations under the Products
(other than the TCM Secured Products), investors will lose some or all of their
investment. In respect of the TCM Secured Products, if the collateral is liquidated and
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2.1

the value of the collateral is less than the value of the TCM Secured Product, investors
may lose some of their investment.

Other circumstances:

. The market price of the Products prior to maturity may be significantly lower
than the purchase price investors paid for them. Consequently, if investors sell
their Products before their scheduled maturity (assuming investors are able to),
they may receive less (and potentially substantially less) than their investment.

. The Products may be redeemed in certain extraordinary circumstances prior to
their scheduled maturity and, in such case, the early redemption amount paid to
investors may be less than their investment.

. The terms and conditions of the Products may be adjusted by the Issuer and/or
Calculation Agent in certain circumstances with the effect that the amount
payable or underlying(s) deliverable to investors is less than their investment.

Risk factors associated with the Issuer

Investors bear the credit risk of the Issuer. The Products (other than the TCM Secured
Products) are not secured nor guaranteed by any deposit protection fund, any government or
any governmental agency

The Products (other than the TCM Secured Products) (the "Unsecured Products") issued by
the Issuer (i) are unsecured and unsubordinated general obligations of the Issuer, and not of any
of its affiliates, (ii) are not savings accounts or deposits of the Issuer and (iii) will rank pari
passu among themselves and with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of the
Issuer, except obligations, that are subject to any priorities or preferences by law.

Therefore, if the Issuer fails or is otherwise unable to meet its payment or delivery obligations
under the Unsecured Products, investors will lose some or all of their investment.

In the event of the insolvency of the Issuer, investors in the Unsecured Products may lose their
claim to repayment of the capital invested by them in whole or in part.

In respect of TCM Secured Products, in the event that the collateral is liquidated and the value
of the collateral is less than the value of the TCM Secured Product, investors will be exposed to
the credit risk of the Issuer and may lose some of their investment.

None of the Products constitute a participation in a collective investment scheme within the
meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes ("CISA™) and are neither
subject to the authorisation nor the supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory
Authority ("FINMA") and investors do not benefit from the specific investor protection
provided under the CISA.

Investors should read the section entitled ‘'Risk Factors' in the Registration Document (which is
incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus).

Risk factors associated with the Products

Risks associated with the liquidity and value of the Products and the possibility of adjustment
or early termination

(@)  The Products may not have an active trading market and an investor must be prepared
to hold the Product until its scheduled maturity

Investors must be prepared to hold the Products until their scheduled maturity.

The Products will have no established trading market when issued, and one may never
develop. If a market does develop, it may not be very liquid and investors may not be
able to find a buyer. Restrictions in respect of the purchase and/or sale of the Products in
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(b)

some jurisdictions may also have an impact on the liquidity of the Products. As a result,
investors may not be able to sell their Products or, if they can, they may only be able to
sell them at a price which is substantially less than the original purchase price.

The Products may be listed on a stock exchange but, in such case, the fact that such
Products are listed will not necessarily lead to greater liquidity. If the Products are not
listed or traded on any exchange, pricing information for such Products may be more
difficult to obtain and they may be more difficult to sell.

The specified size of the offer represents the maximum amount of the Products being
offered but does not give any indication as to the volume of the Products being effectively
issued. This volume is determined according to the market conditions and may change
during the term of the Products, and a significant portion of the issuance of any Products
may be held by the Issuer or Lead Manager. Therefore, investors should note that it is
not possible to predict the liquidity of the Products in the secondary market based on the
specified size of the offer. For these reasons as well, a secondary market for the Products
may not develop.

The Issuer is under no obligation to make a market or to repurchase the Products (subject
to the next paragraph). The Issuer and/or the Lead Manager may, but are not obliged to,
at any time purchase Products at any price in the open market or by tender or private
agreement. Any Products so purchased may be held or resold or surrendered for
cancellation. If any Products are redeemed in part, then the number of Products
outstanding may decrease. Any of these activities may have an adverse effect on the
liquidity and/or price of the outstanding Products in the secondary market.

Any of the Issuer and/or the Lead Manager or other party may, as part of its activities as
a broker and dealer in fixed income and equity securities and related products or pursuant
to stock exchange listing requirements, make a secondary market in relation to any
Products and may provide an indicative bid price on a daily basis. Any indicative prices
so provided shall be determined by the relevant party in its sole discretion taking into
account prevailing market conditions and shall not be a representation by such party that
any Products can be purchased or sold at such prices (or at all).

However, any of these parties may suspend or terminate making a market and providing
indicative prices without notice, at any time and for any reason. Consequently, there may
be no market for the Products and investors should not assume that such a market will
exist. Investors may therefore not be able to sell their Product during its term and must
be prepared to hold the Product until its scheduled maturity.

Additionally, in special market situations, where the Issuer and/or the Lead Manager
is/are unable to enter into hedging transactions or where such transactions are very
difficult to enter into, the spread between the bid and offer prices may be temporarily
expanded in order to limit the economic risks of the Issuer and/or the Lead Manager.

Investors in listed Products or in Products linked to one or more listed Underlyings
are exposed to the risk that the Product or Underlying(s) could be delisted or suspended
from trading, and this might have an adverse effect on the value of the Product

It is possible that during the lifetime of the Product, an Underlying is de-listed or
suspended from trading on the relevant exchange, reference market or quotation system
for reasons not attributable to the Issuer.

Itis also possible that the Products could be suspended from trading on or de-listed from
the relevant exchange or quotation system during the lifetime of the Product. The Issuer
is under no obligation to obtain a listing for any Products and, if a listing is obtained, the
Issuer is under no obligation to maintain it.

In either case, there could be an adverse impact on the value of and return on the Product.
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(©

(d)

(e)

®

The secondary market value of the Products will likely be lower than the original issue
price of the Products and sale of the Products in a secondary market may result in a
loss

Any secondary market prices of the Products will likely be lower than the original issue
price of the Products because, among other things, secondary market prices will likely
be reduced by selling commissions, profits and hedging and other costs that are
accounted for in the original issue price of the Products. As a result, the price, if any, at
which the Lead Manager or any other person would be willing to purchase the Products
in secondary market transactions, if at all, is likely to be lower than the original issue
price. Accordingly, any sale of the Product by an investor prior to the scheduled
redemption date could result in a substantial loss to the investor.

If listed, the Products can be traded on an exchange during their term. However, the price
of the Products is not determined according to supply and demand, since if there is a
secondary market, it will likely be provided by a market maker (e.g. potentially the Lead
Manager or a third party, as the case may be, in such role). Any such market maker will
quote independently calculated bid and offer prices for the Products on the secondary
market. This price calculation is performed on the basis of customary pricing models of
the market maker in which the theoretical value of the Product is basically determined
on the basis of the value of the Underlying(s) and other adjustable parameters. The other
parameters may include derivative components, expected income from the Underlying(s)
(e.g., dividends), interest rates, the term or remaining term of the Product, the volatility
of the Underlying(s) and the supply and demand situation for hedging instruments. These
or other value-determining parameters may lead to a depreciation in value of the Product,
even if during the term the Underlying(s) develop favourably for the investor. Please see
also Risk Factor 2.5(a)(vii) "Conflicts of interest related to market making for the
Products" below.

Fees and other transaction costs will likely reduce the return that an investor would
otherwise realise on a Product

Commission and other transaction costs which are incurred when buying or selling
Products may, especially in conjunction with a low contract value, result in cost burdens
which may reduce the returns on a Product. Therefore, before purchasing a Product,
investors should obtain information regarding all costs arising when purchasing and
selling the Product.

In the case of a subscription period the Issuer reserves the right to end the subscription
period early or to extend it and that the Issuer is not obliged to accept subscription
applications or to issue subscribed Products

The Final Terms may provide for the Products to be offered during a particular
subscription period. Investors should note in this case that the Issuer reserves the right to
end the subscription period early or to extend it. In the case of an early ending or an
extension of the subscription period, the initial fixing date or any other relevant valuation
date, as the case may be, which determines certain characteristics of the Products, may
be adjusted along with the Issue Date. The Issuer is not obliged to accept subscription
applications. Partial allocations are possible (in particular in the event of
oversubscription). The Issuer is not obliged to issue subscribed Products. For these
reasons, investors in Products subject to a public offering may receive a Product with
different valuation dates than expected and may not receive the Product at all.

Investors are exposed to the risks of adverse foreign exchange rate movements where
the Underlying(s) is one or more rates of exchange or because the currency of the
Underlying(s) needs to be converted to the currency of the Product and/or where the
currency of the Product is different from the currency of the investor's home
jurisdiction, and could lose some of their investment or realise a lower return than in
the absence of such foreign exchange feature
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(9)

(h)

0]

If the return on the Product is dependent on one or more rates of foreign exchange —
either because the Underlying(s) is one or more rates of exchange or because the currency
of the Underlying(s) needs to be converted to the currency of the Product — an investor
is exposed to the risk of adverse movements in the value of the relevant foreign currency
vs the relevant base currency or currency of the Product.

An investor will also be exposed to the risk of adverse foreign exchange rate movements
where the currency of the Product is different from the currency of the investor's home
jurisdiction.

Exchange rates are determined by supply and demand factors on international foreign
exchange markets, which are subject to economic factors, speculation and actions by
governments and central banks (such as currency controls or restrictions) and cannot be
predicted. Also, significant movements in exchange rates may not correlate with the
performance of the Underlying(s) or other variables such as interest rates, and the timing
of such changes may have a negative impact on the value of and return on the Products.
This may result in a significant loss of the investor's investment in the Product or the
realisation by the investor of a lower return than it would have obtained in the absence
of such foreign exchange feature.

Changes in tax law or in the tax treatment of the Products could have a negative impact
on the value of and the return on the Product to an investor

Investors should note that it is possible that the tax regime applicable to the Products
may be changed in a manner not foreseeable at the time the Products are issued. A risk
of changes in the tax treatment of the Products exists for all relevant jurisdictions. The
level and basis of taxation on the Products and on the investor depend on the investors
individual circumstances and could change at any time and may have an adverse impact
on the return received by the investor under the Product.

Any statements made in this Base Prospectus regarding the tax treatment of the Products
only relate to the purchase of the Products immediately after the issue (primary
purchase). Both in the case of primary purchase and if an investor purchases the Products
later, investors should therefore seek advice from a tax advisor about the tax effects in
connection with the purchase, holding, exercising or the sale of the Products prior to the
purchase. Furthermore, it is possible that the tax authorities may come to a different
conclusion than the Issuer regarding tax treatment when interpreting and applying the
relevant tax rules to the investor's investment in the Products. Any such tax treatment
could have an adverse impact on the return received by the investor under the Product.

Payments on the Products may be treated as "‘substitute dividend equivalent"
payments and subject to U.S. withholding tax

Under section 871(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code") and
regulations thereunder, a payment on a financial instrument that references a US equity
or an index that includes a U.S. equity may be treated as a "dividend equivalent"
payment. Such payments generally will be subject to U.S. withholding tax at a rate of 30
per cent. If withholding applies, the Issuer will not pay any additional amounts with
respect to amounts withheld. The relevant Issue Terms will indicate if the Issuer has
determined that a Product is subject to withholding under section 871(m) of the Code.
Although the Issuer's determination generally is binding on Investors, it is not binding
on the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. The U.S. Internal Revenue Service may
successfully argue that payments on a Product are subject to withholding under section
871(m), notwithstanding the Issuer's determination to the contrary. Investors should
consult their tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences to them of
section 871(m) and regulations thereunder, and whether payments or deemed payments
on the Products constitute dividend equivalent payments.

In certain circumstances, the Issuer has the right to terminate the Products prior to
scheduled maturity and other than on an autocall redemption date. In such case,
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)

(k)

investors will receive the Unscheduled Early Redemption Amount, which amount may
be zero

The Issuer has the right to early terminate the Products in certain circumstances set out
in the terms and conditions of the Products; for example if an adjustment is not possible
or upon occurrence of an Additional Disruption Event. In such case, the Issuer will
redeem the Products at the Unscheduled Early Redemption Amount, i.e., in the event of
an unscheduled early redemption there will be no right to payment of any amount
provided for in the terms and conditions of the Products to be calculated on the basis of
a redemption formula at the end of the term. Investors should note that, such amount may
be zero in the worst case, i.e., the investor may suffer a total loss of the capital invested.

In the case of an unscheduled early redemption, the investor may only be able to reinvest
the amount to be paid by the Issuer on less favourable market terms compared with those
existing when the Product was purchased.

Finally, investors bear the risk that their expectations with respect to a potential increase
in the value of a Product over its scheduled term will not be realised due to the early
termination of the Product.

Market disruptions and adjustment measures may negatively affect the value of and
return on the Products and lead to payment delays

Under the terms and conditions of the Products, the Calculation Agent may determine
that a Market Disruption Event (as defined in the Underlying Specific Conditions) has
occurred or exists at a certain time. Such an event could lead to the postponement of a
date on which the Calculation Agent is to establish a valuation of the Underlying (in
some cases, potentially up to 60 days) and in certain circumstances lead to the
Calculation Agent estimate the relevant price or level of such Underlying and/or to a
corresponding delay in the settlement of the Products. No interest shall be payable in
respect of any such postponement of the settlement of the Products and any such
postponement or estimate of value could have a negative impact on the value of and
return on the Products.

Adjustments will be made in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Products.
In the event of adjustments relating to the Underlying(s), it is possible that the estimates
and/or assumptions on which an adjustment was based turn out to be incorrect and that
the adjustment turns out to be unfavourable for the investor and that the adjustment has
a negative impact on the value of or return on the Product.

The terms and conditions of the Products may be amended by the Issuer without the
consent of the Investors in certain circumstances

The terms and conditions of the Products may be amended by the Issuer without the
consent of the Investors in any of the following circumstances:

. to cure a manifest or proven error or omission;

. where such amendment will not materially and adversely affect the interests of
Investors;

. to correct or supplement any defective provision;

. where the amendment is of a formal, minor or technical nature;

. to comply with mandatory provisions of law; and

. as a result of certain events in respect of the underlying assets (including, but not

limited to, adjustment events, potential adjustment events, extraordinary events
and additional disruption events (as specified in the relevant underlying specific
conditions)).
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2.2

For these reasons, in the above circumstances, the terms and conditions of an investor's
Product may be amended without the investor's consent and/or against the investor's
wishes.

Risks associated with TCM Products and other types of Products

The following is a description of certain risks associated with TCM Products, Tracker
Products and Leverage Products. These descriptions are additional to the other risks that
apply to these Products, as described in this section "Risk Factors™ (including, without
limitation, '2.3  Risks associated with certain features of the Products’)

(@)

Risks associated with TCM Secured Products

The collateralization in accordance with the terms of the TCM Security Agreement
eliminates the Issuer default risk only to the extent that the proceeds from the liquidation
of collateral upon occurrence of a Realization Event (less the costs of the Collateral
Agent in respect of the liquidation and payout of the liquidation proceeds) are able to
meet the Investors' claims. If the current value of the Product is set too low or the value
of collateral is set too high prior to liquidation, the collateralization of the Product may
be insufficient to satisfy the Investors' claims. If the Conditions provide for a termination
right of the Issuer in the event that the TCM Security Agreement is terminated, the
Investor bears the reinvestment risk if the Issuer exercises its termination right.

In respect of TCM Secured Products, the Investors bear the following risks (among
others): (i) the Collateral Provider is unable to supply the additionally required collateral
if the value of the TCM Secured Product rises or the value of the collateral decreases;
(ii) in a Realization Event, the collateral cannot be liquidated immediately by the
Collateral Agent because of factual hindrances or because the collateral must be handed
over to the executory authorities for liquidation; (iii) the market risk associated with the
collateral results in insufficient liquidation proceeds or, in extreme circumstances, the
collateral might lose its value entirely until the liquidation can take place; (iv) the
payment of the pro-rata share of net liquidation proceeds may be made in a currency that
is not the settlement currency of the TCM Secured Product; (v) the collateralization is
challenged according to the laws governing debt enforcement and bankruptcy, such that
the collateral cannot be liquidated according to the terms of the TCM Security
Agreement.

The collateralization of the TCM Secured Products does not eliminate the risk that there
might not be a buyer for the TCM Secured Product during its lifetime and the Investor
may need hold the TCM Secured Product until maturity.

Any costs of the liquidation of the collateral shall be covered out of the proceeds of the
liquidation of the collateral.

The payment of the net liquidation proceeds to the Investors may be delayed for factual
or legal reasons.

The Collateral Agent is not required to undertake investigations with regard to the
occurrence of a Realization Event. In determining the occurrence of a Realization Event,
it bases its decision on reliable sources of information only. The Collateral Agent
determines with binding effect for the investors whether an incident qualifies as a
Realization Event and at what point in time the Realization Event occurred and such a
determination may or may not be in the favour of Investors.

The Conditions of the TCM Secured Products may provide for a termination right of the
Issuer in the event that (a) the TCM Security Agreement is terminated and (b) due to
such termination it is not possible to collateralize the TCM Secured Products in
accordance with the provisions of the TCM Security Agreement. If the Issuer exercises
its termination right, the Products will be redeemed early and the Investors bear the risk
that their expectations with respect to an increase in the value of the TCM Secured
Products may no longer be satisfied due to the early redemption. In the case of a
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termination, it must also be considered that the Investors bear the reinvestment risk. This
means that he or she may possibly only be able to reinvest the early redemption amount
paid by the Issuer on more unfavourable market conditions than those existing when the
Product was purchased.

(b)  Risks associated with Tracker Products

(i)

(i)

The Management Fee Deduction will reduce the return that an investor would
otherwise realise

If 'Management Fee Deduction' is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms
the value of and return on the Product will be reduced by a management fee. The
management fee will be a percentage specified in the Issue Terms and will accrue
from the Initial Fixing Date until the Final Fixing Date, therefore the longer the
term of the product, the greater the reduction in the value of and return on the
Product by the management fee. Before purchasing a Product Investors should
understand the effect of the management fee on the value of and return on the
Product.

The Accrued Management Fee will reduce the return that an investor would
otherwise realise

If "Tracker Product Style' is specified to be 'Single Underlying with Composite
FX (Notional Units)' or 'Single Underlying with no FX (Notional Units)' in the
Issue Terms, the value of and return on the Product will be reduced by an accrued
management fee. The accrued management fee is (A) deducted directly from the
redemption amount an Investor would otherwise receive and (B) reduces the
number of "units” of the underlying used in the calculation of the redemption
amount. Before purchasing a Product Investors should understand the effect of
the management fee on the value of and return on the Product.

(c)  Risks associated with Leverage Products

(i)

(i)

(iii)

There are risks associated with the leverage feature of all Leverage Products

Each type of Leverage Product has a 'leverage' feature'. 'Leverage' refers to the
use of financial techniques to gain additional exposure to the Underlying. A
leverage feature will magnify the impact of the performance of the Underlying to
cause a greater or lower return on the Product than would otherwise be the case
in the absence of leverage. As such, a leverage feature magnifies losses in adverse
market conditions. The inclusion of such a leverage feature means that the
Products will be more speculative and riskier than in the absence of such feature,
since smaller changes in the performance of the Underlying can reduce (or
increase) the return on the Products by more than if the Products did not contain
a leverage feature. Investors should be aware that a small movement in the value
of the Underlying can have a significant effect on the value of the Products.
Products with a leverage feature are more likely to fall for automatic cancellation
in accordance with their terms below. In such event, an investor may lose some
or all of their investment.

The strike level of the Underlying may take into account the cost of financing
exposure to the Underlying

There are costs associated with financing the 'leveraged' exposure to the
Underlying (the "financing costs"). The Issuer may factor in these additional
financing costs in the setting of the strike level, and as a result the strike level may
be set at a less advantageous level for Investors than if such financing costs were
not factored in. A less advantageous strike level will reduce the value of and return
on the Products.

Investors may lose all of their investment
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(iv)

(v)

Each type of Leverage Product may be redeemed for a redemption amount equal
to zero, and as a result of such a redemption Investors would lose all of their
investment.

In respect of all Leverage Products, Investors will lose all of their investment if
the level of the Underlying on the final fixing date is either (a) in the case of Call
Warrant Products, Call Knock-Out Warrant Products and Bullish Mini Future
Products, at or below the strike level of the Underlying or (b) in the case of Put
Warrant Products, Put Knock-Out Warrant Products and Bearish Mini Future
Products, at or above the strike level of the Underlying.

Investors should note that in respect of Call Warrant Products, Put Warrant
Products, Call Knock-Out Warrant Products and Put Knock-Out Warrant
Products, if the strike event is specified to be either 'at or above' or ‘at or below'
(as applicable) then if the final fixing level is equal to the strike level, a strike
event will be deemed to have occurred. However, in such a scenario, the
redemption amount determined in accordance with the redemption formula shall
be zero and investors will lose all of their investment.

There are risks associated with the knock-out feature of Knock-Out Warrant
Products

Investors in Knock-Out Warrant Products will also lose all of their investment if
a "knock-out" event has occurred and the Issue Terms does not specify 'Rebate’
to be 'Applicable’. A "knock-out event" occurs if the level of the Underlying on a
specified date (or in a specified period) is (a) in the case of Call Knock-Out
Warrant Products, above or at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) a
predefined "knock-out level®, or (b) in the case of Put Knock-Out Warrants, is
below or at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) a predefined "knock-out
level.

Investors should note in this context that the price of Knock-Out Warrant Products
is reduced disproportionately compared to Warrant Products if the level of the
Underlying approaches the relevant "knock-out level".

There are risks associated with the stop loss feature of Mini Future Products

Investors in Mini Future Products bear the risk that the Products automatically
redeem early if a "stop loss event" occurs, and in such case, Investors may lose
all of their investment. A "stop loss event" occurs if the level of the Underlying
in a specified period is (a) in the case of Bullish Mini Future Products, below or
at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) a predefined "stop loss level™ or (b)
in the case of Bearish Mini Future Products, above or at or above (as specified in
the Issue Terms) a predefined "stop loss level”. If a "stop loss event" occurs
Investors may lose all of their investment if the Issuer (or any of its affiliates) is
not able to unwind its hedge positions in relation to the Product at a level that is
either (a) in the case of Bullish Mini Future Products, above the strike level or (b)
in the case of Bearish Mini Future Products, below the strike level.

Investors should note in this context that the price of the Mini Future Products is
reduced disproportionately compared to Warrant Products, if the price of the
Underlying approaches the predefined "stop loss level".

No continuous bid and ask prices for Mini Future Products are quoted by the
Issuer on the secondary market outside of the trading hours of the Underlying if
the Issuer expects a "stop loss event" to occur due to different price indicators
than the official price of the Underlying. Investors should note in this context that
the Issuer does not commit nor is under any obligation (legal or otherwise) to
quote bid and ask prices for the Products and Investors should therefore not rely
on being able to purchase or sell the Products at any time.
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Risks associated with Long/Short Products

M The Management Fee Deduction will reduce the return that an investor would
otherwise realise

If 'Long/Short Product Style' is specified to be 'Long/Short Product with
Management Fee Deduction' in the Issue Terms the value of and return on the
Product will be reduced by a management fee. The management fee will be a
percentage specified in the Issue Terms and will accrue from the Initial Fixing
Date until the Final Fixing Date, therefore the longer the term of the product, the
greater the reduction in the value of and return on the Product by the management
fee. Before purchasing a Product Investors should understand the effect of the
management fee on the value of and return on the Product.

(if)  There are risks associated with the stop loss feature of Long/Short Products

If 'Stop Loss Early Redemption' is specified to be ‘Applicable’ in the Issue Terms,
Investors in Long/Short Products bear the risk that the Products automatically
redeem early if a "stop loss event™ occurs, and in such case, Investors will lose
some or all of their investment. A "stop loss event™ will occur when the market
value of the Product (as determined by the Calculation Agent) falls below a
certain pre-determined percentage of the initial value of the Product.

2.3 Risks associated with certain features of the Products

(@)

(b)

(©

There are risks where the Products have a ‘leverage’ feature

'Leverage' refers to the use of financial techniques to gain additional exposure to the
Underlying(s). A leverage feature will magnify the impact of the performance of the
Underlying(s) to cause a greater or lower return on the Product than would otherwise be
the case in the absence of leverage. As such, a leverage feature magnifies losses in
adverse market conditions. In the terms of the Products, the leverage feature may be
referred to variously as 'Participation’, or other term and the Products will have ‘leverage’
where any of these factors is equal to more than 100 per cent (or 1.00). The inclusion of
such a leverage feature in the Products means that the Products will be more speculative
and riskier than in the absence of such feature, since smaller changes in the performance
of the Underlying(s) can reduce (or increase) the return on the Products by more than if
the Products did not contain a leverage feature. Investors should be aware that a small
movement in the value of the Underlying(s) can have a significant effect on the value of
the Products. Products with a leverage feature are more likely to fall for automatic
cancellation in accordance with their terms below. In such event, an investor may lose
some or all of their investment.

There are risks in relation to Products linked to the ‘worst performing’ Underlying in
a basket

Where the Conditions of the Products include a ‘worst-of' feature, investors will be
exposed to the performance of the Underlying which has the worst performance, rather
than the basket as a whole.

This means that, regardless of how the other Underlying(s) perform, if the worst
performing Underlying Asset in the basket fails to meet a relevant threshold or barrier
for the payment of interest or the calculation of any redemption amount, investors might
receive no interest payments or return on their initial investment and they could lose
some or all of their investment.

There are risks where the Products include a cap
Where the terms and conditions of the Products provide that the amount payable or
underlying(s) deliverable is subject to a pre-defined cap, the investor's ability to participate

in any positive change in the value of the Underlying(s) will be limited, no matter how
much the level, price or other value of the Underlying(s) rises above the cap level over the
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(9)

(h)

life of the Products. Accordingly, the value of or return on the Products may be
significantly less than if the investor had purchased the Underlying(s) directly.

There are risks where the Products have a ‘conditional” feature

If the Products include a 'conditional’ feature, then coupon will only be paid if the level,
price or other applicable value of the Underlying(s) on the relevant valuation date(s)
either reaches or crosses one or more specific barrier(s). It is possible that such level,
price or other applicable value of the Underlying(s) on the relevant valuation date(s) will
not either reach or cross the barrier(s) (as applicable), and therefore, no coupon will be
payable on the relevant coupon payment date. This means that the amount of coupon
payable to an investor over the term of the Products will vary and may be zero.

There are risks where the Products have a 'memory coupon' feature

If the Products include a 'memory coupon' feature, the payment of coupon will be
conditional on the value or performance of the Underlying(s). The coupon amount
payable will be zero on a coupon payment date if the Underlying(s) does not perform in
accordance with the terms of the Products although such payment will be deferred to the
next coupon payment date. If the Underlying(s) meets the performance criteria, the
coupon payable will be an amount for the current coupon payment date plus any amounts
deferred from previous coupon payment dates where coupon was not paid. Investors will
not be paid any coupon or other allowance for the deferred payments of coupon and it is
possible that the Underlying(s) never meets the performance criteria, meaning that
investors will not receive any coupon at all for the lifetime of the Products.

There are risks where the Products are open-ended

If the Products are 'open-ended' - meaning that they do not provide for an expiration date
or maturity date but may continue indefinitely until either the investor exercises its right
to put the Products or the Issuer exercises its right to call the Products — the investor is
subject to certain risks, including:

0] exercise of an Issuer call option or investor put option: the yields received
upon cancellation following a call by the Issuer or the investor's exercise of the
investor put may be lower than expected, and the amount received by the investor
may be lower than the initial price the investor paid for the Products and may be
zero; and

(i)  automatic early redemption of open-ended Products: the terms and conditions
of the Products may provide that the Products will automatically be redeemed
early in certain extraordinary circumstances. In such event, the Issuer will redeem
the Products at the "Unscheduled Early Redemption Amount™ which may be
substantially less than the value of the Products. In such circumstances an investor
is likely to receive less than the amount it invested and could receive zero.

There are risks where the Product has an Issuer Call Option (Fixed Term) or Investor
Put Option (Fixed Term)

Where the terms and conditions of the relevant Product provides either Issuer Call Option
(Fixed Term) or Investor Put Option (Fixed Term) to be applicable, the yields received
upon cancellation following a call by the Issuer or the investor's exercise of the investor
put may be lower than expected, and the amount received by the investor may be lower
than the initial price the investor paid for the Products and may be zero.

There are risks where the Products have a ‘barrier' feature

If the calculation of coupon or the calculation of any redemption amount depends on the
level, value or price of the Underlying(s) reaching or crossing a 'barrier' during a
specified period or specified dates during the term of the Products, such coupon or
redemption amount may alter dramatically depending on whether the barrier is reached
or crossed (as applicable). This means that the investor may receive less (or, in certain

23



Risk Factors

0]

0)
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0]

cases, more) if the level, value or price of the Underlying(s) crosses or reaches (as
applicable) a barrier, than if it comes close to the barrier but does not reach or cross it (as
applicable), and in certain cases the investor might receive no interest payments and/or
could lose some or all of its investment.

There are risks where the redemption of the Products depends only on the final
performance

If the Products determine the redemption amount based on the performance of the
Underlying(s) as at the final valuation date only (rather than in respect of multiple periods
throughout the term of the Products) then the investor may not benefit from any
movement in level, value or price of the Underlying(s) during the term of the Products
that is not reflected in the final performance.

There are risks in relation to Products where the "strike level® is predetermined

In respect of Products for which ‘Predetermined Strike Level' is specified to be
‘Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, notwithstanding that the strike level is specified as a
percentage of the Initial Fixing Level in the Issue Terms, the strike level was determined
on a date prior to the date on which the Initial Fixing Level is determined. As a result the
strike level will not reflect current market prices of the Underlying. The probability of
the occurrence of any events, along with any amounts due to investors, that are
determined by reference to the strike level(s) of the Underlyings will be different than if
such amount or events were determined by reference to current market prices of the
Underlying(s).

There are risks in relation to Products linked to a basket of Underlyings

Where Products are linked to a basket of Underlying(s), investors will be exposed to the
performance of each Underlying in the basket and investors should refer to the relevant
risk factors in the section relating to each of the asset classes represented. Investors
should also consider the level of interdependence or ‘correlation’ between each of the
basket constituents with respect to the performance of the basket. If the Underlying(s)
are correlated, the performance of the Underlying(s) in the basket can be expected to
move in the same direction (and vice versa) and investors should consider the impact of
this ‘correlation’ on the performance of the Products.

Investors should be aware that the performance of a basket with fewer constituents will
be more affected by changes in the values of any particular basket constituent than a
basket with a greater number of basket constituents.

The performance of basket constituents may be moderated or offset by one another. This
means that, even in the case of a positive performance of one or more constituents, the
performance of the basket as a whole may be negative if the performance of the other
constituents is negative to a greater extent.

If the Underlyings in the basket have different weights, investors should consider that
the lower the weighting of the Underlying, the lower the impact of the performance of
such Underlying on the performance of the entire basket.

There are risks in relation to Products that may be settled by way of delivery of the
relevant Underlying(s) at maturity

If the relevant Product is to be settled by way of delivery of the relevant Underlying(s),
upon maturity of the Products the delivery of the relevant Underlying may be made
instead of the payment of a monetary amount. In such case, since investors will be
exposed to the specific issuer and securities risks associated with the relevant Underlying
to be delivered, when purchasing the Products investors should consider all Underlyings
which could potentially be delivered. Investors should not assume that the Underlying to
be delivered after redemption of the Products can be sold at a specific price, in particular
not at a price equivalent to the capital used to purchase the Products. In certain
circumstances the delivered underlying may only have a very low value or may in fact
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be worthless. In this case, investors run the risk of losing all of their capital used to
purchase the Products.

Investors should therefore consider that any fluctuations in the price of the Underlying
after the end of the term of the Products will be borne by them until the respective actual
delivery. Losses in the value of the Underlying to be delivered may occur after the end
of the term and are to be borne by investors. This means that the actual gain or loss can
only be determined after delivery of the Underlying.

If the Underlying to be delivered is a registered share, investors should consider that the
rights associated with the shares (e.g., participation in the general meeting, exercise of
voting rights, etc.) can generally only be exercised by shareholders who are registered in
the share register or a comparable official list of shareholders of the company. The
obligation of the Issuer to deliver shares is limited to provision of the shares effected
with the characteristics and in the form that allow delivery via an exchange and does not
cover registration in the share register or list of shareholders. Any claims due to non-
fulfilment, in particular rescission or damage claims, are excluded in such cases.

Further, if delivery of the Underlying, for whatever reason, is economically or actually
impeded or not possible, the Issuer shall have the right to pay a compensation amount in
lieu of delivery of the Underlying.

There are risks where the Products have an ‘autocall® feature

Where the terms and conditions of the Products include an ‘autocall’ feature it should be
noted that the level of the Redemption Amount and the time for redemption of the
Products depend on whether an Autocall Event specified in the terms and conditions has
occurred on an Autocall Observation Date. If such event occurs, the term of the Products
ends early and the Products are redeemed early in accordance with the terms and
conditions. In the case of such early redemption, the future price performance of the
Underlying(s) is irrelevant to the investor.

There are risks where the Products have a 'capital protection at maturity’ feature

For Products which offer a capital protection at maturity date, the investor may, however,
lose part or all of the initially invested amount if the Products are sold by the investor
before the maturity date (since the value of the Products during their lifetime may be
lower than the amount of the capital protection due to market fluctuations).

Risks associated with Products linked to one or more Underlyings

(@)

General
(M Investors have no claim against or interest in any Underlying(s)

The Issuer has no obligation to hold the Underlying(s). Investors will not have
any legal or beneficial rights of ownership in the Underlying(s). For example,
where the Underlying(s) is a share, investors will have no voting rights, no rights
to receive dividends or other distributions or any other rights with respect to the
Underlying(s). In addition, investors will have no claim against any share issuer,
index sponsor, fund issuer, fund sponsor or any other third party in relation to an
Underlying(s); such parties have no obligation to act in investors' interests.
Accordingly, investors in the Products may receive a lower return on the Products
than they would have received had they invested directly in the Underlying(s).

(i) The value of and return on the Products will depend on the performance of the
Underlying(s), but such performance is not possible to predict and the economic
relationship between the value of and return on the Products will depend on the
performance of the Underlying(s) may not be clear and may change over time
and be affected by other matters
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(b)

The calculation of the redemption amount payable or, in the case of Products with
redemption by delivery of the relevant Underlying(s), the number of the
Underlyings to be delivered at maturity and, if and to the extent that the Products
have a variable interest rate, the coupon amounts, may depend on the performance
of one or more Underlying(s) during the term. This means that there is a
connection between the economic value of the Products and the economic value
of the Underlying(s) to which the Product is linked.

However, investors should be aware that there may not be a direct relationship
between the market value of the Products and the current price of the relevant
Underlying(s) since the market value of the Products may also be affected by
factors other than the current price of the relevant Underlying(s), such as volatility
of such Underlying(s), dividend payments or movements in the general interest
rates etc. Therefore, positive changes in the price of the relevant Underlying(s)
do not necessarily lead to a change in the market value of the Product which is
positive for the investor. A depreciation of the Product moreover may even occur
if the relevant price of the relevant Underlying(s) remains constant. Investors
should note that changes in the price of the relevant Underlying(s) (or even a
situation where an expected price change does not occur) can reduce the value of
the Products to a disproportionately high extent and even render them worthless,
unless the Products provide for payment of a scheduled minimum redemption
amount (or for partial redemption amounts). In particular, investors should not
assume that the price of the Products will recover in time in view of the limited
life of the Products.

Depending on the performance of the Underlying(s) and the Product, investors
may lose some of their investment.

Risks associated with Products linked to Underlying(s) which are shares

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Variable unpredictable factors may affect the performance of shares

The performance of the relevant share cannot be predicted and is determined by
macroeconomic factors, for example interest and price levels on the capital
markets, currency developments, political factors as well as company-specific
factors such as earnings position, market position, risk situation, shareholder
structure and distribution policy. Any one or a combination of such factors could
adversely affect the performance of the Underlying(s) which, in turn, would have
an adverse effect on the value of and return on the Products.

Investors will not be able to participate in dividends or other distribution on the
shares

Investors in Products linked to shares will not have any voting rights or rights to
dividends or interest payments or other distributions or other rights relating to the
share. Therefore, the return on the Products may be lower than holding such
Underlying(s) directly.

Actions by the issuer of a share may negatively affect the Products

The issuer of common shares of a company will not have participated in the
offering and issuance of the Products and none of the Issuer or the Lead Manager
will have made any investigation or enquiry in relation to the share issuer for the
purposes of the Products. Therefore, there can be no assurance that all events
occurring prior to the issue date of the Products that would affect the trading price
of the relevant share(s) will have been publicly disclosed. Subsequent disclosure
of any such events or the disclosure of or failure to disclose material future events
concerning the share issuer could affect the trading price of the share and therefore
the trading price of the Products. Also, investors should be aware that the issuer
of any common shares may or may not take actions in respect of common shares
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without regard to the interests of investors in Products and any of these actions
could have a negative effect on the value of and return on the Products.

Risks associated with Products linked to Underlying(s) which are participation
certificates

(M Variable unpredictable factors may affect the performance of participation
certificates

The performance of the relevant participation certificate cannot be predicted and
is determined by macroeconomic factors, for example interest and price levels on
the capital markets, currency developments, political factors as well as company-
specific factors such as earnings position, market position, risk situation and
distribution policy. Any one or a combination of such factors could adversely
affect the performance of the Underlying(s) which, in turn, would have an adverse
effect on the value of and return on the Products.

(i) Investors will not be able to participate in distributions on the participation
certificates

Investors in Products linked to participation certificates will not have any rights
to distributions or other rights relating to the participation certificate. Therefore,
the return on the Products may be lower than holding such Underlying(s) directly.

(iii)  Actions by the issuer of the participation certificate may negatively affect the
Products

The issuer of participation certificate will not have participated in the offering and
issuance of the Products and none of the Issuer or the Lead Manager will have
made any investigation or enquiry in relation to the participation certificate issuer
for the purposes of the Products. Therefore, there can be no assurance that all
events occurring prior to the issue date of the Products that would affect the
trading price of the relevant participation certificate(s) will have been publicly
disclosed. Subsequent disclosure of any such events or the disclosure of or failure
to disclose material future events concerning the participation certificate issuer
could affect the trading price of the participation certificate and therefore the
trading price of the Products. Also, investors should be aware that the issuer of
any participation certificate may or may not take actions in respect of participation
certificate without regard to the interests of investors in Products and any of these
actions could have a negative effect on the value of and return on the Products.

Risks associated with Products linked to Underlying(s) which are depositary receipts

Products linked to securities representing shares or depositary receipts ("Depositary
Receipts") may carry additional risks compared to Products linked to shares.

Each Depositary Receipt represents one or more underlying shares or a fraction of the
security of a non-domestic stock corporation. The legal owner of the underlying shares
is, for both types of Depositary Receipts, the depositary, which is also the issuing agent
of the Depositary Receipts. Depending on the jurisdiction under which the Depositary
Receipts have been issued and under which the depositary agreement is governed, it
cannot be ruled out that the jurisdiction will not accept the holder of the Depositary
Receipts as the actual beneficial owner of the underlying shares. In particular in the event
that the depositary becomes insolvent or is subject to foreclosure, it is possible that a
restraint on disposal of the underlying shares of the Depositary Receipts will be imposed
or that such shares will be disposed of in the context of a foreclosure against the
depositary. In this case, the holder of the Depositary Receipts will lose the rights over
the underlying shares which are certified in the Depositary Receipt. The Depositary
Receipt as the underlying of the Products and therefore the Products relating to such
Depositary Receipt will become worthless.
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In such a scenario the Investor is exposed to the risk of the value of the redemption of
such Products being less than the capital invested for the Product (including related
transaction costs) or zero.

Any fees and costs that the custodian bank — generally having its registered office in the
home country of the issuer of the underlying shares — or the depositary incur can have a
negative impact on the value of the Depositary Receipts and thus on the value of the
Products.

Risks associated with Products linked to Underlying(s) which are indices

In the case of Products linked to indices, the redemption amount depends on the
performance of the index and thus of the components contained in the index. During the
term, the market value of the Products can, however, also deviate from the performance
of the index or components contained in the index since other factors such as the
correlation, volatilities, interest level and (if applicable) the reinvestment of any dividend
payments relating to the components contained in the index, may have an impact on the
performance of the Products.

In the case of a 'price index' as an underlying, investors should note that dividend
payments are in principle not taken into account (whereas in the case of a 'performance
index' the calculation of such index takes into account all dividend payments). Therefore,
investors should note that they will not participate in any dividend payments with regard
to the components contained in the underlying.

Investors should note that the index sponsor or the person responsible for the
composition of the Index as well as the Issuer may be subject to new regulatory
requirements with regard to the publication and the use of an index during the term of
the Products which may require an admission or a registration of the respective index
and an index modification in order to comply with the statutory provisions. Therefore, it
cannot be excluded that an index will be modified, cancelled or may no longer be used.
In each of these cases the Issuer and/or the Calculation Agent is entitled to make
adjustments pursuant to the Conditions and to make determinations with respect to the
price of the index in its discretion in order to calculate the amount owed at the end of the
term of the Product and/or after an exercise or in the case of a termination of the Products.

The index sponsor may, in its reasonable discretion, either (i) on a regular basis and, as
the case may be, on non-predetermined dates or (ii) upon the occurrence of extraordinary
events, remove or replace or add new components to such an Index or make other
changes to the methodology. A new component may perform significantly better or
worse than the replaced component, which in turn may affect the payments to be made
by the Issuer to the investor. The index sponsor or the person responsible for the
composition of the Index may also change, discontinue or suspend the calculation or
distribution of the Index and there can be no assurance that such decisions will be
beneficial to the performance of the Index. The index sponsor of an Index may take any
action in relation to the Index without regard to the interests of the investor and any such
action may adversely affect the market value of the Products.

The rules of the Index may provide, where applicable, that an Index fee shall be charged
by the index sponsor or by the Index calculation agent or by the person responsible for
the composition of the Index which reduces the level of the Index. This will particularly
be the case if there is a discretion of the index sponsor or the index calculation agent or
the person responsible for the composition of the index regarding the selection of the
index components. Accordingly, there is a risk that the Index does not reflect the
performance of the Index components or does so only partially. In the case of indices
whose start date is close to or shortly before the Initial Fixing Date or the Fixing Period
of the Products, historical information on the performance of the Index is missing or is
only available to a limited extent.
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Risks associated with Products linked to Underlying(s) which are futures contracts

There is generally a close correlation between the price movement of an underlying for
the relevant futures contract on a spot market and on the corresponding futures market.
However, futures contracts are generally traded at a premium or discount compared with
the spot price of the underlying of the futures contract. This difference between the spot
and futures prices, called the 'basis' in futures exchange terminology, on the one hand is
the result of taking into account the costs customarily arising in connection with spot
transactions (warehousing, delivery, insurance, etc.) and/or the income customarily
arising in connection with spot transactions (interest, dividends, etc.), and on the other
hand the different methods used to evaluate general market factors affecting the spot and
the futures market. Furthermore, depending on the relevant underlying, there can be
significant differences in the liquidity of the spot and respective futures market.

As the Products are linked to the market price of the futures contracts specified in the
Issue Terms, investors should understand how futures transactions work and are valued
in addition to knowing about the market in the underlying of the relevant futures contract
to be able to properly assess the risks inherent in purchasing the Products.

Since futures contracts as an underlying of the Products may have a fixed expiry date,
the current futures contract is replaced by the Issuer, at the time specified in the Issue
Terms, with a futures contract that has the same contract specifications as that futures
contract except for the expiry date which is more distant than that of the current futures
contract (referred to as "roll-over™).

Risk associated with whole-day trading of currencies and commodities

If any amounts due under the Products are determined on the basis of currencies or
commaodities, investors should consider that those are traded 24 hours a day as a result
of the time zones of Australia, Asia, Europe and United States of America. For this
reason it is possible that an event that is material in accordance with the Conditions or a
factor relevant for the determination of any right granted by the Product may occur or be
determined outside the business hours of the place where the Products are offered and/or
traded.

Risks associated with Products linked to Underlying(s) which are currency exchange
rates

Currency exchange rates indicate the relationship between one particular currency and
another currency. For example the exchange rate 'EUR/USD 1.11823' indicates that USD
1.11823 has to be paid to purchase one euro. An increase in this currency exchange rate
therefore means an increase in the value of the euro against the US dollar. The currency
exchange rate 'USD/EUR 0.89416', on the other hand, indicates that EUR 0.89416 has
to be paid to purchase one US dollar. An increase in this currency exchange rate therefore
means an increase in the value of the US dollar against the euro.

A country's currency may appreciate, for example, as a result of an increase in a country's
key interest rate, demand for such country's government bonds normally rises.
Conversely, a country's currency may depreciate if the key interest rate falls. Generally,
exchange rates are determined by supply and demand for currencies on the international
money markets which are, among other things, subject to economic factors, speculation
and actions taken by governments and central banks (e.g., exchange controls or
restrictions).

Currency exchange rates are influenced by a wide variety of factors, including inflation
rates in the countries concerned, interest rate differences between the respective
countries, economic forecasts, international political factors, currency convertibility and
the safety of making financial investments in the currency concerned. Apart from these
assessable factors there may be factors that are almost impossible to predict, for instance
factors of a psychological nature such as a loss of faith in the political leadership of a
country, which can also have a major impact on the value of the currency concerned.
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Risks associated with Products linked to Underlying(s) which are commaodities

The price risks involved in commaodities are often complex. Commodity prices are more
volatile than other investment categories and, in particular, commodity markets are less
liquid than bond, currency or stock markets. This means that changes in the supply and
demand have a larger impact on prices and volatility, making commaodities investments
riskier and more complex than other investments.

The factors that influence commodity prices are both numerous and complex. The
following are examples of some typical factors affecting commodities prices.

(i) The planning and management of commodities supplies are very time-
consuming. This means that the scope for action on the supply side is limited and
it is not always possible to adjust production swiftly to take account of demand.
Demand can also vary on a regional basis. Transport costs for commaodities in
regions where these are needed also affect their prices. The fact that some
commodities take a cyclical pattern, such as agricultural products which are only
produced at certain times of the year, can also result in major price fluctuations.

(i)  Direct investments in commodities involve costs related to storage, insurance and
tax. Moreover, no interest or dividends are paid on commodities. The total returns
from commodities investments are therefore influenced by these factors.

(iii)  Not all commodities markets are liquid and able to quickly and adequately react
to changes in supply and demand. The fact that there are only a few market
participants on the commodities markets means that speculative investments can
have negative consequences and may distort prices.

(iv)  Unfavourable weather conditions can influence the supply of certain commodities
for the entire year. This kind of supply crisis can lead to severe and unpredictable
price fluctuations. Diseases and epidemics can also influence the prices for
agricultural commodities.

(v)  Commodities are often produced in emerging market countries, with demand
coming principally from industrialised nations. However, the political and
economic situation of emerging markets is often far less stable than in
industrialised nations. They are generally much more susceptible to the risks of
rapid political change and economic setbacks. Political crises can affect investor
confidence, which can as a consequence influence commodity prices. Armed
conflicts can also have impact on the supply and demand for certain commaodities.
It is also possible for industrialised nations to impose embargos on imports and
exports of goods and services. This can directly and indirectly impact commodity
prices. Furthermore, numerous commodity producers have joined forces to
establish organisations or cartels in order to regulate supply and influence prices.

(vi)  Changes in tax rates and customs duties may have a positive or a negative impact
on the profitability margins for commaodities producers. If these costs are passed
on to buyers, these changes will affect the prices of the relevant commadities.

Additionally, the legal and regulatory regime in relation to commaodities is subject to
change in ways that could affect the Issuer's obligations in respect of any underlying or
hedging transactions in relation to the Products.

Changes to these legal and regulatory regimes may negatively affect the value of the
Products.

Such changes to the legal and regulatory regime in relation to commodities may also
adversely impact the Issuer's obligations in respect of any underlying or hedging
transactions in relation to the Products, or may make it unlawful or unfeasible in whole
or in part for any reason for the Issuer to access commodity markets for the purpose of
managing commodity market risk. This, in turn, may lead to adjustment to or early
redemption of the Products.
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In the event that there is an early redemption of the Products, any early redemption
amount may be less than the initial investment, and could even be zero. Additionally, the
investor may not be able to reinvest the early redemption proceeds at an effective interest
rate as high as the interest rate or yield on its Products.

Risks associated with Products linked to Underlying(s) which are funds

Factors affecting the performance of the Fund (being either (i) an exchange traded fund
("ETF"), which is an open ended or other fund traded like a share on an exchange, or (ii)
a fund, in each case that tracks or is linked to the performance of a portfolio of assets)
may adversely affect the market value of, and the return (if any) on, the Products linked
to such Fund.

The performance of a Fund is dependent upon the macroeconomic factors affecting the
performance of such assets which may include, among other things, interest and price
levels on the capital markets, commodity prices, currency developments, political factors
and, in the case of shares, company specific factors, such as earnings position, market
position, risk situation, shareholder structure and distribution policy. These factors
affecting the performance of the Fund(s) may adversely affect the market value of, and
the return (if any) on, the Products linked to such Funds.

(i) Exposure to the risk that the return on the Product does not reflect the return on
a direct investment in the fund units or ETF shares or the assets included in the
portfolio of the Fund(s)

An investor's return on Products linked to Fund(s) may not reflect the return such
investor would realise if he or she actually owned the relevant fund units, ETF
shares or assets included in the portfolio(s) of the Fund(s). For example, if the
portfolio of the Fund(s) includes shares or a share index, investors in the Products
linked to such Fund will not receive any dividends paid on such shares or the
shares included in such share index and will not benefit from those dividends
unless such Fund takes such dividends into account for purposes of calculating
the value of such Fund. Similarly, investors in Products linked to Fund(s) will not
have any voting rights in the shares or other assets that are included in the
portfolio(s) of the Fund(s). Accordingly, an investor in Products linked to Fund(s)
may receive a lower payment (if any) upon redemption of such Products than such
investor would have received, if he or she had directly invested in the fund units,
ETF shares or assets included in the portfolio of such Fund(s).

(i) A change in the composition or discontinuance of the Fund(s) could adversely
affect the market value of, and return (if any) on, Products linked thereto

In principle, the Issuer and the Calculation Agent have no influence on the
composition or performance of any Fund or any index that such Fund is intended
to replicate. The Management Company or the licensor/sponsor, as applicable, of
an underlying index can add, delete or substitute the assets included in such index,
respectively, or make methodological changes that could affect the value of such
Fund or of such underlying index, respectively. The substitution of assets
included in the portfolio of a Fund or in an underlying index, respectively, may
affect the value of such Fund, as a newly added asset may perform significantly
worse or better than the asset it replaces, which in turn may affect the market
value of, or payments (or other benefits to be received) under, the Products. The
Management Company or licensor/sponsor of any underlying index may also
alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of information on such
Fund or such underlying index, respectively. The Management Company and
licensor/sponsor of such underlying index are not involved in the offer and sale
of the Products and have no obligation to invest therein. The Management
Company and licensor/sponsor of such underlying index may take any actions in
respect of such Fund or such underlying index, respectively, without regard to the
interests of the investors in Products, and any of these actions could adversely
affect the market value of (or amount payable under) such Products. In particular,
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no assurance can be given that the performance of a Fund will be identical to the
performance of the assets included in the portfolio of the Fund(s) or which the
Fund intends to replicate, respectively, due to many factors.

Risks in relation to market price

The market price of interests in the Fund that are traded on an exchange may, due
to the forces of supply and demand, as well as liquidity and scale of trading spread
in the secondary market, diverge from their net asset value, i.e., the market price
per interest in the Fund could be higher or lower than its net asset value, and will
fluctuate during the trading day.

The performance of Fund(s) with a portfolio of assets that are concentrated in the
assets of a particular industry or group of industries could be more volatile than
the performance of Funds with portfolios of more diverse assets.

Risks in relation to costs of Funds

A Fund's performance will be affected by the fees and expenses which it incurs,
as described in its offering documents. Such fees and expenses may include the
investment management fees, performance fees and operating expenses typically
incurred in connection with any direct investment in a Fund. A Fund will assess
fees and incur costs and expenses regardless of its performance. High levels of
trading could cause a Fund to incur increased trading costs. Investors of Products
linked to Fund(s) will be exposed to a pro rata share of the fees and expenses of
the relevant Fund(s).

Valuation risk in relation to a Fund

The Calculation Agent will rely on the calculation and publication of the net asset
value per Fund Unit by the relevant Fund itself (or another entity on its behalf).
Any delay, suspension or inaccuracy in the calculation and publication of the net
asset value per Fund Unit will impact on the calculation of the return on the
Products. The value of and return on the Products may also be reduced if a Fund
delays payments in respect of fund share redemptions.

The Fund Units and/or the investments made by a Fund may be valued only by
administrators, custodians or other service provider of the Fund and may not be
verified by an independent third party on a regular or timely basis. There is a risk
that (i) the determinations of the Calculation Agent may not reflect the true value
of the Fund Units at a specific time which could result in losses or inaccurate pricing
and/or (ii) relevant values may not be available on a relevant date which could result
in the Fund Units of the Fund being determined by the Calculation Agent in its
discretion.

Risk that strategies of a Fund may not be successful in achieving its investment
objective

No assurance can be given that the investment strategy of a Fund will be
successful or that the investment objective of such Fund will be achieved, or that
any analytical model used by the relevant management company will prove to be
correct or that any assessments of the short-term or long-term prospects, volatility
and correlation of the types of investments in which such Fund has invested or
will invest will prove accurate. The analytical models utilised by a management
company of a Fund and upon which investment decisions are based may be
developed from historical analysis of the performance or correlation of historical
analysis of the performance or correlations of certain companies, securities,
industries, countries or markets. There can be no assurance that the historical
performance that is used to determine such analytical models will be a good
indicator of future performance, and if the future performance of a Fund varies
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significantly, the management company of such Fund may not achieve its
intended investment performance.

No assurance can be given that the strategies to be used by a Fund will be
successful under all or any market conditions. A Fund may utilise financial
instruments such as derivatives for investment purposes and/or seek to hedge
against fluctuations in the relative values of the Fund's portfolio positions as a
result of changes in exchange rates, interest rates, equity prices and levels of
yields and prices of other securities. Such hedging transactions may not always
achieve the intended outcome and can also limit potential gains.

The management of a Fund may have broad discretion over its investment
strategy, within specified parameters. A Fund could, for example, alter its
investment focus within a prescribed market. Any shift in strategy could bear
adverse consequences to a Fund's investment performance. Further, a Fund may
have difficulty realising on any strategy initiatives that it undertakes. It may not
sometimes be clear whether the Fund fulfils the investment criteria set out in its
investment guidelines.

Risks associated with Products linked to Underlying(s) which are reference rates
(including interest rates)

Reference rates are mainly dependent upon the supply and demand for credit in the
money market, i.e., the rates of interest paid on investments, determined by the
interaction of supply of and demand for funds in the money market. The supply and
demand in the money market on the other hand is dependent upon macroeconomic
factors, such as interest and price levels on the capital markets, currency developments
and political factors, or upon other factors, depending on the specific type of reference
rate. Such factors affecting the performance of a reference rate may adversely affect the
market value of, and return (if any) on, Products linked thereto.

In principle, the Issuer and/or the Calculation Agent (as the case may be) have no
influence on the determination of the reference rate(s). Reference rates are generally
calculated by an independent organization or a governmental authority, often based on
information provided by market participants. The entity publishing an interest rate or
reference rate can modify the calculation method for determining such reference rate or
make other methodological changes that could affect the value of the interest rate or
reference rate. The calculation or dissemination of such reference rate may also be
altered, discontinued or suspended. The entity publishing a reference rate is not involved
in the offer and sale of the Products and has no obligation to invest therein. The entity
publishing a reference rate may take any actions in respect of such reference rate without
regard to the interests of the investors in Products and any of these actions could
adversely affect the market value of such Products.

Risks associated with Products linked to Derivative Instruments or Fixed Rate
Instruments (each an "Instrument’")

Q) There are risks in relation to each type of Instrument

Instruments may be linked to different types of underlying assets, including, but
not limited to, indices and shares. Risks in relation to each type of underlying
asset are described in the section entitled "Risks associated with certain types of
Underlying".

(i)  Following the occurrence of certain events in relation to the Instruments, the
Instruments may be substituted or the Products may be redeemed early at the non-
scheduled early repayment amount

In the event that an Instrument is terminated or redeemed early or in the event of

changes to the terms and conditions of the Instrument, the Instruments may be
replaced with another instrument or the Products may be redeemed early at the
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unscheduled early redemption amount, which may be zero in the worst case, i.e.
the investor may suffer a total loss of the capital invested.

Risks associated with Products linked to Underlying(s) which are emerging markets
Underlyings

Investments in so-called emerging markets contain further risk factors in addition to the
risks normally associated with the investment in the respective underlying. These include
the unstable economic situation, high inflation, increased currency risks as well as
political and legal risks. The political and economic structures in emerging markets are
sometimes subject to considerable transitions and rapid developments and these
countries often lack social, political and economic stability if compared with more
industrialised nations. Of particular importance is the increased risk of currency
fluctuations. Instability in these countries can also be caused by authoritarian
governments or military interference in political and economic decision making. This
also includes anti-constitutional (attempted) regime change, civil unrest relating to
demands for improved political, economic and social conditions, hostile relations with
neighbouring countries or conflicts based on ethnic, religious or racial reasons.

There is also the possibility of restrictions being imposed on foreign investors,
expropriation of assets, confiscatory taxation, confiscation or nationalisation of foreign
bank deposits or other assets, the introduction of currency controls or other detrimental
developments which may adversely affect the success of investments in such countries.
Such adverse effects can, under certain circumstances, last for long periods of time, i.e.,
months or years. Each of these adverse effects may cause what is known as a market
disruption in relation to the Products and one of the results of this may be that during this
period no prices will be quoted for the Products affected by the market disruption.

The small size and lack of experience on the securities markets in certain countries as
well as the limited trading volume of securities can cause an underlying to be less liquid
and/or considerably more volatile than underlyings in more established markets. It is
possible that very little financial information is available on local issuers, which can
make it difficult to assess the value of and/or prospects of the underlying.

In addition, if the underlyings of the Products are quoted in local currency, i.e., not
hedged against the currency of the Products, there is an increased foreign exchange risk.
Experience shows that the currency exchange rates in emerging markets are subject to
particularly high fluctuations. This may result in a considerable negative performance of
the Product, even though the performance of the underlying during the term of the
Product has essentially remained unchanged or even risen. This may mean that some or
all of the total performance of the underlying may be eroded by currency losses and that
the performance of the underlying even may become negative.

The regulation and reform of certain published rates, indices, and other values or
"benchmarks™ may adversely affect the value of and return on the Products linked to
such values or benchmarks

A number of major interest rates, other rates, indices and other published values or
benchmarks are the subject of national and international regulatory reforms. These
reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, to disappear
entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence
could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on Products linked to any
such value or benchmark.

The Benchmark Regulation

The EU Regulation on indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial
contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds (the "Benchmark
Regulation™) is a key element of ongoing regulatory reform in the EU and has applied,
subject to certain transitional provisions, since 1 January 2018. In addition to so-called
"critical benchmarks" such as LIBOR and EURIBOR, other interest rates, foreign
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exchange rates, and indices, including equity, commodity and "proprietary™ indices or
strategies, will in most cases be within scope of the Benchmark Regulation as
"benchmarks" where they are used to determine the amount payable under, or the value
of, certain financial instruments (including Products listed on an EU regulated market or
EU multilateral trading facility (MTF)), and in a number of other circumstances.

The Benchmark Regulation applies to the contribution of input data to a benchmark, the
administration of a benchmark, and the use of a benchmark in the EU. Amongst other
things, the Benchmark Regulation requires EU benchmark administrators to be
authorised or registered as such and to comply with extensive requirements relating to
benchmark administration. It also prohibits certain uses by EU supervised entities of (a)
benchmarks provided by EU administrators which are not authorised or registered in
accordance with the Benchmark Regulation and (b) benchmarks provided by non-EU
administrators where (i) the administrator's regulatory regime has not been determined
to be "equivalent” to that of the EU, (ii) the administrator has not been recognised in
accordance with the Benchmark Regulation, and (iii) the benchmark has not been
endorsed in accordance with the Benchmark Regulation.

The Benchmark Regulation could have a material impact on Products linked to a
'benchmark’. For example:

. a rate or index which is a 'benchmark' may not be used in certain ways by an EU
supervised entity if (subject to applicable transitional provisions) its administrator
does not obtain authorisation or registration (or, if a non-EU entity, does not
satisfy the ‘equivalence' conditions and is not 'recognised' pending an equivalence
decision); and

. the methodology or other terms of the benchmark could be changed in order to
comply with the terms of the Benchmark Regulation, and such changes could
reduce or increase the rate or level or affect the volatility of the published rate or
level, and (depending on the terms of the particular Products) could lead to
adjustments to the terms of the Products, including potentially determination by
the Calculation Agent of the rate or level in its discretion.

Reform and replacement of Interbank Offered Rates

Amongst other developments, relevant authorities are strongly encouraging the transition
away from Interbank Offered Rates ("IBORs"), such as LIBOR and EURIBOR, and
have identified "risk free rates" to eventually take the place of such IBORs as primary
benchmarks. This includes (i) for sterling LIBOR, a reformed Sterling Overnight Index
Average ("SONIA"), so that SONIA may be established as the primary sterling interest
rate benchmark by the end of 2021, (ii) for EONIA and EURIBOR, a new Euro Short-
Term Rate (ESTR) as the new euro risk- free rate, and (iii) for USD LIBOR, the Secured
Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR™) to be eventually established as the primary US
dollar interest rate benchmark. The risk free rates have a different methodology and other
important differences from the IBORs they will eventually replace and have little, if any,
historical track record. It is not known whether certain IBORs will continue long-term in
their current form.

The reforms and eventual replacement of IBORs with risk free rates may cause the
relevant IBOR to perform differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other
consequences which cannot be predicted. The replacement risk free rate may have little,
if any, historical track record and may be subject to changes in its methodology. Any of
these developments could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on
Products linked to any such rates.

Risks associated with Products linked to an Underlying(s) denominated in renminbi

Renminbi is subject to the People’s Republic of China exchange control policies
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Renminbi is not freely convertible and is subject to exchange control policies and
restrictions of the People’s Republic of China government. As a result of
restrictions imposed by the People’s Republic of China government on cross-
border renminbi fund flows, the availability of renminbi outside the People’s
Republic of China is limited, which may adversely affect the liquidity of renminbi
outside the People’s Republic of China, which in turn may adversely affect the
market value, and the potential return, of Products linked to or denominated in
renminbi.

Risks relating to renminbi exchange rate and interest rate

If specified in the Issue Terms, the Product will be denominated and settled in
renminbi outside the People’s Republic of China. The exchange rate of, and
interest rate for, renminbi outside the People’s Republic of China may be different
from the same in the People’s Republic of China. The value of renminbi against
Hong Kong dollar and other foreign currencies fluctuates and is affected by
changes in the People’s Republic of China and international political, economic
and market conditions and by many other factors. There is no guarantee that
renminbi will not depreciate and any devaluation of renminbi could adversely
affect the market value of the Product. In addition, interest rates for renminbi in
the People’s Republic of China government are controlled. The People’s Republic
of China government may further liberalise the regulation of interest rates for
renminbi in the People’s Republic of China which may increase interest rate
volatility for renminbi outside the People’s Republic of China. Any fluctuation in
interest rates for renminbi outside the People’s Republic of China may adversely
affect the market value, and the potential return, of the Product.

Risks relating to renminbi payment risk

If the Settlement Currency or Investment Currency of the Product is renminbi,
and FX Disruption Event is 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms and has occurred and
is continuing on, a scheduled date of payment, payment may be made in the
Specified Currency on the postponed payment date if a Specified Currency is
chosen in the Issue Terms. In such case, there may be a delay in payments under
the Product and no interest will be payable for any such delay. Investors may also
suffer a loss in Specified Currency terms if renminbi depreciates against the
Specified Currency following the occurrence of an FX Disruption Event.

Risks associated with conflicts of interest of Leonteq AG as Issuer, Lead Manager and
Calculation Agent and its subsidiaries and of the discretionary powers of the Issuer and
Calculation Agent

(@  Conflicts of interest

(i)

(i)

Conflicts of interest related to the Underlying(s)

Each of the Issuer, Lead Manager and Calculation Agent and other companies in
the Leonteq Group deal in the Underlying(s) or in components of the
Underlying(s) or in options or futures contracts relating to the Underlying(s) or
components thereof in their normal course of business and from time to time may
participate in transactions connected to the Products for their own account or on
behalf of others. Companies in the Leonteq Group can also hold interests in
individual Underlyings or in the companies contained in these Underlyings,
meaning that conflicts of interest can arise in connection with the Products which
conflicts could have an impact (including a material adverse impact) on the value
of, and return on, the Products.

Conflicts of interest related to the performance of another function

Leonteq Securities AG (or another company in the Leonteq Group) may, in
addition to its capacity as Issuer, exercise another function in relation to the
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relevant Products or Underlying(s) or components thereof, such as issuing agent,
calculation agent, paying agent and/or administrative agent. Therefore, there can
be conflicts of interest regarding the duties when determining the prices of the
Products and other determinations related thereto among Leonteq Group and the
investors. Furthermore, the Issuer, Lead Manager and Calculation Agent and
other companies in the Leonteq Group may act as members of a consortium,
financial advisor or sponsor in connection with future offers of the relevant
Underlying(s) or components thereof; activities of this kind can also entail
conflicts of interest and could have an impact (including a material adverse
impact) on the value of, and return on, the Products.

Conflicts of interest related to the performance of hedging transactions

The Issuer can use parts or all of the proceeds from the sale of the Products for
hedging transactions. These hedging transactions can influence the price of the
underlyings or the components of the underlying that is determined on the market.
Fluctuations in the price of the Underlying(s) and consequently the Products may
among other things be attributed to the fact that the Lead Manager (or any of its
affiliate(s) or any entity (or entities) acting on behalf of the Lead Manager)
conduct significant volumes of hedging or other types of large transactions in or
relating to the Underlying(s). Investors should also note in this respect that,
especially in unfavourable conditions (e.g., low liquidity of the Underlying(s)),
such transactions can have a significant impact on the value of the Underlying(s)
and/or of the components contained therein and thus on the price of the Products,
the level of any redemption amount as well as — in the case of Products which
may stipulate a redemption by way of delivery — on the type of redemption and
possibly lead to certain barrier levels stipulated in the terms and conditions being
exceeded or fallen short of.

The hedging entity is entitled to suspend or to stop entirely its trading activities
in or related to an Underlying. This market conduct of the hedging entity as well
as the limitation of its trading or hedging activities in or related to the
Underlying(s) could have an impact (including a material adverse impact) on the
value of, and return on, the Products.

Conflicts of interest related to the issuance of additional products

The Issuer and its subsidiaries, the Lead Manager and the Calculation Agent can
issue additional products in relation to the Underlying(s) or components of the
Underlying(s), including those that have the same or similar features as the
Products. The introduction of products that are in competition with the Products
can have an impact on the price of the Underlying(s) or components of the
Underlying(s) and therefore have an impact on the value of, and return on, the
Products.

Conflicts of interest related to information specific to the Underlying(s)

The Issuer and its subsidiaries, the Lead Manager and the Calculation Agent can
receive non-public information regarding the underlying or components of the
Underlying(s), but are not obliged to pass such information on to the investors in
the Products. Furthermore, the Issuer and its subsidiaries, the Lead Manager and
the Calculation Agent can publish research reports on the underlying or
components of the underlying. These activities can give rise to specific conflicts
of interest and therefore could have an impact (including a material adverse
impact) on the value of, and return on, the Products.

Conflicts of interest related to the determination of the selling price of the
Products and commission payments

The selling price of the Products, where appropriate in addition to fixed issue
surcharges, management fees or other fees, may contain surcharges that are not
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transparent to the investor on the initial mathematical 'fair' value of the Products
(the "margin™). This margin will be determined by the Issuer in its reasonable
discretion and can differ from surcharges that other issuers impose on comparable
Products.

The selling price of the Products may contain commission which is charged by
the Lead Manager for the issue or which is passed on to distribution partners as
payment for distribution services. This may give rise to a difference between the
fair value of the Product and the bid and offer prices quoted by any market maker
(as described below). Any commission contained in the Products affects the
investor's potential rate of return. Furthermore, conflicts of interest detrimental to
the investor may arise due to payment of such commission to distribution
partners, since it could create an incentive for the partner to sell its customers
products with higher commission. Therefore, investors should consult with their
principal bank or financial advisor about such conflicts of interest.

Conflicts of interest related to market making for the Products

Under normal market conditions the Lead Manager or, if applicable, a third party
(the "Market Maker") may quote bid and offer prices for each issue of Products.
However, no legal obligations are assumed with respect to the amount or the
realisation of such quotations. Investors should note that it may not be possible to
sell the Products during their term at a particular point in time or at a particular
price.

Furthermore, bid and offer prices for the Products quoted by the Market Maker
(if any) will be calculated on the basis of customary pricing models for the sector
that are used by the Market Maker and other traders and which determine the
theoretical value of the Products by taking into account various factors
influencing prices.

Such circumstances on which the Market Maker bases its determination of the bid
and offer prices on the secondary market include, in particular, the theoretical
value of the Products, which among other things depends on the value of the
underlying and the spread between bid and offer prices desired by the Market
Maker. In addition, an issue surcharge that is originally imposed on the Products
and any fees or costs that are deducted from the redemption amount at maturity,
such as commission, administrative fees, transaction costs or comparable costs,
will generally be considered. Furthermore, the margin contained in the selling
price of the Products, for example, has an impact on pricing in the secondary
market or other returns, such as paid or expected dividends or any other returns
on the Underlying or its components if the Issuer is entitled to these due to the
features of the Products.

Certain costs such as any administrative fees charged are often during pricing not
spread equally over the term of the Products (pro rata temporis), thereby reducing
the price, but instead are deducted in full from the theoretical value of the Products
at an earlier point in time determined at the discretion of the Market Maker. The
same applies for the margin, if any, contained in the selling price of the Products
as well as for dividends and other returns on the underlying if the Issuer is entitled
to these due to the features of the Products. These are often not only deducted
from the price when the underlying or its components are traded 'ex dividend', but
are deducted at an earlier point during the term on the basis of the expected
dividends for the whole term or a particular period. The speed of the deduction
depends among other things on the amount of any net return flow from the
Products to the Market Maker. The prices quoted by the Market Maker can
therefore deviate considerably from the theoretical value or value of the Products
to be expected based on the above mentioned factors at the relevant point in time.
Furthermore, the Market Maker can change the methodology by which the prices
are determined at any time, e.g., by increasing or decreasing the spread. The result
of such deviation from the theoretical value of the Products can be that bid and
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offer prices quoted by other traders for the Products deviate significantly (both
upwards and downwards) from the prices quoted by the Market Maker.

Discretionary powers of the Issuer and the Calculation Agent, including in relation to
the Issuer's hedging arrangements

There are certain events — relating to the Issuer, the Issuer's hedging arrangements, the
Underlying(s), taxation, the relevant currency or other matters — the occurrence of which
may give rise to discretionary powers of the Issuer or the Calculation Agent under the
terms and conditions of the Products.

In relation to the Underlying(s), a key investment objective of the Products is to allow
investors to gain an economic exposure to the Underlying(s). If an Underlying is
materially impacted by an unexpected event (for example, a company merges and the
original stock that formed an Underlying is restructured or changed, or the rules of an
index that is an Underlying are materially modified) or the relevant price, level or value
can no longer be calculated, then it may not be possible to achieve the investment
objective of the Products based on their original terms. In that case, the Calculation Agent
may have discretionary powers under the terms and conditions of the Products to (i)
adjust the terms and conditions of the Products, (ii) in certain cases, substitute the
Underlying(s) for another, (iii) calculate the relevant price, level or value itself, (iv)
postpone payment, (v) redeem the Products early, or (vi) apply some combination
thereof.

In relation to the Issuer or the Calculation Agent's hedging arrangements, investors
should be aware that (i) in exercising its discretionary powers under the terms and
conditions of the Products, each of the Issuer and the Calculation Agent may take into
account such factors as it determines appropriate in each case, which may include, in
particular, any circumstances or events which have or may have a material impact on the
Issuer or the Calculation Agent's hedging arrangements in respect of the Products, and
(ii) unless the terms and conditions of the Products provide that certain hedge disruption
events do not apply, certain events which affect the Issuer's hedging arrangements can
give rise to discretionary powers on the part of the Issuer and the Calculation Agent.

Hedging arrangements are the transactions (if any) entered into by the Issuer or
Calculation Agent to seek to cover the Issuer's exposure to the relevant cash amounts to
be paid or assets to be delivered under the Products as these fall due. This may involve
investing directly in the Underlying(s) or entering into derivative contracts referencing
the Underlying(s) or other techniques. The particular hedging arrangements (if any)
undertaken by the Issuer or the Calculation Agent, and their cost, will likely be a
significant determinant of the issue price and/or economic terms of the Products.
Accordingly, if an event occurs which negatively impacts the Issuer or Calculation
Agent's hedging arrangements, the Issuer or the Calculation Agent may have options
available to it under the terms and conditions of the Products which it may select in its
discretion in order to deal with the impact of the event on such hedging arrangements.
These options may include adjustment of the terms and conditions of the Products or
early redemption of the Products. In the event of early redemption, the early redemption
amount may be less than an investor's investment and, therefore, investors could lose
some or all of their money.
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INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The information set out under paragraph 2 (Information incorporated by reference) below contained in
the documents set out under paragraph 1 (Source document(s)) below has been filed with the CSSF and
shall be incorporated into, and form part of, this Base Prospectus:

1.
(@)
(b)
(©
(d)
2.

Source document(s)

The Registration Document of Leonteq Securities AG dated 24 June 2020 (which can be
accessed from the following hyperlink: https://structuredproducts-
ch.leonteq.com/services/prospectuses) (the "Registration Document") approved by the
CSSF.

The Base Prospectus of Leonteq Securities AG dated 18 June 2019 (which can be accessed
from the following hyperlink: https://structuredproducts-
ch.leonteq.com/contentAsset/raw-data/75023b5e-18al-43eb-9ae8-
7141alcllec5/fileAsset/bylnode/1?force_download=true) (the "June 2019 Base
Prospectus™) approved by the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority on 25
June 2019 and which expires on 25 June 2020.

The 2019 Annual Report of Leonteq Securities AG for the financial year ended 31
December 2019; (which can be accessed from the following hyperlink:

https://common.leonteq.com/corporate/investors/annual-
report/2019/leonteg+securities+ag-annual+report-2019-en.pdf)
Report™).

The 2018 Annual Report of Leonteq Securities AG for the financial year ended 31
December 2018; (which can be accessed from the following hyperlink:

https://common.leonteq.com/corporate/investors/annual-
report/2018/leonteg+securities+ag-annual+report-2018-en.pdf)
Report").

Information incorporated by reference

"2019 Annual

"2018 Annual

The information specified in the table below is incorporated into this Base Prospectus by
reference. Any information contained in the document specified in paragraph 1 (Source
document(s) above which is not listed in the cross-reference lists below is either not relevant for
investors for the purposes of Article 6(1) of the Prospectus Regulation or is covered elsewhere
in the Base Prospectus.

From the Registration Document

Page references

Names and addresses of the Issuer’s auditors for the period covered by the
historical financial information (together with their membership in a
professional body).

Pages 9 to 10

Risk Factors Pages 4t0 8
History and development of the Issuer Page 12
The legal and commercial name of the Issuer Page 12
The place of registration of the Issuer, its registration number and legal Page 18
entity identifier

The date of incorporation of the Issuer Page 12

The domicile and legal form of the Issuer, the legislation under which it
operates, its country of incorporation, its address, telephone number of its
registered office and website

Pages 1, 12, 18

Credit ratings assigned to the Issuer Page 18

A description of the Issuer’s principal activities Pages 12 to 13
A brief description of the Leonteq Group and the Issuer’s position within Page 11
the Leonteq Group

An appropriate statement to the effect that there has been no material Page 13
adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since the date of its last

published audited financial statements

A description of any significant change in the financial performance of the Page 13

Leonteq Group since the end of the last financial period for which financial
information has been published to the date of the Registration Document
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Information Incorporated by Reference

Names, business addresses and functions within the Issuer of members of
the administrative, management or supervisory bodies

Pages 13 to 15

Administrative, management, and supervisory bodies’ conflicts of interests

Page 15

Information on the major shareholder that owns and controls the Issuer

Pages 15to0 16

Information on any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings during a
period covering at least the previous 12 months which may have, or have
had in the recent past significant effects on the Issuer and/or Leonteq
Group's financial position or profitability

Pages 16 to 17

Description of any significant change in the financial position of the Page 13
Leonteq Group which has occurred since the end of the last financial

period for which either audited financial information or interim financial

information have been published

Additional information on share capital Pages 15-16
Additional information on the articles of association Page 12

Material contracts that are not entered into in the ordinary course of the
Issuer’s business, which could result in any member of the Leonteq Group
being under an obligation or an entitlement that is material to the Issuer’s
ability to meet its obligations to security holders in respect of the securities
being issued

Pages 17 to 18

Details of where the Issuer's up to date articles of association and Page 19
Registration Document are available

From the June 2019 Base Prospectus

Issue Specific Conditions Pages 316 to 1296
Underlying Specific Conditions Pages 1297 to 1371
General Conditions Pages 1372 to 1380
Form of Final Terms (the "June 2019 Form of Final Terms") Pages 1425 to 1520
From the June 2019 Annual Report*

Report of Statutory Auditor Pages 89 to 92
Income Statement Page 22
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income Page 22
Statement of Financial Position Page 23
Statement of Changes in Equity Pages 24 to 25
Statement of Cash Flows Pages 26 to 27
Notes to the Financial Statements Pages 28 to 88
From the June 2018 Annual Report*

Report of Statutory Auditor Pages 81 to 85
Income Statement Page 1
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income Page 2
Statement of Financial Position Page 3
Statement of Changes in Equity Pages 4to 5
Statement of Cash Flows Pages 6 to 7
Notes to the Financial Statements Pages 8 to 80

*The page numbers referenced above in relation to the 2018 Annual Report and the 2019 Annual
Report relate to the PDF version of such document.

Investors who have not previously reviewed the information contained in the above document
should do so in connection with their evaluation of any Products.

The documents incorporated by reference set out in paragraph 1 (Source document(s)) above
will be published in electronic form on the website of the Issuer (www.leonteq.com) and on the
website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).
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Terms and Conditions of the Products

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE PRODUCTS

The terms and conditions of any particular issuance of Products will be composed of:

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

© 0 N oo o b~ W N - Z
o

N L o e T e e O o o e =
N B ©O © © N oo U A W N B O

No.

General Conditions: the General Conditions as set out in the section of this Base

Prospectus entitled 'General Conditions' below;

Payout Conditions: the economic or 'payout’ conditions of the Products as set out in the

section of this Base Prospectus entitled 'Payout Conditions' below, and which are specified

to be applicable in the Issue Terms;

Underlying Specific Conditions: in respect of the Underlying(s) which the Products are

linked to, the terms and conditions relating to such Underlying(s) as set out in the section

of this Base Prospectus entitled 'Underlying Specific Conditions' below, and which are

specified to be applicable in the Issue Terms; and

Issue Terms: the issue specific details relating to such Products as set forth in a separate

Issue Terms.
General Condition Page No.
INErOTUCTION. ...t 44
Form, Titleand Transfer..........coooiniiiiiii 45
STALUS. .ot 49
Calculations and Publication..............c.oooiiiiiiiiiiiii 49
Payments and DeliVeries. ... .....o.ovvririi e 50
Redemption and Settlement.............cooiiiiiiii 52
FX DIsSrUPtion EVENT. ..ot e 54
INdICAtiVE AMOUNTS. ... ottt 55
Effect of AdJUSIMENES. ... ..o 56
Events of Default........ ..o 56
N0 -] 01 £ N 57
TAXALION. ..ttt e e 58
PrESCIIPIION. .. e 59
Early Redemption for Unlawfulness or Impracticability........................... 59
NOTICES. . et 60
SUBSTIEULION. ... e 60
MOTITICALIONS. ...t 61
Purchases and Cancellations..............oocovriiiiiiiini e, 61
Governing law and jurisdiCtion..............ccoooiiiiiiiii i 61
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999............coviiiiiiiiiiineees 62
SeVerability . ... .o 62
Definitions and Interpretation..............cocoviiiiiiiiiii e 62
Payout Condition Page No.
Yield Enhancement Products............oveiiiiniii e 76
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© 00 N oo o b~ W N
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No.

TWIN WIN PrOGUCES. ... e
Fixed Redemption Products.............c.oviiiiiiiiiiie e,
Protection ProdUCES. ........oueie e
BONUS PrOTUCES. ...t e e
Reverse Convertible Products.............oovviiiiiiiii e
Barrier Reverse Convertible Products...............oooeviiiiiiiiiiii
TraCKer PrOQUCES ...t e
Dual Currency Products...........ooiuiniii e
DiSCOUNE PrOTUCES. ...t e
Leverage ProdUCES. .. ..ottt e e e e
Outperformance ProductS...........c.oviiiiiiiie e,
Long/Short PrOUCTS. ......vieiie et

General DefinitioNS. ..o

Underlying Specific Conditions
SHARE LINKED CONDITIONS. ... ..o

PARTICIPATION CERTIFICATE (GENUSSSCHEINE) LINKED
CONDITIONS

INDEX LINKED CONDITIONS. ..ot
DEPOSITARY RECEIPT LINKED CONDITIONS.........coooiiiiiiiiiiin
COMMODITY LINKED CONDITIONS......coiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee,
CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATE LINKED CONDITIONS.....................
FUTURES CONTRACT LINKED CONDITIONS........cocoiiiiiiiiiiienes

FIXED RATE INSTRUMENT AND DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENT LINKED
CONDITIONS. ..

ETF LINKED CONDITIONS. ..ot
FUND LINKED CONDITIONS. ...

REFERENCE RATE LINKED CONDITIONS.......c.ccoiiiiiiiiiiiniien,
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123
127
147
170
175
189
206
209
211
218
229
235

Page No.
242

251
260
267
277
283

291

298
305
315
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General Conditions

GENERAL CONDITIONS
Introduction

The following text comprises the general terms and conditions of the Products (the "General
Conditions") that, together with the applicable Payout Conditions, the relevant Underlying
Specific Conditions and subject to election and completion (and, in the case of Exempt Products,
if applicable, amendment) in the Issue Terms (as defined below) (together, the "Conditions"),
shall be applicable to each Series.

The "lIssue Terms" mean either (a) where the Products relate to a tranche that are not Exempt
Products, the issue specific details will be set out in a final terms document (the "Final Terms")
or (b) where the Products relate to a tranche of Products that are neither admitted to trading on
a regulated market in the European Economic Area or United Kingdom nor offered in the
European Economic Area or the United Kingdom in circumstances where a prospectus is
required under the Prospectus Regulation (or will be of (or in respect of which a separate
prospectus other than the base prospectus under the Programme will be published under the
Prospectus Regulation) ("Exempt Products"”), the issue specific details will be set out in a
pricing supplement document (the "Pricing Supplement™) which may specify other terms and
conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with these General
Conditions and/or the applicable Payout Conditions and/or the relevant Underlying Specific
Conditions, replace or modify such conditions for the purposes of such Exempt Products, and
references to Issue Terms should be construed accordingly.

All capitalised terms that are not defined in these General Conditions have the meanings given
to them in the applicable Payout Conditions, the relevant Underlying Specific Conditions or the
Issue Terms.

References in these General Conditions to 'Products' are to the Products of one Series only, not
to all Products that may be issued pursuant to the European issuance and offering programme
established by the Issuer (the "Programme™).

The Products are issued as a Series of notes ("Notes") or certificates ("Certificates") by the
Issuer and references to 'Products' shall be construed as a reference to each Series accordingly.
Certain Products which are in the form of Certificates may be entitled "Warrants" pursuant to
the Payout Conditions.

Unless specified otherwise in the Issue Terms, in respect of SIX SIS Securities, the Issuer, acting
through its head office, will act as the paying agent (the "Paying Agent™) will be Leonteq
Securities AG, Europaallee 39, 8004 Zurich, Switzerland, subject as provided in General
Condition 11.1 (Appointment of Agents).

In respect of TCM Secured Products, the collateral agent (the "Collateral Agent™) will be SIX
Repo AG and the custodian (the "Custodian™) shall be SIX SIS AG.

The Calculation Agent (the "Calculation Agent") in respect of the Products shall be Leonteq
Securities AG, Europaallee 39, 8004 Zurich, Switzerland, as specified in the Issue Terms.

Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a "Tranche™) on the same or different issue dates.
The specific terms of each Tranche will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same
Series (save in respect of specific terms outlined in the Issue Terms, such as the Issue Date,
Issue Price, first payment of interest, if applicable, and Issue Size of the Tranche) and will be
set out in the Issue Terms.

Unless otherwise expressly indicated, capitalised terms used in these Conditions which are

defined in General Condition 22 (Definitions and Interpretation) have the meanings given in
General Condition 22 (Definitions and Interpretation).
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General Conditions

2.

2.1

Form, Title and Transfer

Form of Products

(@)

(b)

Form of SIX SIS Securities

SIX SIS Securities ("SIX SIS Securities") are Products specified as such in the Issue
Terms and which are issued in uncertificated form in accordance with article 973c of the
Swiss Code of Obligations ("CO") or in the form of a permanent global certificate in
accordance with article 973b of the CO.

The Investors of SIX SIS Securities issued in uncertificated form shall at no time have
the right to demand the conversion of uncertificated securities into, or the delivery of, a
permanent global certificate or physical securities. By contrast, the Paying Agent shall
have the right to effect the conversion of the uncertificated securities into a permanent
global certificate in accordance with article 973b of the CO or physical securities
(Wertpapiere) and vice versa. Neither the Issuer nor the Investors of SIX SIS Securities
issued in the form of a permanent global certificate shall at any time have the right to
effect or demand the conversion of the permanent global certificate into, or the delivery
of, uncertificated securities or physical securities. By contrast, the Paying Agent shall
have the right to effect the conversion of the permanent global certificate into physical
securities if it determines this to be necessary or useful. Physical securities may be
printed in whole but not in part.

By (i) registering uncertificated securities in the main register (Hauptregister) of SIX
SIS Ltd, Olten, Switzerland or any other Swiss central depository ("SIS™) or by
depositing a permanent global certificate with SIS and (ii) crediting the respective SIX
SIS Securities to a securities account (Effektenkonto) of an account holder with SIS,
intermediated securities (Bucheffekten) ("Intermediated Securities") pursuant to the
Swiss Federal Intermediated Securities Act (Bucheffektengesetz) of 3 October 2008
("FISA") are created. Intermediated Securities may only be transferred by way of
crediting the respective SIX SIS Securities to, and debiting the respective SIX SIS
Securities from, a securities account (Effektenkonto) held with a custodian pursuant to
the rules of the FISA.

Form of Euroclear/Clearstream Products

Euroclear/Clearstream Securities ("Euroclear/Clearstream Securities") are Products
specified as such in the Issue Terms and will be issued in bearer form.
Euroclear/Clearstream Securities will initially be issued in global form (the "Global
Euroclear/Clearstream Securities™), and may only be exchanged for securities in
definitive form (the "Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Securities") upon an Exchange
Event occurring, and in each case in accordance with the terms of the relevant Global
Euroclear/Clearstream Security.

In the event that the applicable Issue Terms specify Monte Titoli as the Relevant Clearing
System, the Products are issued in bearer dematerialized book-entry form and no
physical document of title will be issued to represent the Product, such as definitive
securities.

The Global Euroclear/Clearstream Security may be delivered on or prior to the original
issue date of the Series or Tranche to a Common Depositary for the Relevant Clearing
System. The Relevant Clearing System will then credit each subscriber with an aggregate
nominal amount or aggregate number, as applicable, of the Global Euroclear/Clearstream
Security equal to the nominal amount or number thereof for which it has subscribed and
paid.

Upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event on or after its Exchange Date each Global
Euroclear/Clearstream Security will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part, free of
charge, for Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Securities.
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2.2

2.3

(©

An exchange of Global Euroclear/Clearstream  Securities for Definitive
Euroclear/Clearstream Securities shall only be made upon receipt by the Issuer of a
certificate or certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

On or after any due date for exchange, the holder of a Global Euroclear/Clearstream
Security may surrender it or, in the case of a partial exchange, present it for endorsement
to or to the order of the Paying Agent and in exchange the Issuer will deliver, or procure
the delivery of, an equal aggregate nominal amount or aggregate number, as applicable,
of duly executed and authenticated Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Securities.

Form of Euroclear Sweden Securities

Euroclear Sweden Securities ("Euroclear Sweden Securities") are Products specified
as such in the Issue Terms and will be issued in registered, uncertificated and
dematerialised book-entry form in accordance with the SCSDFIA Act and Regulation
(EU) 909/2014. Euroclear Sweden Securities of one Specified Denomination may not be
exchanged for Euroclear Sweden Securities of another Specified Denomination.

The Euroclear Sweden Securities shall be regarded as Registered Securities for the
purposes of these General Conditions save to the extent these General Conditions are
inconsistent with the Relevant Rules. No physical notes or certificates will be issued in
respect of the Euroclear Sweden Securities and the provisions in these General
Conditions relating to presentation, surrendering or replacement of such physical notes
or certificates shall not apply to the Euroclear Sweden Securities.

Euroclear Sweden Securities shall be in the form of Notes only.

Denomination and Number

(@)

(b)

Title

(@)

Notes

The Issue Terms in respect of Products that are Notes will specify the Specified
Denomination in which such Products are issued, the Issue Size, the Issue Price, the
Settlement Currency and the Calculation Amount.

Certificates

The Issue Terms in respect of Products that are Certificates will specify either the
Settlement Currency of such Products, the Issue Price per Product, the Calculation
Amount and either (a) the number of Products being issued (in which case the
Certificates are "Unit Certificates") or (b) the Notional Amount per Product and the
Issue Size (in which case the Certificates are "Notional Certificates"). All Certificates
of a Series shall have the same Calculation Amount.

Title to SIX SIS Securities

In respect of SIX SIS Securities which constitute Intermediated Securities, the holder
and legal owner of such SIX SIS Securities will be the person holding them in a securities
account in their own name and for their own account with their depositary
(Verwahrungsstelle) in accordance with the terms of the FISA (and, in respect of SIX
SIS Securities, the expression "Investor" as used herein shall be construed accordingly).
The records of such depositary determine the number of SIX SIS Securities held by such
Investor and the FISA grants each Investor the right to ask the depositary for information
about Intermediated Securities that are credited to their account.

In respect of SIX SIS Securities which are issued in the form of uncertificated securities,
but do not constitute Intermediated Securities, the first holder and legal owner of such
SIX SIS Securities will be the person registered as holder in the register of uncertificated
securities and "Investor" shall be construed accordingly. In respect of SIX SIS Securities
in the form of uncertificated securities converted to certificated securities by the Issuer
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(b)

(©

issuing physical securities which are not Intermediated Securities, the holder and legal
owner of such SIX SIS Securities will be the person(s) holding the physical securities
(and the expression "Investor" as used herein shall be construed accordingly).

In respect of SIX SIS Securities which are issued in the form of a permanent global
certificate, but do not constitute Intermediated Securities, each Investor shall have a
proportionate co-ownership interest (Miteigentumsanteil) in the permanent global
certificate to the extent of such Investor's claim against the Issuer, provided that for so
long as the permanent global certificate remains deposited with SIS the co-ownership
interest shall be suspended and the respective SIX SIS Securities may solely be
transferred and otherwise disposed of in accordance with the provisions of the FISA.

Title to Euroclear/Clearstream Securities
Title to Euroclear/Clearstream Securities passes by delivery.

The Issuer and the Paying Agent shall (except as otherwise required by law or ordered
by a court of competent jurisdiction) deem and treat the Investor (as defined below) of
any Euroclear/Clearstream Security as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or
not such Product is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any
interest in it, any writing on it (or on the Global Euroclear/Clearstream Security
representing it) or its theft or loss) and no person shall be liable for so treating the
Investor.

In respect of Euroclear/Clearstream Securities, "Investor" means the bearer of any
Euroclear/Clearstream  Security, except that, in respect of any Global
Euroclear/Clearstream Securities, the person appearing as the accountholder for the
Relevant Clearing System (the "Accountholder™) shall be treated as the Investor for all
purposes other than with respect to the payment or delivery of any amount due under the
Products (for which purpose the Common Depositary shall be treated by the Issuer and
the Paying Agent as the relevant Investor).

Title to Euroclear Sweden Securities

The Relevant Clearing System in respect of Euroclear Sweden Securities shall be
Euroclear Sweden, and the person for the time being shown in the Euroclear Sweden
Register shall be treated for all purposes by the Issuer, the Paying Agent(s), Euroclear
Sweden and all other persons dealing with such person as the holder thereof (and, in
respect of Euroclear Sweden Securities, the expression "Investor" as used herein shall
be construed accordingly) and as the person entitled to exercise the rights represented
thereby notwithstanding any notice to the contrary.

Title to the Euroclear Sweden Securities shall pass by registration in the register (the
"Euroclear Sweden Register") maintained by Euroclear Sweden on behalf of the Issuer
in accordance with the Relevant Rules. The Issuer shall be entitled to obtain information
from Euroclear Sweden in accordance with the Relevant Rules, and the Investors of
Euroclear Sweden Securities accept and consent to the Issuer being entitled to obtain
from Euroclear Sweden, extracts from the book-entry registers of Euroclear Sweden
relating to the Euroclear Sweden Securities. Except as ordered by a court of competent
jurisdiction or as required by law, the Euroclear Sweden Investor of any Products shall
be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes, whether or
not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or an interest in it and
no person shall be liable for so treating the Investor.

One or more Euroclear Sweden Securities may be transferred in accordance with the
Relevant Rules. In the case of an exercise of option resulting in Euroclear Sweden
Securities of the same holding having different terms, separate notes registered with the
Euroclear Sweden Register shall be issued in respect of those Euroclear Sweden
Securities of that holding having the same terms. Such Euroclear Sweden Securities shall
only be issued against surrender of the existing Euroclear Sweden Securities in
accordance with the Relevant Rules. Each new Product to be issued pursuant to the
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above, shall be available for delivery within three business days of receipt of the request
and the surrender of the Euroclear Sweden Securities for exchange. Delivery of the new
Euroclear Sweden Securities shall be made to the same Euroclear Sweden account on
which the original Euroclear Sweden Securities were registered. In this General
Condition 2.3, "business day" means a Clearing System Business Day in respect of
Euroclear Sweden.

Exchange and transfer of Euroclear Sweden Securities on registration, transfer, partial
redemption or exercise of an option shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of
the Issuer or the relevant Paying Agent, but upon payment of any tax or other
governmental charges that may be imposed in relation to it (or the giving of such
indemnity as the relevant Paying Agent may require). No Investor may require the
transfer of a Euroclear Sweden Security to be registered during any closed period
pursuant to the then applicable Relevant Rules.

Exchange and transfer of Euroclear Sweden Securities on partial redemption shall be
processed in Euroclear Sweden's clearing system, so that the aggregate nominal amount
is reduced by the Partial Redemption Amount(s).

(d)  Title to Products in respect of which the Relevant Clearing system is Monte Titoli
In the event that the applicable Issue Terms specify Monte Titoli as the Relevant Clearing
System, the Products may be held only through an authorised intermediary entitled to
hold securities deposit accounts with the Monte Titoli on behalf of their customers.
24 Transfers
(@)  Transfers of Cleared Products
0] Cleared Products (other than SIX SIS Securities)
Subject to General Condition 2.4(c) (Minimum Tradable Lot) below, transfers of
Products which are held in a Relevant Clearing System may be effected only
through the Relevant Clearing System in which the Products to be transferred are
held and only in accordance with the Relevant Rules.
Title will pass upon registration of the transfer in the books of Euroclear,
Clearstream, Euroclear Sweden or Registeror Monte Titoli, as applicable.
(ii)  Transfers of SIX SIS Securities
SIX SIS Securities constituting Intermediated Securities may solely be transferred
and otherwise disposed of in accordance with the provisions of the FISA, being
transferred and disposed of by instruction of the Investor to their depositary to
transfer the Intermediated Securities, as the case may be, and crediting the
Intermediated Securities, as the case may be, to the account of the transferee's
depositary.
(b)  Transfers of non-Cleared Products
Euroclear/Clearstream Securities which are not Cleared Products will be transferred by
delivery.
(¢)  Minimum Tradable Lot

Transactions in the Products may, if specified in the Issue Terms, be subject to a
Minimum Tradable Lot, in which case such Products will be transferable only in a
nominal amount, in the case of Notes and Notional Certificates, or in a number, in the
case of Unit Certificates, of not less than such Minimum Tradable Lot and, in the case
of Cleared Products, in accordance with the Relevant Rules.
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3.1

41

4.2

4.3

Status
Status of the Products

The Products (other than the TCM Secured Products) constitute direct, unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank equally among themselves. The payment
obligations of the Issuer under the Products will rank equally with all other present and future
unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (except for such obligations as may be
preferred by provisions of law that are both mandatory and of general application and except
for TCM Secured, which constitute secured obligations). The TCM Secured Products shall rank
equally among themselves and, save for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable law,
shall rank pari passu with all other collateralized and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer.
The Products do not evidence deposits of the Issuer. The Products are not insured or guaranteed
by any government or government agency.

Calculations and Publication
Rounding

For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to the Conditions, unless otherwise
specified in the Issue Terms, (a) all currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded
to the nearest Sub-Unit of such currency (with half a Sub-Unit being rounded up), save in the
case of Japanese yen, which shall be rounded to the nearest Japanese yen (with half a Unit being
rounded up); (b) all values resulting from such calculations shall be rounded to the nearest four
decimal places (with 0.00005 being rounded up to 0.0001); (c) all percentages resulting from
such calculations shall be rounded as specified in the relevant Issue Terms. For these purposes,
"Sub-Unit" means a fraction of the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal
tender in the country of such currency. "Unit" means the lowest amount of such currency that
is available as legal tender in the country of such currency.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the relevant Issue Terms specify "Other Rounding
Convention” is applicable to any relevant amount, percentage or value as specified in the
relevant Issue Terms, such amount, percentage or value shall be rounded to the nearest such
Specified Sub-Unit of currency (with halves being rounded up or down) or Decimal Place, as is
specified in the relevant Issue Terms.

Determination and publication of interest rates, Interest Amounts and amounts in respect
of settlement

As soon as practicable on such date as the Paying Agent or, as applicable, the Calculation Agent
may be required to calculate any rate or amount, obtain any quotation or make any determination
or calculation in respect of or in connection with any Product, such Agent shall determine such
rate, obtain any required quotation or make such determination or calculation, as the case may
be, and cause the relevant payment amount to be notified to the Issuer, each of the Agents, any
other agent in respect of the Products that is to make a payment, delivery or further calculation
or determination upon receipt of such information and, if the Products are listed and the rules of
the Relevant Stock Exchange or other relevant authority and the rules thereof so require, to such
exchange or relevant authority, as soon as possible after their determination.

Calculation Amount
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Conditions:

@ in respect of a Product for which a Specified Denomination or a Calculation Amount is
stated, each calculation of an Entitlement deliverable and residual cash amount in respect
of such Product hereunder shall be made on the basis of the relevant Calculation Amount;
and

(b)  each calculation of an amount payable in cash in respect of each Product (other than
Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Securities) shall be based on the aggregate nominal
amount or number of all such Products outstanding on such date (or the relevant affected
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4.4

5.1

5.2

portion thereof), rounded in accordance with the method provided in General Condition
4.1 (Rounding) above and distributed in accordance with the Relevant Rules.

For the avoidance of doubt, in relation to any amount payable or Entitlement deliverable under
the Conditions in respect of a Product and which is calculated by reference to a Calculation
Amount, references to (A) 'Product’, in the case of Products that are Notes or Notional
Certificates, shall mean a Product having a nominal amount (or face value) equal to the
Calculation Amount and (B) an amount 'per Calculation Amount’, in the case of Unit
Certificates, shall mean per Product.

Business Day Convention

If any date specified to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention,
the convention for adjusting such date if it would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business
Day and where in each case the Issue Terms specifies Business Day Convention as:

@) 'Following', such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day;

(b)  'Modified Following', such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day
unless it would fall in the next calendar month, in which case such date shall be brought
forward to the immediately preceding Business Day;

(c) ‘Nearest', such date shall be brought forward to the first preceding day that is a Business
Day if the Relevant Date otherwise falls on a day other than a Sunday or a Monday and
shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day if the Relevant Date
otherwise falls on a Sunday or a Monday;

(d)  'Preceding', such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business
Day;

(e) '‘Modified Preceding’, such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding
Business Day unless it would fall in the previous calendar month, in which case such
date shall be postponed to the immediately following Business Day; or

f ‘No Adjustment' such date shall not be adjusted.
Payments and Deliveries
Payments and Deliveries in respect of SIX SIS Securities

Payments of principal, interest as well as deliveries in respect of SIX SIS Securities held through
SIS shall be made, subject to applicable fiscal and other laws and regulations of the Relevant
Clearing System(s), to the Relevant Clearing System(s) or to its/their order for credit to the
account(s) of the relevant Accountholder(s) in accordance with the Relevant Rules. The Issuer
and the Paying Agent shall be discharged by payment or delivery to, or to the order of, such
Accountholders.

Payments and Deliveries in respect of Global Euroclear/Clearstream Securities
(@)  Payments and Deliveries

No payment or delivery falling due after the Exchange Date will be made on any Global
Euroclear/Clearstream Securities unless exchange for an interest in a Global
Euroclear/Clearstream Security or for Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Securities is
improperly withheld or refused.

All payments and deliveries in respect of Global Euroclear/Clearstream Securities will
be made against and subject to presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment
or delivery falls to be made in respect of the Global Euroclear/Clearstream Securities,
surrender of that Global Euroclear/Clearstream Security to or to the order of the Paying
Agent outside the United States.
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Payments of interest shall only be made upon receipt by the Issuer of a certificate or
certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

(b)  Relationship of Accountholders and Relevant Clearing Systems

Each of the persons shown in the records of the Relevant Clearing System as the Investor
must look solely to the Relevant Clearing System for their share of each payment or
delivery made by the Issuer to the bearer of such Global Euroclear/Clearstream Security.
The obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment or delivery to the bearer of
such Global Euroclear/Clearstream Security in respect of each amount so paid or
delivered.

Payments and deliveries in respect of Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Securities

In respect of any Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Security, payments of principal will be made
against and subject to the presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment,
endorsement) of the relevant Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Security at the specified office
of the Paying Agent outside the United States, by a cheque drawn in the currency in which
payment is due, or by transfer to an account with a Custody Bank denominated in such currency,
as applicable. Payments of interest will be made as set out above but against and subject to the
presentation and surrender of the relevant interest coupon (the "Coupon™). Deliveries of any
Entitlement shall be made in the manner notified to Investors. Payments of interest shall only
be made upon receipt by the Issuer of a certificate or certificates of non-U.S. beneficial
ownership.

Upon the due date for redemption of any Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Security, unmatured
Coupons relating to such Product (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment
shall be made in respect of them. Where any Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Security is
presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons relating to it, redemption shall be
made only against the provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may require.

Payments and Deliveries in respect of Euroclear Sweden Securities

Payments of principal and/or interest in respect of the Euroclear Sweden Securities shall be
made to the Investors registered as holder thereof on the fifth business day (as defined by the
Relevant Rules) before the due date for such payment, or such other business day falling closer
to the due date as may be stipulated in the Relevant Rules and will be made in accordance with
the Relevant Rules and such day shall be the "Record Date" in respect of the Euroclear Sweden
Securities in accordance with the Relevant Rules.

Record Date for Payments of interest

Payments of interest in respect of Products shall be made to the Investors who are deemed to be
the holders thereof on the Interest Record Date in respect of such payment of interest,
PROVIDED THAT (a) such payment shall at all times be made in accordance with the Relevant
Rules (and if there is any difference between this General Condition 5.5 and the application of
the Relevant Rules, the Relevant Rules shall apply) and (b) this General Condition 5.5 shall not
apply to any payment of interest if the Products are due to be redeemed on or around the
scheduled payment date for such interest. For the purposes of this General Condition 5.5,
"Interest Record Date" in respect of any payment of interest shall be either (as specified in the
Issue Terms) (a) the number of Business Days specified in the Issue Terms prior to the scheduled
payment date corresponding to the relevant interest amount or (b) the date as specified in the
relevant Issue Terms.

Taxes, Settlement Expenses and conditions to settlement

Payment of principal and/or interest and delivery of any Entitlement shall be subject to
deduction, or conditional upon payment by the relevant Investor(s), of any applicable Taxes and
(unless 'Settlement Expenses' is specified as 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms) Settlement
Expenses and any other amounts payable as specified in the Conditions. The Issuer shall notify
the Investor(s) of (a) such applicable Taxes, Settlement Expenses and other amounts payable
and (b) the manner in which such amounts shall be paid by the Investor(s).
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Payments on Business Days

If the date on which any amount is payable is not (i) a Business Day and (ii) in the case of
Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Securities only, a day other than a Saturday or Sunday on
which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general
business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the relevant
place of presentation, then payment will not be made until the next succeeding day which is (A)
a Business Day and (B) in the case of Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Securities only, also a
day other than a Saturday or Sunday on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets
settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and
foreign currency deposits) in the relevant place of presentation, and the Investor thereof shall
not be entitled to any further payment in respect of such delay.

Redemption and Settlement
Redemption
@) Partial Redemption

Unless previously redeemed, purchased and/or cancelled, each Product in respect of
which 'Partial Redemption' is specified to be 'Applicable' in the Issue Terms (each such
Product, a "Partial Redemption Product") shall be partially redeemed on each Partial
Redemption Date upon payment by or on behalf of the Issuer of an amount equal to the
Partial Redemption Amount corresponding to such Partial Redemption Date. The
Calculation Amount of each such Product shall be reduced by the Partial Redemption
Amount(s) for all purposes with effect from the relevant Partial Redemption Date, unless
payment of the relevant Partial Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or refused,
in which case, such amount shall remain outstanding until the date determined in
accordance with General Condition 13 (Prescription). In the case of Notes, the Issue Size
of the relevant Series shall reduce accordingly and in the case of Certificates (if
applicable) the Notional Amount per Product shall reduce accordingly.

(b)  Redemption on the Redemption Date

Unless previously redeemed, purchased and/or cancelled, each Product shall be
redeemed in full by the Issuer on the Redemption Date at its Redemption Amount, or, if
applicable, by delivery of the Entitlement on the Delivery Date (in accordance with
General Condition 6.2) and the payment of any Residual Cash Amount.

Each Unit Certificate shall be automatically exercised on the day prior to final
redemption on the Redemption Date.

Settlement by Delivery of the Entitlement
@) Delivery of Entitlement
The following provisions apply to the delivery of all Entitlements in respect of Products:

Q) The Issuer shall, subject to this General Condition 6 (Redemption and Settlement),
General Condition 4 (Calculations and Publication) and General Condition 5
(Payments and Deliveries), on any relevant Delivery Date, deliver (or procure
delivery on its behalf) the relevant Entitlement in respect of each Product to such
account in respect of Cleared Products in the Relevant Clearing System in
accordance with the Relevant Rules and, in respect of all other Products, such
account as may be notified by the relevant Investor to the Issuer in the relevant
Delivery Entitlement Instruction at the risk and expense of the relevant Investor.
If an Investor does not provide the Issuer with sufficient instructions in a timely
manner to enable the Issuer (directly or acting through such person (including any
of its Affiliates or the Paying Agent) as it may procure) and/or the Relevant
Clearing System, if applicable, to effect any required delivery of the Entitlement,
the due date for such delivery shall be postponed accordingly. The Issuer and the
Relevant Clearing System, if applicable, shall determine whether any instructions
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(b)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

received by it are sufficient and whether they have been received in time to enable
delivery on any given date. As used in this General Condition 6.2, "delivery"
means, in relation to any Entitlement, the carrying out of the steps required of the
Issuer (or such person (including any of its Affiliates or the Paying Agent) as it
may procure to make the relevant delivery on its behalf) in order to effect the
transfer of the relevant Entitlement and "deliver”, "delivered" and "deliverable"
shall be construed accordingly. The Issuer (or such person (including any of its
Affiliates or the Paying Agent) as it may procure to make the relevant delivery on
its behalf) shall not be responsible for any delay or failure in the delivery of any
Entitlement once such steps have been carried out, whether resulting from
settlement periods of clearing systems, acts or omissions of registrars or otherwise
and neither the Issuer (or such person (including any of its Affiliates or the Paying
Agent) as it may procure to make the relevant delivery on its behalf).

No Investor will be entitled to receive dividends declared or paid in respect of any
Underlying or to any other rights relating to or arising out of any such component
of the Entitlement if the record date for the relevant dividend or relevant right in
respect of such components and Entitlement falls before the relevant Delivery
Date.

Delivery of any Entitlement shall be subject to the condition to settlement in
General Condition 5.6 (Taxes, Settlement Expenses and conditions to settlement).

The Issuer will endeavour to deliver (or procure delivery on its behalf) the
relevant Entitlement to the Investor on the relevant Delivery Date. In the event
that an Investor requests that delivery of the Entitlement be made at a location or
in a method that is different from that specified in the Conditions, the Issuer may
(but is not obliged to) seek to deliver the Entitlement to such location and/or by
such method, provided that no additional unreimbursed costs are incurred. The
Issuer shall, subject as provided below, on the relevant Delivery Date, deliver (or
procure delivery on its behalf) the Transfer Documentation relating to the
Entitlement (or, in the case of an Underlying that is an equity unit, the Transfer
Documentation in respect of such equity unit) to or to the order of the Investor or
to such bank or broker as the Investor has specified in the relevant Delivery
Entitlement Instruction.

All Entitlements will be delivered at the risk of the relevant Investor.

Settlement Disruption Event

If, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, delivery of an Entitlement or any portion
thereof is (or is likely to become) impossible or impracticable by reason of a Settlement
Disruption Event having occurred and continuing on the relevant Delivery Date (the
assets constituting such Entitlement or portions thereof (the "Affected Assets")), then
such Delivery Date shall be postponed to the first following Relevant Settlement Day in
respect of which there is no such Settlement Disruption Event, provided that:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

the Issuer shall attempt to deliver (or procure delivery on its behalf) any portion
of the Entitlement which does not comprise Affected Assets on the originally
designated Delivery Date;

the Issuer may elect to satisfy its obligations in respect of the relevant Product by
delivering (or procuring delivery on its behalf) some or all of the Affected Assets
in such manner as it may determine and in such event the relevant Delivery Date
shall be such day as the Issuer deems appropriate in connection with delivery of
the Entitlement in such other commercially reasonable manner; and

in respect of any Affected Assets, in lieu of settlement by delivery of the
Entitlement and notwithstanding any other provision hereof, the Issuer may elect
to satisfy its obligations in respect of the relevant Product by payment by the
Issuer (or any person (including any of its Affiliates or the Paying Agent) as it
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may procure to make the relevant payment on its behalf) to the relevant Investor
of the Settlement Disruption Amount on the Settlement Disruption Date.

The Calculation Agent shall give notice as soon as practicable to the Investors that a
Settlement Disruption Event has occurred and payment of the Settlement Disruption
Amount will be made, subject to this General Condition 6 (Redemption and Settlement),
General Condition 4 (Calculations and Publication) and General Condition 5 (Payments
and Deliveries), in such manner as shall be notified. No Investor shall be entitled to any
additional amount in the event of any delay in the delivery of the Entitlement or payment
of the Settlement Disruption Amount due to the occurrence of a Settlement Disruption
Event. No liability in respect thereof shall attach to the Issuer, any person (including any
of its Affiliates or the Paying Agent) as it may procure to make the relevant delivery on
its behalf, and/or the Calculation Agent.

(c) Liability

Redemption of the Products, payments by the Issuer (or such person (including any of
its Affiliates) as it may procure to make the relevant payments on its behalf) and the
Paying Agent and any delivery of an Entitlement, in whole or in part, by or on behalf of
the Issuer and/or the Paying Agent will be subject in all cases to all applicable fiscal and
other laws, regulations and practices in force at such time (including, without limitation,
any relevant exchange control laws or regulations and the Relevant Rules) and none of
the Issuer, any of its Affiliates, the Relevant Clearing System or the Paying Agent shall
incur any liability whatsoever if it is unable to effect any payments or deliveries
contemplated, after using all reasonable efforts, as a result of any such laws, regulations
and practices. None of the Issuer, any of its Affiliates or the Paying Agent shall under
any circumstances be liable for any acts or defaults of the Relevant Clearing System in
the performance of their respective duties in relation to the Products or, in relation to the
delivery of the Entitlement, the acts or defaults of any relevant Exchange (as defined in
the relevant Underlying Specific Conditions).

Postponement of payments and settlement

If the determination of a price or level used to calculate any amount payable or Entitlement
deliverable on any Payment Date or Delivery Date is delayed or postponed pursuant to the
Conditions, payment or settlement will occur on the later of (a) the scheduled Payment Date or
Delivery Date as applicable, or (b) the Specified Number of Business Days following the latest
Underlying Valuation Date (or such other date on which the determination of a price or level
used to calculate the amount payable or Entitlement deliverable on the relevant Payment Date
or Delivery Date is required) to occur, as the case may be. No additional amounts shall be
payable or Entitlement deliverable by the Issuer because of such postponement.

FX Disruption Event or a CNY FX Disruption Event
FX Disruption Event

If the Issue Terms specifies 'FX Disruption Event' to be 'Applicable’, upon the occurrence of an
FX Disruption Event, the Issuer may take any one or more of the following actions:

(@)  deduct from any payments to be made in respect of the Products an amount calculated
by the Calculation Agent as representing a cost, expense, charge and/or deduction arising
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in connection with such FX Disruption Event or under any other adjustment with respect
thereto; and/or

(b)  make payment of any amount payable by the Issuer pursuant to the Conditions in the
Specified Currency instead of the Settlement Currency, the amount payable in the
Specified Currency being determined by the Calculation Agent; and/or

(c)  postpone or adjust any Underlying Valuation Date or the relevant Payment Date for any
amount payable by the Issuer pursuant to the Conditions until, in the determination of
the Calculation Agent, an FX Disruption Event is no longer subsisting; and/or

(d)  (inthe case of a Price Source Disruption) specify and adopt:

(i) an appropriate alternative fallback or alternative price or rate source or method of
determination selected by the Calculation Agent (which may (or may not) be by
reference to a Dealer Poll or such other publication page or service as may replace
the relevant page or service for the purpose of displaying a foreign exchange rate
comparable or equivalent); or

(if)  areplacement of any one or more relevant currencies, as the case may be; and/or

(e) determine whether any other appropriate adjustment can be made to the Conditions
and/or any other provisions relating to the Products to account for the economic effect
of such FX Disruption Event on the Products which would produce a commercially
reasonable result and preserve substantially the economic effect to the Investors of a
holding of the relevant Product. If the Calculation Agent determines that an appropriate
adjustment or adjustments can be made, the Issuer shall determine the effective date of
such adjustment(s), notify the Investors of such adjustment(s) and take the necessary
steps to effect such adjustment(s). An Investor will not be charged any costs by or on
behalf of the Issuer to make such adjustment(s),

PROVIDED THAT if the Calculation Agent determines that no action that could be made
pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) above would produce a commercially reasonable result and
preserve substantially the economic effect to the Investors of a holding of the relevant Product,
the Calculation Agent will notify the Issuer of such determination. In such event, the Issuer may,
on giving irrevocable notice to the Investors in accordance with General Condition 15 (Notices),
redeem all of the Products of the relevant Series on the Unscheduled Early Redemption Date
and pay to each Investor, in respect of each Product held by it, an amount equal to the
Unscheduled Early Redemption Amount on such date (provided that the Issuer may also, prior
to such redemption of the Products, make any adjustment(s) to the Conditions or any other
provisions relating to the Products as appropriate in order to (when considered together with the
redemption of the Products) account for the effect of such FX Disruption Event on the Products).

Upon the occurrence of an FX Disruption Event, the Issuer shall give notice as soon as
practicable to the Investors, stating the occurrence of the FX Disruption Event, giving details
thereof and the action proposed to be taken in relation thereto.

CNY FX Disruption Event

If the relevant Issue Terms specifies that 'CNY FX Disruption Event' to be 'Applicable’, then the
Issuer may, on giving not less than five days' and not more than 30 days' irrevocable notice in
accordance with General Condition 16 (Notices) to Investors prior to the relevant affected
Payment Date, make payment of any amount payable by the Issuer pursuant to the Conditions
in the Specified Currency instead of the Settlement Currency, the amount payable in the
Specified Currency being determined by the Calculation Agent, on the relevant affected
Payment Date in full and final settlement of its obligations to pay such amounts.

Indicative Amounts

If the Final Terms provides that the Products are being offered by way of a Public Offer, the
Final Terms may specify an indicative amount, subject to a minimum amount and/or a maximum
amount, or any combination of the foregoing, as applicable, in relation to any Specified Product
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Value which is not fixed or determined at the commencement of the Offer Period. If so specified
in the Final Terms, references in these Conditions to such Specified Product Value shall be
construed as the amount, level, percentage, price, rate or value (as applicable) determined based
on market conditions by the Issuer on or around the end of the Offer Period, and is expected to
be the indicative amount specified in the Final Terms (if so specified) but may be different from
such indicative amount, and:

@) if a minimum amount is provided in the Final Terms, the Specified Product Value will
not be less than such minimum amount (but may be equal to such minimum amount); or

(b)  if a maximum amount is provided in the Final Terms, the Specified Product Value will
not be more than such maximum amount (but may be equal to such maximum amount);
or

(c) if both a minimum amount and a maximum amount is provided in the Final Terms, the
Specified Product VValue will not be less than such minimum amount and will not be more
than such maximum amount (but may be equal to either such minimum amount or such
maximum amount).

Notice of the relevant Specified Product Value will be published prior to the Issue Date when
such Specified Product Value is fixed or determined by the Issuer on or around the end of the
Offer Period and the relevant amount, level, percentage, price, rate or value specified in such
notice will be deemed to be the Specified Product Value.

For these purposes, "Specified Product Value" means any amount, level, percentage, price,
rate or value which is specified in the Conditions as the amount, level, percentage, price, rate or
value (as applicable) to be provided in the Final Terms (or phrases of similar import).

Effect of Adjustments

All determinations made by the Calculation Agent pursuant to the Conditions shall be
conclusive and binding on the Investors, the Paying Agent and the Issuer, except in the case of
manifest error.

Events of Default

@) Events of Default: Events of Default means any of the following (each, an "Event of
Default™):

(i) the Issuer does not pay any material amount in respect of the Products when such
amount is due and payable and such failure continues for 30 calendar days; or

(i) the Issuer fails to deliver any Entitlement on the due date for delivery and such
failure to deliver has not been remedied within 30 calendar days of notice of such
failure having been given to the Issuer by any Investor, provided that an Event of
Default shall not occur under this General Condition 10 if (i) any of the conditions
to settlement to be satisfied by the Investor have not been so satisfied as at the
due date for delivery or (ii) the Issuer has elected to pay the Settlement Disruption
Amount; or

(iii)  an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding-up of the
Issuer (other than in connection with a merger or an amalgamation) or the Swiss
Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) (i) initiates bankruptcy
proceedings with respect to the Issuer, (ii) initiates re-organisation measures
affecting rights of creditors generally with respect to the Issuer or (iii) takes
protective measures with respect to the Issuer to the effect of prohibiting it to
make or receive payments or settle securities transactions, terminating its business
operations or granting a payment moratorium.

(b)  Consequences of Event of Default: If an Event of Default with respect to any Product of
a Series at the time outstanding occurs and is continuing, then in every such case, unless
the principal of all of the Products of such Series shall have already become due and
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payable, the Investors of at least 25 per cent. in principal amount of the outstanding
Products of that Series may declare the principal amount of all of Products of that Series
to be due and payable immediately, by a notice in writing to the Issuer, and upon any
such declaration, the Unscheduled Early Repayment Amount, together with the
premium, if any, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, and any additional amount in respect
of principal which may be payable under General Condition 5 (Payments and
Deliveries), shall become immediately due and payable. For the purposes of calculating
any Unscheduled Early Redemption Amount at any time following an Event of Default,
the Calculation Agent will ignore the effect of such Event of Default upon the market
value of the Products.

At any time after such a declaration of acceleration with respect to Products of any Series
has been made and before a judgment or decree for payment of the money due has been
obtained, Investors of at least a majority in principal amount of outstanding securities of
that Series, by written notice to the Issuer and the relevant Paying Agent, may rescind
and annul such declaration and its consequences if the Issuer, has paid or deposited with
the relevant Paying Agent, a sum sufficient to pay in the Specified Currency in which
the Products of such Series are payable:

(i) all overdue interest, if any, on all Products of that Series;

(i) the principal of Products of that Series which have become due otherwise than by
such declaration of acceleration and interest thereon at the Rate of Interest, as the
case may be, applicable to that Series; and

(iii)  all Events of Default with respect to Products of that Series, other than the non-
payment of the principal of Products of that Series, which have become due solely
by such declaration of acceleration, have been cured or waived as provided below.
No such rescission shall affect any subsequent default or impair any right
consequent thereon.

The Investors of at least a majority in principal amount of the outstanding securities of
any Series of Euroclear Sweden Securities may on behalf of the Investors of all the
Euroclear Sweden Securities of such Series waive any past default hereunder with
respect to such Series and its consequences, except a default in the payment of the
principal of or interest, if any, on any Products of such Series, or in the payment of any
sinking fund instalment or analogous obligation with respect to the Products of such
Series. Upon any such waiver, such default shall cease to exist, and any Event of Default
arising therefrom shall be deemed to have been cured, for every purpose of the Products
of such Series, but no such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other default or
impair any right consequent thereon.

Agents
Appointment of Agents

Pursuant to the terms of each agency agreement entered into after 16 June 2020 in relation to
the issuance of any Products under this Programme, the Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer.
The Agents do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any
Investor. The Issuer reserves the right to vary or terminate the appointment of the Agents and
to appoint additional or other Agents, provided that (subject to the final paragraph of this
General Condition 11.1 (Appointment of Agents)) the Issuer shall at all times maintain:

(@)  aPaying Agent;
(b)  one or more Calculation Agent(s) where these General Conditions so require; and

(c)  such other agents as may be required by any stock exchange on which the Products may
be listed.

Notice of any termination or appointment and of any changes to the specified office of any
Agent will be given to Investors.
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The Issuer shall not issue any Euroclear/Clearstream Securities and Euroclear Sweden
Securities until such time as it has duly appointed all applicable Agents.

Determinations by the Calculation Agent

Unless otherwise specified, all determinations, considerations, decisions, elections and
calculations in the Conditions shall be made by the Calculation Agent. In respect of each such
determination, consideration, decision, election and calculation, this General Condition 11.2
shall apply.

In making such determinations, considerations, decisions, elections and calculations, the
Calculation Agent may take into account the impact on the Issuer or Calculation Agent's hedging
arrangements. In respect of all Products other than SIX SIS Securities, in all circumstances the
Calculation Agent shall make such determinations and calculations in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner, and (save in the case of manifest or proven error) such
determinations and calculations shall be final and binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agent and
the Investors. In respect of all SIX SIS Securities, in all circumstances the Calculation Agent
shall make such determinations and calculations in accordance with the standard of duly
exercised discretion, and (save in the case of manifest or proven error) such determinations and
calculations shall be final and binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agent and the Investors.

Calculations and determinations are all binding

All calculations and determinations made by the Calculation Agent in respect of the Products
shall be final and binding on the Issuer and Investors in the absence of manifest error.

Disclaimer of liability

No liability shall attach to the Calculation Agent for errors or omissions in respect of any
calculation, determination or other exercise of discretion under the Conditions provided that, it
has acted in accordance with General Condition 11.2 (Determinations by the Calculation
Agent).

Delegation

The calculation functions and other discretionary actions (including, but not limited to duties to
make determinations) required of the Calculation Agent may be delegated to any such person
as the Calculation Agent, in its reasonable discretion, may decide.

Disclaimer of responsibility of Issuer, Lead Manager, Agents and respective affiliates upon
force majeure event

None of the Issuer, the Lead Manager, any Agent or any of their respective affiliates shall be
held responsible for any loss or damage resulting from any legal enactment (domestic or
foreign), the intervention of a public authority (domestic or foreign), an act of war, strike,
blockade, boycott or lockout, or if the performance of any obligations under the terms of the
Products have become unlawful in whole or in part under any applicable law or any other similar
event or circumstance. The reservation in respect of strikes, blockades, boycotts and lockouts
shall also apply if any of such parties itself takes such measures or becomes the subject of such
measures. Where the Issuer or the Paying Agent is prevented from effecting payment or delivery
due to such event, payment or delivery may be postponed until the time the event or
circumstance impeding payment has ceased, and shall have no obligation to pay or deliver any
additional amounts in respect of such postponement.

Taxation

The Issuer is not liable for, or otherwise obliged to pay amounts in respect of, any Taxes borne
by an Investor. An Investor must pay all Taxes arising from or payable in connection with all
payments relating to the Products and all payments in respect of the Products shall be made free
and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any present or future Taxes of whatever
nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within the Issuer Jurisdiction (or
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any authority or political subdivision thereof or therein having power to tax) unless such
withholding or deduction is required by law or in connection with FATCA.

In that event, the appropriate withholding or deduction shall be made and the Issuer shall pay
such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts receivable by the
relevant Investor shall equal the respective amounts that would have been receivable by such
Investor in the absence of such withholding or deduction. Notwithstanding the above, no
additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Product:

(@)  to, or to a third party on behalf of, an Investor who is liable for such Taxes in respect of
such Products by reason of them having a connection with the Issuer Jurisdiction other
than the mere holding of the relevant Product or Coupon;

(b)  to, or to a third party on behalf of, an Investor who could lawfully avoid (but has not so
avoided) such deduction or withholding by complying or procuring that any third party
complies with any statutory requirements or by making or procuring that any third party
makes a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption to any tax
authority in the place where the relevant Product or Coupon is presented for payment;

(c) presented for payment more than 30 calendar days after the Relevant Date, except to the
extent that the Investor would have been entitled to an additional amount on presenting
such Product for such payment on the last day of such 30-day period;

(d)  where such withholding or deduction is required by the rules of the US Internal Revenue
Code 1986 (the "Code"), including without limitation, in respect of dividends, dividend
equivalent payments (including without limitation under section 871(m) of the Code),
and direct and indirect interests in US real property within the meaning of section 897(c)
of the Code;

(e)  where such withholding or deduction is made in connection with FATCA;

) presented for payment by or on behalf of an Investor who would have been able to avoid
such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Product or Coupon to another
paying agent without such deduction or withholding; or

(9) in relation to Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Securities, unless it is proved, to the
satisfaction of the Paying Agent that the Investor is unable to avoid such withholding or
deduction by satisfying any applicable certification, identification or reporting
requirements or by making a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for
exemptions to the relevant tax authorities.

Prescription

Claims for payment of principal shall become void unless made within ten years and claims for
interest shall become void unless made within five years of the appropriate Relevant Date.

Early Redemption for Unlawfulness or Impracticability

If the Issuer determines in good faith and in a reasonable manner that the performance of any of
its absolute or contingent obligations under the Products has become, or there is a substantial
likelihood that it will become, unlawful or a physical impracticability, in whole or in part, as a
result of (a) any change in financial, political or economic conditions or foreign exchange rates
or (b) compliance in good faith by the Issuer or any relevant subsidiaries or Affiliates with any
applicable present or future law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or directive of any
governmental, administrative or judicial authority or power or in interpretation thereof, the
Issuer may, at its option, redeem or terminate the Products by giving notice to Investors.

If the Issuer redeems the Products pursuant to this General Condition 14, then the Issuer will, if
and to the extent permitted by applicable law, pay to each Investor, in respect of each Product
held by it, an amount equal to the Unscheduled Early Redemption Amount on the Unscheduled
Early Redemption Date.
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15.

15.1

15.2

16.

Notices
To Investors

(@)  Subject to General Condition 15.1(b) (Euroclear Sweden Securities), all notices to
Investors will be deemed to have been duly given and valid (a) if published on the Notice
Website or any successor webpage thereto and any such notice shall be deemed to have
been given on the day of publication on the website; (b) if given in accordance with the
rules and regulations of the Relevant Stock Exchange (if applicable) or other relevant
authority and any such notice will be deemed to have been given on the first date of
transmission or publication; and/or (c) if given to the Relevant Clearing System (if
applicable) and any such notice will be deemed given on the first date following the day
of transmission to the applicable Relevant Clearing System.

Failure to give notice where required will not invalidate any determination, calculation
or correction, as applicable.

Investors of the Products shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents
of any notice given to holders of Products.

(b)  Euroclear Sweden Securities: In respect of Euroclear Sweden Securities, the Issuer may
either publish information and notices in at least one Swedish daily newspaper with
nationwide coverage in the Kingdom of Sweden or send such information and notices to
the relevant Paying Agent who (at the expense of the Issuer) will, as soon as reasonably
possible, publish the information and notices in at least one Swedish daily newspaper
with nationwide coverage in the Kingdom of Sweden.

Notwithstanding any confidentiality obligations, the Issuer shall be entitled to obtain
information (including information on Investors of Euroclear Sweden Securities) from
the Euroclear Sweden Register, and Euroclear Sweden shall be entitled to provide such
information to the Issuer and to the relevant Paying Agent, respectively.

To the Issuer and the Agents

In respect of any Series, all notices to the Issuer and/or the Agents must be sent to the address
specified for such entity in this Base Prospectus or to such other person or place as shall be
specified by the Issuer and/or the Paying Agent by notice given to Investors. Any notice
determined not to be valid, effective, complete and in proper form shall be null and void unless
the Issuer and the Relevant Clearing System agree otherwise. This provision shall not prejudice
any right of the person delivering the notice to deliver a new or corrected notice. The Issuer or
the Paying Agent shall use all reasonable endeavours promptly to notify any Investor submitting
anotice if it is determined that such notice is not valid, effective, complete or in the proper form.

Substitution

The Issuer shall be entitled at any time, without the consent of the Investors, to substitute any
other entity, the identity of which shall be determined by the Issuer, to act as issuer in respect
of Products then outstanding pursuant to the Programme (the "New Issuer™), provided that:

(@  no Event of Default as set out in General Condition 10 (Events of Default) shall occur as
a result thereof.

(b)  the New lIssuer irrevocably and unconditionally assumes all obligations of the Issuer
arising from or in connection with the Products;

(c)  the Issuer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless each Investor against any additional
tax, duty, assessment or governmental charge imposed on such Investor due to a different
tax or regulatory regime applicable to the New Issuer from that applicable to the Issuer
and which arises solely due to the substitution of the Issuer by the New Issuer; and

(d) all actions, conditions and steps which have to be initiated, fulfilled and performed
(including obtaining any necessary consent) to ensure that the Products represent lawful,
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17.

171

17.2

18.

19.
19.1

effective and binding obligations of the New Issuer have been initiated, fulfilled and
performed and are, without limitation, legally valid and effective,

in each case subject to any additional requirements as may be applicable pursuant to the rules
of any Relevant Stock Exchange.

In the event of any such substitution, any reference in the Conditions to the Issuer shall be
construed as a reference to the New Issuer. In connection with such right of substitution, the
Issuer shall not be obliged to have regard to the consequences of the exercise of such right for
individual Investors resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or
otherwise connected with or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory, and no
Investor shall be entitled to claim from the Issuer or the New Issuer any indemnification or
payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such substitution upon such Investor.

Any such substitution shall take effect upon giving notice to the Investors of each Series then
outstanding and any Relevant Stock Exchange and the Paying Agent.

Modifications
Modifications without consent of Investors

The Conditions of the Products of any Series may be amended by the Issuer in each case without
the consent of the Investors if, in the reasonable opinion of the Issuer, the amendment (a) is of
a formal, minor or technical nature, (b) is made to correct a manifest or proven error or omission,
(c) is made to comply with mandatory provisions of the law of the Issuer Jurisdiction, and/or in
order to comply with the amendments to any applicable laws and regulations, (d) is made to
cure, correct or supplement any defective provision contained herein and/or (e) will not
materially and adversely affect the interests of the Investors. Any such modification shall be
binding on the Investors and any such modification shall take effect by notice to the Investors.

Further Issues

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time, without the consent of the Investors, to create
and issue further Products so as to form a single Series with the Products of any particular Series
(such further Products, "Fungible Products").

Purchases and Cancellations

The Issuer and any of its subsidiaries may at any time purchase Products (provided that all
unmatured Coupons relating thereto are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the open
market or otherwise at any price.

All Products so purchased may be held, surrendered for cancellation, or reissued or resold, and
Products so reissued or resold shall for all purposes be deemed to form part of the original Series,
all in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Governing law and jurisdiction
Governing law
(@)  Governing law in relation to Products other than SIX SIS Securities

The Products (other than the SIX SIS Securities), the Coupons and any non-contractual
obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by and shall be
construed in accordance with English law.

(b)  Governing law in relation to SIX SIS Securities

In the case of SIX SIS Securities, the Products, the Coupons and any non-contractual
obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by and shall be
construed in accordance with Swiss law.

61



General Conditions

19.2

20.

21.

22.
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Jurisdiction
(@)  Jurisdiction in relation to Products other than SIX SIS Securities

The courts of England are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may
arise out of or in connection with any Products (other than the SIX SIS Securities) and/or
Coupons and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection
with them shall be brought in such courts.

(b)  Jurisdiction in relation to SIX SIS Securities

The ordinary courts of the canton of Zurich, venue being Zurich, are to have exclusive
jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in connection with any SIX SIS
Securities, Coupons and, accordingly, any legal action or proceedings arising out of or
in connection with them shall be brought in such courts, with the right of appeal to the
Swiss Federal Court in Lausanne where the law permits. The aforementioned courts shall
also have jurisdiction for the cancellation and replacement of lost, stolen, defaced,
mutilated or destroyed SIX SIS Securities if issued in form of a permanent global
certificate. General Condition 15 (Notices) is not applicable to SIX SIS Securities.

Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

In respect of any Products which are governed by English law, no person shall have any right
to enforce any term or condition of the Products under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties)
Act 1999.

Severability

Should any one or more of the provisions contained in the Conditions be or become invalid, the
validity of the remaining provisions shall not be affected in any way.

Definitions and Interpretation
Definitions

In these General Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall
have the respective meanings set out below:

"Accountholder” has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 2.3(b)(Title to
Euroclear/Clearstream Securities)

"Affected Assets" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 6.2(b) (Settlement
Disruption Event).

"Affiliate" means, in relation to any entity (the "First Entity"), any entity controlled, directly
or indirectly, by the First Entity, any entity that controls, directly or indirectly, the First Entity
or any entity, directly or indirectly, under common control with the First Entity. For these
purposes, ‘control’ means ownership of a majority of the voting power of an entity.

"Agents" means the Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent and any 'Additional Agents' specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Business Centre" means each centre specified as such in the Issue Terms.
"Business Day" means a day which is each of:

(&)  aday other than a Saturday or Sunday on which commercial banks and foreign exchange
markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign
exchange and foreign currency deposits) in any Business Centre specified in the Issue
Terms;

(b)  in respect of Cleared Products, a Clearing System Business Day for the Relevant
Clearing System;
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(c) in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on which commercial
banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business
(including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal
financial centre of the country of the relevant currency (if other than any Business
Centre); and

(d) inrelation to any sum payable in euro, a TARGET Business Day.

"Business Day Convention" means any of the conventions specified in General Condition 4.4
(Business Day Convention).

"Calculation Agent" means Leonteq Securities AG, acting in such capacity, unless otherwise
specified in the Issue Terms.

"Calculation Amount" means, in respect of a Series, the amount specified as such in the Issue
Terms, PROVIDED THAT in respect of Partial Redemption Products, the outstanding
Calculation Amount in respect of each Product of such Series shall be reduced by the Partial
Redemption Amount(s) upon payment thereof on the corresponding Partial Redemption Date(s)
in accordance with General Condition 6.1(a) (Partial Redemption).

"Certificates" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 1 (Introduction) (and
such Products will be specified to be 'Certificates' in the Issue Terms).

"Cleared Products” means any Products that are SIX SIS Securities, Global
Euroclear/Clearstream Securities or Euroclear Sweden Securities, as applicable (and each a
"Cleared Product™).

"Clearing System Business Day" means:

(e) in respect of a Relevant Clearing System other than Euroclear Sweden, any day on which
such Relevant Clearing System is (or, but for the occurrence of a Settlement Disruption
Event, would have been) open for the acceptance and execution of settlement
instructions; and

) in respect of Euroclear Sweden, any day in Sweden other than a Sunday or other public
holiday, nor regarded as a public holiday where the payment of debt instruments is
concerned. Saturdays, Midsummer Eve, Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve are deemed
to be public holidays for the purposes of the definition of "Clearing System Business
Day" in respect of Euroclear Sweden.

"Clearstream" means Clearstream Banking, société anonyme, or any successor thereto.

"Clearstream Rules" means the Management Regulations of Clearstream and the Instructions
to Participants of Clearstream, as may be from time to time amended, supplemented or modified.

"CNY" means Chinese Renminbi, the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China
(including any lawful successor to the CNY).

"CNY FX Disruption Event" means the occurrence of any of the following events:

(@  CNY Inconvertibility Event: An event that makes it impossible or impractical for the
Issuer to convert any amounts in CNY due in respect of the Products in the general CNY
foreign exchange market in the CNY Financial Centre, other than where such
impossibility or impracticality is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with
any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law,
rule or regulation is enacted after the relevant Trade Date, and it is impossible or
impractical for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law,
rule or regulation);

(b)  CNY Non-Transferability Event: An event that makes it impossible or impractical for

the Issuer to deliver CNY (i) between accounts inside the CNY Financial Centre or (ii)
from an account inside the CNY Financial Centre to an account outside the CNY
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Financial Centre, other than where such impossibility or impracticality is due solely to
the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any CNY
Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Trade
Date and it is impossible or impractical for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control,
to comply with such law, rule or regulation); and

(c) CNY llliquidity Event: The general CNY foreign exchange market in the CNY
Financial Centre becomes illiquid as a result of which the Issuer cannot obtain sufficient
CNY in order to satisfy its payment obligations (in whole or in part) under the Products,

where:

. "impractical” or "impracticality” means, in relation to a CNY FX Disruption Event, that
the Issuer (or any affiliate of the Issuer) would incur a materially increased amount of
taxes, duties, expenses or fees (as compared with circumstances existing on the Trade
Date and determined by the Calculation Agent) to perform the relevant action described
in this definition; and

. "impossible™, in relation to a CNY FX Disruption Event, shall include (but shall not be

limited to) any act which, if done or performed by the Issuer (or any affiliate of the Issuer)
would be or result in the breach of any applicable law, rule, or regulation.

"CNY Financial Centre” means the financial centre(s) specified as such in the relevant Issue
Terms.

"CNY Governmental Authority" means any de facto or de jure government (or any agency or
instrumentality thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental authority or any
other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including
the central bank) of the People's Republic of China, the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region and any other CNY Financial Centre.

"Code" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 12 (Taxation).

"Common Depositary" means, in relation to a particular Series, whether listed on any Relevant
Stock Exchange or elsewhere, the common depositary (who shall be outside the United
Kingdom and the United States (and the possessions of the United States)) appointed with
respect to such Series.

"Conditions" has the meaning given to such term in the opening italicised paragraph of these
General Conditions.

"Coupons" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 5.1.

"Custody Bank" means, in relation to a payment denominated in a particular currency, a bank
in the principal financial centre for such currency or, where the relevant payment is denominated
in euro, in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System.

"Dealer" means each dealer (other than the Lead Manager) appointed pursuant to the
Programme.

"Dealer Poll" means, in respect of any time on any relevant day, that the Calculation Agent will
request each of the Reference Dealers to provide a quotation of its rate for the relevant currency
exchange rate, at the applicable time on such relevant day. If, for any such rate, at least two
quotations are provided, the relevant rate will be the arithmetic mean of the quotations. If fewer
than two quotations are provided for any such rate, the relevant rate will be the arithmetic mean
of the relevant rates quoted by major banks in the relevant market, selected by the Calculation
Agent, at or around the applicable time on such relevant day.

"Definitive Euroclear/Clearstream Securities" has the meaning given to such term in General
Condition 2.1(b) (Form of Euroclear/Clearstream Products).

"Delivery Date" has the meaning given to such term in the Payout Conditions.
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"Delivery Entitlement Instruction™ means, with respect to Products which are to be settled by
delivery of an Entitlement, a notice delivered by the relevant Investor in respect of such
Entitlement in the form obtainable from the Paying Agent.

"Entitlement" has the meaning given to such term in the Payout Conditions.

"EUR", "euro" and "€" each means the lawful single currency of the Member States of the
European Union that have adopted or adopt and continue to retain a common single currency
through monetary union in accordance with European Union treaty law (as amended from time
to time).

"Euroclear” means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. or any successor thereto.
"Euroclear Sweden" means Euroclear Sweden AB, the Swedish Central Securities Depository.

"Euroclear Rules" means the terms and conditions governing the use of Euroclear and the
operating procedures of Euroclear, as may be amended, supplemented or modified from time to
time.

"Euroclear Sweden Register" means the register opened in the Euroclear Sweden System for
Euroclear Sweden Securities issued or to be issued by the Issuer.

"Euroclear Sweden Securities” means any Securities registered with Euroclear Sweden and
issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form in accordance with the SCSDFIA
Act.

"Euroclear Sweden Rules" means the SCSDFIA Act and all other applicable Swedish laws,
regulations and operating procedures applicable to and/or issued by Euroclear Sweden from
time to time.

"Euroclear Sweden System" means the technical system at Euroclear Sweden for the
registration of securities and the clearing and settlement of securities transactions.

"Euroclear/Clearstream Securities" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition
2.1(b) (Form of Euroclear/Clearstream Products).

"Event of Default" means each of the events set out in General Condition 10 (Events of
Default).

"Exchange Date" means, in relation to a Global Euroclear/Clearstream Security, a calendar day
falling not less than 60 calendar days after that on which the notice requiring exchange is given
and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Paying
Agent is located and (if applicable) in the city in which the Relevant Clearing System is located.

"Exchange Event" means in respect of, (i) Cleared Products that the Issuer has been notified
that any Relevant Clearing System has permanently ceased doing business and no successor
clearing system is available, and (ii) Global Euroclear/Clearstream Securities that are not
Cleared Products, that the Issuer has failed to make any payment of principal when due.

"FATCA" means sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any final current or future regulations
or official interpretations thereof, any agreement entered into pursuant to section 1471(b) of the
Code, or any U.S. or non-U.S. fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant
to any intergovernmental agreement entered into in connection with the implementation of such
sections of the Code or any other non-U.S. tax information reporting regimes.

"Final Terms" has the meaning given to such term in the opening italicised paragraph of the
General Conditions.

"FISA" means the Swiss Federal Intermediated Securities Act (Bucheffektengesetz).
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"FX Disruption Event" means the occurrence of any of the following events:

(@  Currency Replacement Event: The Settlement Currency ceases to exist and is replaced
by a new currency in the relevant jurisdiction;

(b)  Dual Exchange Rate: A relevant exchange rate splits into dual or multiple foreign
exchange rates;

(¢)  Governmental Authority Event: a Governmental Authority of a relevant jurisdiction
has given public notice of its intention to impose any controls which are likely to
materially affect the Issuer and/or Calculation Agent's ability to hedge the Issuer's
obligations with respect to the Products or to unwind any such hedge;

(d)  Hliguidity: It is or becomes or is likely to become impossible or impracticable for the
Issuer and/or Calculation Agent to obtain any Settlement Currency or obtain or use a
relevant exchange rate in an appropriate amount;

(8)  Inconvertibility: The occurrence of any event that makes it or is likely to make it
impossible and/or impracticable for the Issuer and/or Calculation Agent to convert the
Settlement Currency into another currency (or vice versa) through customary legal
channels (including, without limitation, any event that has the direct or indirect effect of
hindering, limiting or restricting convertibility by way of any delays, increased costs or
discriminatory rates of exchange or any current or future restrictions on repatriation of
one currency into another currency);

0] Non-Transferability: The occurrence of any event in or affecting any relevant
jurisdiction that makes it or is likely to make it impossible and/or impracticable for the
Issuer and/or Calculation Agent to deliver any Settlement Currency into a relevant
account; and/or

(o)  Price Source Disruption: a Price Source Disruption.

"General Conditions" has the meaning given to such term in the opening italicised paragraph
of the General Conditions.

"Global Euroclear/Clearstream Securities” has the meaning given to such term in General
Condition 2.1(b) (Form of Euroclear/Clearstream Products).

"Governmental Authority" means any de facto or de jure government (or any agency or
instrumentality thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental authority or any
other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including
the central bank) of a relevant jurisdiction.

"Hedge Positions" means any purchase, sale, entry into or maintenance of one or more (a)
positions or contracts in securities, options, futures, derivatives or foreign exchange, (b) stock
loan transactions, or (¢) other instruments or arrangements (howsoever described) by the Issuer
and/or Calculation Agent or any of their Affiliates in order to hedge individually, or on a
portfolio basis, the Issuer's obligations in respect of the Products.

"Intermediated Securities" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 2.1(a)
(Form of SIX SIS Securities).

"Investor" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 2.3 (Title).
"Issue Date" means the issue date as specified in the Issue Terms.
"lIssue Price" means the price specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"lIssue Size" means, on the Issue Date, the aggregate nominal amount (or, in the case of Notional
Certificates, the aggregate Notional Amount) of the Products of the relevant Tranche (or, if
applicable, Series) being issued as specified in the Issue Terms and on any date thereafter such
amount as reduced by any partial redemption on or prior to such date.
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"Issue Terms" has the meaning given to such term in the opening italicised paragraph of the
General Conditions.

"lssuer" means Leonteq Securities AG which may also be acting through its Guernsey branch
(Leonteq Securities AG, Guernsey Branch) or its Amsterdam branch (Leonteq Securities AG,
Amsterdam Branch).

"Issuer Jurisdiction™ means, at any time, the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Issuer or any
New Issuer substituted therefor in accordance with General Condition 16 (Substitution).

"Lead Manager" means Leonteq Securities AG, or such other entity specified as such in the
Issue Terms.

"Minimum Tradable Lot" means the amount, if any, specified as such in the Issue Terms.
"New Issuer" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 16 (Substitution).

"Notes" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 1 (Introduction) (and such
Products will be specified to be 'Notes' in the Issue Terms).

"Notice Website" means the website specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Notional Amount™ means, in respect of Notional Certificates, the amount specified as such in
the Issue Terms PROVIDED THAT in respect of Partial Redemption Products, the outstanding
Notional Amount in respect of each such Notional Certificate shall be reduced by the Partial
Redemption Amount(s) upon payment thereof on the corresponding Partial Redemption Date(s)
in accordance with General Condition 6.1(a) (Partial Redemption).

"Offer Period™" means the period specified as such in the Final Terms.

"Partial Redemption Amount" means, in respect of a Partial Redemption Date, the amount
specified as such corresponding to such Partial Redemption Date in the Issue Terms.

"Partial Redemption Date(s)" means the date(s) specified as such in the Issue Terms (subject
to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in the Issue
Terms).

"Partial Redemption Product™ means each Product in respect of which 'Partial Redemption'
is specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms.

"Paying Agent" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 1 (Introduction).
"Payment Date" means a day on which a payment is due in respect of the Products.

"Price Source Disruption" means it becomes impossible or impracticable to obtain any
relevant currency exchange rate on or in respect of any date on which such currency exchange
rate is required under the Conditions (or, if different, the day on which rates for such date would,
in the ordinary course, be published or announced by the relevant pricing source(s)).

"Pricing Supplement" has the meaning given to such term in the opening italicised paragraph
of the General Conditions.

"Product” or "Products" means any Note or Certificate which may from time to time be issued
pursuant to the Programme in accordance with the terms of this Base Prospectus. Unless the
context otherwise requires, any reference to 'Product’ shall be deemed to refer to a Note having
a nominal amount equal to the relevant Specified Denomination, a Notional Certificate having
a nominal amount equal to the relevant Notional Amount or to a single Unit Certificate.

"Programme" has the meaning given to such term in the opening italicised paragraph of these
General Conditions.

"Redemption Amount" has the meaning given to such term in the Payout Conditions.
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"Reference Dealers" means, in respect of a currency exchange rate, four leading dealers in the
relevant foreign exchange market, as selected by the Calculation Agent.

"Related Exchange" has the meaning given to such term in the relevant Underlying Specific
Conditions (if applicable).

"Relevant Clearing System" means, as appropriate, Clearstream, SIS, Euroclear Sweden
and/or Euroclear, as the case may be, and any other ‘Relevant Clearing System' specified in the
Issue Terms, through which interests in Products are to be held and/or through an account at
which such Products are to be cleared.

"Relevant Date" means, in respect of any Product or Coupon, the date on which payment or
delivery in respect of it first becomes due (or would have first become due if all conditions to
settlement had been satisfied) or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld
or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier)
the date five calendar days after that on which notice is duly given to the Investors that, upon
further presentation of the Product or Coupon being made in accordance with these General
Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such
presentation.

"Relevant Rules" means, in the case of:
(@)  SIX SIS Securities, the SIS Rules;

(b)  Euroclear/Clearsteam Securities, the Clearstream Rules or the Euroclear Rules (as
applicable); and

(c)  Euroclear Sweden Securities, the Euroclear Sweden Rules,

and/or the terms and conditions and any procedures governing the use of such other Relevant
Clearing System, in each case as updated from time to time, relating to a particular issue of
Products, as applicable.

"Relevant Settlement Day" means, a Clearing System Business Day and a Scheduled Trading
Day (as defined in the relevant Underlying Specific Conditions).

"Relevant Stock Exchange™ means, in respect of any Series, the stock exchange upon which
such Products are listed (if any), as specified in the Issue Terms.

"SCSDFIA Act" means the Swedish Central Securities Depositories and Financial Instruments
Accounts Act (SFS 1998:1479) (in Swedish: (1998:1479) lagen om vardepapperscentraler och
kontoforing av finansiella instrument).

"Series" means the Products of each original issue together with any relevant Fungible Products.
"Settlement Currency" means the currency specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Settlement Disruption Amount" means, in respect of each Product, an amount in the
Settlement Currency equal to the pro rata proportion of the market value of such Product on or
about the Settlement Disruption Date (which shall take into account where some but not all of
the Underlyings comprising the Entitlement have been duly delivered pursuant to General
Condition 6.2 (Settlement by Delivery of the Entitlement) and the value of such Underlyings).
Such amount shall be determined by reference to such factors as the Calculation Agent considers
to be appropriate including, without limitation:

(@)  market prices or values for the Underlying(s) and other relevant economic variables
(such as interest rates and, if applicable, exchange rates) at the relevant time;

(b)  the remaining life of the Products had they remained outstanding to scheduled maturity
and/or any scheduled early redemption date;
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(c)  the value at the relevant time of any minimum redemption which would have been
applicable had the Products remained outstanding to scheduled maturity and/or any
scheduled early redemption date;

(d) internal pricing models; and
(e) prices at which other market participants might bid for securities similar to the Products,

provided that, if the Issue Terms specifies 'Unwind Costs' to be 'Not Applicable’, the Calculation
Agent shall not take into account deductions for any costs, charges, fees, accruals, losses,
withholdings and expenses, which are incurred by the Issuer or its Affiliates relating to the
unwinding of any Hedge Positions and/or related funding arrangements, when determining such
market value.

"Settlement Disruption Date" means the fifth Relevant Settlement Day following the date of
the natice of the relevant election to pay the Settlement Disruption Amount or such other date
as may be specified in the relevant notice.

"Settlement Disruption Event" means, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, that an
event beyond the control of the Issuer has occurred as a result of which the Issuer cannot make
or procure delivery of the relevant Underlying(s).

"Settlement Expenses” means, in respect of any Product or Products, if the Issue Terms
specifies 'Settlement Expenses' to be ‘Applicable’, any costs, fees and expenses or other amounts
(other than in relation to Taxes) payable by an Investor per Calculation Amount on or in respect
of or in connection with the redemption or settlement of such Product or Products by way of
delivery of any Entitlement.

"SIS" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 2.1(a) (Form of SIX SIS
Securities).

"SIS Rules" means the rules and regulations, manuals and operating procedures as well as any
agreements between the Issuer and SIS governing the use of SIS, as may be amended,
supplemented or modified from time to time.

"SIX SIS Securities” means Products in respect of which the Issue Terms specifies the
'‘Governing law' to be Swiss law.

"Specified Currency" means the currency or currencies specified in the Issue Terms.
"Specified Denomination" means the amount specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Specified Number of Business Days" means, unless specified otherwise in the Issue Terms,
three Business Days.

"Specified Product Value" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 8
(Indicative Amounts).

"Specified Sub-Unit" means the amount specified as such in the Issue Terms.
"TARGET Business Day" means a day on which the TARGET System is operating.

"TARGET System" means the Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement
Express Transfer payment system which utilises a single shared platform and which was
launched on 19 November 2007 (TARGET?2") (or, if such system ceases to be operative, such
other system (if any) determined by the Calculation Agent to be a suitable replacement).

"Taxes" or "Tax" means any tax, duty, impost, levy, charge or contribution in the nature of
taxation or any withholding or deduction for or on account thereof, including (but not limited
to) any applicable stock exchange tax, turnover tax, financial transaction tax, stamp duty, stamp
duty reserve tax, charge on income, profits or capital gains and/or other taxes, duties,
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assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature chargeable or payable and includes
any interest and penalties in respect thereof.

"TCM Secured Product" means a Product in respect of which the Issue Terms specifies ' TCM
Secured Product' to be 'Applicable’. Each TCM Secured Product will be a SIX SIS Security and
an Exempt Product.

"Tranche" has the meaning given to such term in General Condition 1 (Introduction).

"Transfer Documentation” means, for each Series, such documentation as is generally
acceptable for settlement of the transfer of the relevant Underlying(s) on any Related Exchange
or through the Relevant Clearing System.

"Underlying" means each Share, Participation Certificate, Depositary Receipt, Index,
Commodity, Currency Exchange Rate, Futures Contract, Fixed Rate Instrument, Derivative
Instrument, ETF Share, Fund Unit and Reference Rate specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Underlying Specific Conditions™ means, in respect of:

@) Products linked to one or more shares ("Share Linked Products"), the Share Linked
Conditions (as set out in this Base Prospectus);

(b) Products linked to one or more participation certificates (Genussscheine)
("Participation Certificate (Genussscheine) Linked Products"), the Participation
Certificate (Genussscheine) Linked Conditions (as set out in this Base Prospectus);

(c) Products linked to one or more indices ("Index Linked Products™), the Index Linked
Conditions (as set out in this Base Prospectus);

(d) Products linked to one or more Depositary Receipts ("Depositary Receipt Linked
Products"), the Depositary Receipt Linked Conditions (as set out in this Base
Prospectus);

(e) Products linked to one or more commodities ("Commodity Linked Products"), the
Commodity Linked Conditions (as set out in this Base Prospectus);

()] Products linked to one or more currency exchange rates ("Currency Exchange Rate
Linked Products"), the Currency Exchange Rate Linked Conditions (as set out in this
Base Prospectus);

(9) Products linked to one or more futures contracts ("Futures Contract Linked
Products™), the Futures Contract Linked Conditions (as set out in this Base
Prospectus);

(h) Products linked to one or more fixed rate instruments or derivative instruments ("Fixed

Rate Instrument Linked Products" or "Derivative Instrument Linked Products"),
the Fixed Rate Instrument and Derivative Instrument Linked Conditions (as set out in
this Base Prospectus);

(i) Products linked to one or more exchange traded funds ("ETF Linked Products"), the
ETF Linked Conditions (as set out in this Base Prospectus);

) Products linked to Funds (" Fund Linked Products"), the Fund Linked Conditions (as
set out in this Base Prospectus); or

(k) Products linked to a reference rate ("Reference Rate Linked Products"), the
Reference Rate Linked Conditions (as set out in this Base Prospectus).

"Unit" for the purposes of General Condition 4.1 (Rounding), has the meaning given to such
term in General Condition 4.1 (Rounding).

"Unscheduled Early Redemption Amount™ means, on any day and in relation to the relevant
event leading to early redemption of the Products, an amount in respect of each Calculation
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22.2

Amount for each Product in the Settlement Currency equal to the market value of such Product
(in respect of such Calculation Amount) following the event triggering the early redemption
(including the value of accrued interest (if applicable)) (the "Market Value"). Such amount
shall be determined as soon as reasonably practicable following the event giving rise to the early
redemption of the Products and by reference to such factors as the Calculation Agent considers
to be appropriate including, without limitation:

(@  market prices or values for the Underlying(s) and other relevant economic variables
(such as interest rates and, if applicable, exchange rates) at the relevant time;

(b)  the remaining life of the Products had they remained outstanding to scheduled maturity
and/or any scheduled early redemption date;

()  the value at the relevant time of any minimum redemption which would have been
applicable had the Products remained outstanding to scheduled maturity and/or any
scheduled early redemption date;

(d) internal pricing models; and
(e)  prices at which other market participants might bid for Products similar to the Products.

"Unscheduled Early Redemption Date” means the date as specified in the notice given to
Investors in accordance with General Condition 7 (FX Disruption Event) or General Condition
14 (Early Redemption for Unlawfulness or Impracticability).

"UsSD", "US$", "$" and "US Dollars" each means United States dollars.
Interpretation

(@)  Capitalised terms used but not defined in these General Conditions will have the
meanings given to them in the Payout Conditions, the relevant Underlying Specific
Conditions or the Issue Terms, the absence of any such meaning indicating that such
term is not applicable to the Products of the relevant Series.

(b)  Words importing the plural shall include the singular and vice versa, unless the context
requires otherwise.

(c) A reference to a 'person’ in the Conditions includes any person, firm, company,
corporation, government, state or agency of a state or any association, trust or partnership
(whether or not having separate legal personality) of two or more of the foregoing.

(d) A reference in the Conditions to a provision of law is a reference to that provision as
amended or re-enacted.

References in the Conditions to a company or entity shall be deemed to include a reference to
any successor or replacement thereto.
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ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO TCM SECURED PRODUCTS

The provisions of this 'Additional Provisions Relating to TCM Secured Products' section of the Base
Prospectus shall apply to TCM Secured Products and, in respect of TCM Secured Products, the General
Conditions shall be deemed to be amended in accordance with such provisions. Cross references to
General Conditions in this 'Additional Provisions Relating to TCM Secured Products' section of the Base
Prospectus shall be deemed to be (a) in respect of the sub-headings and the explanatory notes contained
immediately below the sub-headings, reference to such numbering as if it was unamended by this section
of the Base Prospectus and (b) in respect of the new or amended General Conditions in respect of TCM
Secured Products, reference to numbering as amended by such new or amended General Conditions.

1.

Amendment of General Condition 3.1 (Status of the Products)
General Condition 3.1 shall be deemed to be deleted in its entirety and replaced by the following:

"The TCM Secured Products constitute general contractual obligations of the Issuer and are
collateralized in accordance with the TCM Security Agreement (as described in more detail in
the section of this Base Prospectus 'Description of TCM ("Triparty Collateral Management")
Secured Products’). The TCM Secured Products shall rank equally among themselves and, save
for such exceptions as may be provided by applicable law, shall rank pari passu with all other
collateralized and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer.

The TCM Secured Products do not evidence deposits of the Issuer. The TCM Secured Products
are not insured or guaranteed by any government or government agency."

Provision of a new General Condition 12 (Early termination of TCM Secured Products)

The following new General Condition shall be inserted after General Condition 11 (Early
termination following a Service Provider Default Event) and before General Condition 12
(Agents), and all subsequent General Condition numbering shall be amended accordingly:

"12. Early termination of TCM Secured Products

TCM Secured Products shall be collateralized in accordance with the TCM Security
Agreement (please see the section of this Base Prospectus 'Description of TCM
("Triparty Collateral Management™) Secured Products' for further detail on the
collateralization of TCM Secured Products). TCM Secured Products may (in addition to
any other events causing an early redemption in accordance with the Conditions) be
redeemed early in accordance with General Condition 12.1 (Early termination following
a Realization Event) or General Condition 12.2 (Early termination following a
termination of the TCM Security Agreement).

12.1 Early termination following a Realization Event

If the Collateral Agent determines that a Realization Event has occurred in respect of a
TCM Secured Product, the Collateral shall be liquidated (either by the Collateral Agent
or a liquidator under the terms of the applicable legal regulations) and the TCM Secured
Product shall be redeemed in accordance with this General Condition 12.1.

Upon the occurrence of a Realization Event, Investors' claims against the Issuer will be
based on the Liquidation Value (as determined by the Collateral Agent) when the TCM
Secured Products mature in accordance with the TCM Security Agreement.

Upon liquidation of the Collateral following a Realization Event each Investor shall be
paid, in respect of each TCM Secured Product held by it, an amount equal to the pro-rata
share of the Net Liquidation Proceeds per TCM Secured Product in the relevant Series.
Such amount shall be paid to Investors via SIX SIS AG on a delivery versus payment
basis.

The claim of Investors is non-interest-bearing. Payment to Investors following the

occurrence of a Realization Event may only occur upon completion of the liquidation of
the Collateral in accordance with the terms of the TCM Security Agreement. If the
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payment is delayed for any reason, the Collateral Agent and SIX SIS AG are not liable
to pay either default interest or damages. Each TCM Secured Product will only be
secured by the Collateral assigned on the Collateral Account to the respective TCM
Secured Product. The Investors' claims against the Issuer in respect of the TCM Secured
Product are reduced by the amount of the payment of the Net Liquidation Proceeds. No
further Investors’ claims exist against the Collateral Agent, SIX SIS AG or other persons
which are involved in the collateralisation service for the TCM Secured Product under
the terms of the TCM Security Agreement.

If the same event is deemed to constitute both a Realization Event and an Event of
Default, the provisions of this General Condition 12.1 shall prevail.

Early termination following a termination of the TCM Security Agreement

€)] Termination of the TCM Security Agreement and payment of the TCM Secured
Product Early Redemption Amount

If a TCM Security Agreement Termination Event has occurred, the Issuer may,
at any time, redeem all (but not some) of the TCM Secured Products by giving
not less than one months irrevocable notice in accordance with General
Condition 18.1, in which case the Issuer shall redeem the TCM Secured
Products on the date specified in the relevant notice (in respect of such products
the "TCM Secured Product Early Redemption Date") and cause to be paid
to each Investor, in respect of each TCM Secured Product held by it, an amount
equal to the TCM Secured Product Early Redemption Amount. The "TCM
Secured Product Early Redemption Amount™ shall be an amount determined
by the Issuer and/or the Calculation Agent in its/their reasonable discretion as
the reasonable market price of the relevant TCM Secured Product at the time
when bid and ask prices for such TCM Secured Product were most recently
quoted immediately prior to the end of the collateralization pursuant to the TCM
Security Agreement.

(b) Taxes, fees or other duties

All taxes, fees and other duties incurred in connection with the payment of the
TCM Secured Product Early Redemption Amount shall be borne and paid by
the Investor. The Issuer and/or Paying Agent may withhold from the TCM
Secured Product Early Redemption Amount any taxes, fees or duties that have
to be paid by the Investor in accordance with this paragraph."

Amendment of General Condition 12 (Agents)

General Condition 12 (Agents) shall be amended by the insertion of the following after General
Condition 12.1 (Appointment Agents) and before General Condition 12.2 (Determinations by
the Calculation Agent) as follows (and all subsequent paragraph numbering shall be amended
accordingly):

"13.2 Collateral Agent

By purchasing a TCM Secured Product, Investors agree to exercise their rights under the
TCM Security Agreement solely through the Collateral Agent. The acquisition of a TCM
Secured Product by an investor is automatically accompanied by a declaration to the
Collateral Agent, as its representative, that the Collateral Agent may exercise the
Investor's rights under the TCM Security Agreement in the event of the Realization
Events."
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Inclusion of new definitions in General Condition 24 (Definitions and Interpretation)

The following new definitions shall be deemed to be inserted in to General Condition 24
(Definitions and Interpretation) in alphabetical order within the list of existing defined terms:

"Collateral” means, in respect of TCM Secured Products, the collateral provided by the
Collateral Provider in order to secure such TCM Secured Products in accordance with the TCM
Security Agreement.

"Collateral Account" means an account of the Collateral Provider with SIX SIS AG.
"Collateral Agent" means, in respect of TCM Secured Products, SIX Repo AG.
"Collateral Provider" means, in respect of a TCM Secured Product, the Issuer.
"Collateral Taker" means, in respect of a TCM Secured Product, the Investors.

"Current Value™ means, in respect of a TCM Secured Product and any point in time, the value
of such TCM Secured Product at such point in time, calculated exclusively by, and with full
responsibility of, the Collateral Provider in accordance with acknowledged accounting
principles. Neither the Collateral Agent, nor SIX SIS AG nor SIX Financial Information AG
recalculates or otherwise reviews the calculation of the Current Value.

"Liquidation Proceeds" means, in respect of a TCM Secured Product, the proceeds from the
liquidation of the Collateral.

"Liquidation Value" means, in respect of a TCM Secured Product and a Realization Event, the
most recent Current Value available prior to the corresponding Realization Event Date. The
Liquidation Value shall be binding on the Collateral Provider and the Investors.

"Net Liquidation Proceeds" means, in respect of a TCM Secured Product, the Liquidation
Proceeds less both (a) any costs of the Collateral Agent in respect of such TCM Secured Product,
including in connection with the liquidation of the Collateral (including fees, taxes and duties
that arise in conjunction with liquidation) and (b) any outstanding claims that the Collateral
Agent holds against the Collateral Provider under the terms of the TCM Security Agreement.

"Realization Event" means, in respect of a TCM Secured Product (and a Realization Event will
be deemed to have occurred if), (i) the Collateral Provider fails to furnish the required collateral
or fails to do so in due time, unless this is remedied within five (5) Business Days; (ii) the Issuer
fails to pay the principal amount under the TCM Secured Product (but not any amount of
interest, coupon or other intermediate payment) according to the Conditions when due, unless
this is remedied within five (5) Business Days; or (iii) the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory
Authority ("FINMA™) orders protective measures with regard to the Issuer or the Collateral
Provider under article 26 paragraph 1 letter (f) or (h) of the Federal Act on Banks and Savings
Banks (the "Banking Act"), or restructuring proceedings under article 28 et seq. of Banking
Act or liquidation (winding-up proceedings) under article 33 et seq. of the Banking Act. The
TCM Security Agreement provides for the exact time at which each Realization Event occurs.
The remedy of a Realization Event is not possible. The Collateral Agent will determine, with
binding effect for the Investors, whether an incident qualifies as a Realization Event and at what
point in time and the date on which the Realization Event occurred (such date, the "Realization
Event Date") and such determination will be based upon reliable sources of information only.
The Collateral Agent is not required to undertake investigations with regard to the occurrence
of a Realization Event.

"TCM Secured Product Early Redemption Amount" shall have the meaning given to such
term in General Condition 12.2.

"TCM Secured Product Early Redemption Date" shall have the meaning given to such term
in General Condition 12.2.
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"TCM Security Agreement" means the security agreement between the Issuer (as the
Collateral Provider), the Collateral Taker (represented by the Collateral Agent) and SIX SIS
AG.

"TCM Security Agreement Termination Event" means, in the determination of the Issuer,
that the TCM Security Agreement is terminated and due to such termination it is not possible to
secure the TCM Security Products in accordance with the provisions of the TCM Security
Agreement."
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PAYOUT CONDITIONS

These payout conditions (the "Payout Conditions™) shall apply to all Products provided that each
paragraph shall only apply where specified to be applicable in the Issue Terms.

1.

11

Yield Enhancement Products

This paragraph 1 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in respect of which the
Payout Style is specified to be "Yield Enhancement Products' in the Issue Terms.

Yield Enhancement Products with European Barrier Payout

This paragraph 1.1 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all European Barrier Yield
Enhancement Products.

(@)

Coupon Amount

If 'Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms no Coupon
Amounts will be payable in respect of the Products.

If 'Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms the Coupon
Amount payable in respect of each Product on each Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Conditional Coupon Amount (if any) and/or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount
pursuant to, respectively, paragraph (i) or (ii) below, as applicable, PROVIDED THAT
if 'Multiple Coupon Sets' is specified as 'Applicable' in the Issue Terms, there shall be
more than one Set of Coupon Payment Dates and either the Conditional Coupon
Provisions (paragraph (i) below) or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions
(paragraph (ii) below) shall apply to each Set of Coupon Payment Dates (as specified in
the Issue Terms):

(i) Conditional Coupon

If 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date and the Coupon Observation
Date falling immediately prior to such Coupon Payment Date, the Conditional
Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment
Date shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with paragraph
(A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Coupon Trigger Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be the Specified Coupon Amount; or

(B) if a Coupon Trigger Event has not occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be zero.

If 'Multiple Coupon Sets' is specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, these
Conditional Coupon Provisions shall apply separately to each Set of Coupon
Payment Dates in respect of which 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified
to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, and each reference to 'in respect of each
Coupon Payment Date' in the Conditional Coupon Provisions (including in
respect of each of the definitions required for the Conditional Coupon Provisions)
shall be deemed to be a reference to 'in respect of each Coupon Payment Date in
the relevant Set of Coupon Payment Dates'.

(i)  Fixed Unconditional Coupon
If 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the
Issue Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date, the Coupon Amount

payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount.
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(b)

(©

If 'Multiple Coupon Sets' is specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, these
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions shall apply separately to each Set of
Coupon Payment Dates in respect of which 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon
Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, and each reference
to 'in respect of each Coupon Payment Date' in the Fixed Unconditional Coupon
Provisions (including in respect of each of the definitions required for such Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Provisions) shall be deemed to be a reference to 'in respect
of each Coupon Payment Date in the relevant Set of Coupon Payment Dates'.

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms and if an Autocall Event occurs in respect of any Autocall Observation Date or
any Autocall Observation Period (as applicable), the Conditional Coupon Amount (if
any) or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount (as applicable) payable on the Coupon
Payment Date scheduled to fall on the relevant Autocall Redemption Date (or if no such
date, the Coupon Payment Date falling most recently prior to the relevant Autocall
Redemption Date) shall be the final Conditional Coupon Amount or the final Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Amount (as applicable) payable in respect of the Products.

Autocall Amount

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms and the
Calculation Agent determines that an Autocall Event has occurred in respect of an
Autocall Observation Date or an Autocall Observation Period (as applicable), then unless
the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Issuer shall
redeem each Product on the Autocall Redemption Date corresponding to the Autocall
Observation Date or the Autocall Observation Period (as applicable) in respect of which
the Autocall Event occurred at the Autocall Redemption Amount.

Notwithstanding any other applicable provisions of the Payout Conditions, if the
Conditions specify that the final Autocall Redemption Date is scheduled to fall on the
same date as the Redemption Date, and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of the
Autocall Observation Date or the Autocall Observation Period (as applicable)
corresponding to such final Autocall Redemption Date, each Product shall be redeemed
on the Redemption Date (which is also the final Autocall Redemption Date) at the
Autocall Redemption Amount and no further amounts shall be payable in respect of such
Products.

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms, the
Autocall Provisions shall not apply to the Products.

Redemption Amount

Unless the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date or Delivery Date (as
applicable) in accordance with paragraph (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v), (vi), or (vii) below (as
applicable):

Q) European Barrier

This paragraph 1.1(c)(i) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as 'European
Barrier' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product in accordance with either paragraph (A) or
(B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred, either (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

(1)  if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the
Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of
the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which shall be
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(i)

(iii)

an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance; or

(2)  if'Settlement Type'is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by (1) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf
of) the Entitlement on the Delivery Date in accordance with
General Condition 6.2 and (I1) payment of the Residual Cash
Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount payable on
the Redemption Date shall be equal to the Calculation Amount,

PROVIDED THAT, if:

(1)  'Lock-In Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms, and if a Lock-In Event has occurred; or

(2)  'Target One Event Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in
the Issue Terms, and if a Target One Event has occurred,

the Redemption Amount payable on the Redemption Date shall be equal to the
Calculation Amount.

European Barrier with Return

This paragraph 1.1(c)(ii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as 'European
Barrier with Return' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Max [O; Calculation Amount X (PP + (DPP X Final Return))]; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Calculation Amount x FRP
European Barrier with Protection

This paragraph 1.1(c)(iii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as 'European
Barrier with Protection' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula
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(iv)

(v)

Calculation Amount X Max [CPP; Final Performance]; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount.

European Barrier with Optimal Tracker

This paragraph 1.1(c)(iv) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as 'European
Barrier with Optimal Tracker' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Highest Recorded Performance
European Barrier with Inverse Participation

This paragraph 1.1(c)(v) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as 'European
Barrier with Inverse Participation' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred, and:

(1) if 'Downside Participation' is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in
the Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in
the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

Max [0; Calculation Amount X (IP — Final Performance)]; or
(2)  if 'Downside Participation' is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the
Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the

Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

Max [0; Calculation Amount X (IP — (DPP x Final Performance))]

(3) if 'Protection Percentage' is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the
Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Max [CPP; (IP — Final Performance)]; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount.
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1.2

(vi)

(vii)

European Barrier with Inverse Participation and High Strike

This paragraph 1.1(c)(vi) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as 'European
Barrier with Inverse Participation and High Strike' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

IP — Final Performance
Calculation Amount XMax (0; - ) ;
[P — Strike Percentage

(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount.

European Barrier with Increased Downside Risk

This paragraph 1.1(c)(vii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as 'European
Barrier Increased Downside Risk' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount x Max (0; Final Performance — PP); or

(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Calculation Amount x FRP

Yield Enhancement Products with American Barrier Payout

This paragraph 1.2 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all American Barrier Yield
Enhancement Products.

(@)

Coupon Amount

If '‘Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms no Coupon

Amounts will be payable in respect of the Products.

If 'Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms the Coupon

Amount payable in respect of each Product on each Coupon Payment Date shall be the

Conditional Coupon Amount (if any) and/or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount
pursuant to, respectively, paragraph (i) or (ii) below, as applicable, PROVIDED THAT
if 'Multiple Coupon Sets' is specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, there shall be
more than one Set of Coupon Payment Dates and either the Conditional Coupon
Provisions (paragraph (i) below) or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions
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(b)

(paragraph (ii) below) shall apply to each Set of Coupon Payment Dates (as specified in
the Issue Terms):

M Conditional Coupon

If ‘Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date and the Coupon Observation
Date falling immediately prior to such Coupon Payment Date, the Conditional
Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment
Date shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with paragraph
(A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Coupon Trigger Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be the Specified Coupon Amount; or

(B) if a Coupon Trigger Event has not occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be zero.

If 'Multiple Coupon Sets' is specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, these
Conditional Coupon Provisions shall apply separately to each Set of Coupon Payment
Dates in respect of which 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be
‘Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, and each reference to 'in respect of each Coupon
Payment Date' in the Conditional Coupon Provisions (including in respect of each of the
definitions required for the Conditional Coupon Provisions) shall be deemed to be a
reference to 'in respect of each Coupon Payment Date in the relevant Set of Coupon
Payment Dates'".

(i)  Fixed Unconditional Coupon

If 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the
Issue Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date, the Coupon Amount
payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount.

If 'Multiple Coupon Sets' is specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, these
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions shall apply separately to each Set of
Coupon Payment Dates in respect of which 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon
Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, and each reference
to 'in respect of each Coupon Payment Date' in the Fixed Unconditional Coupon
Provisions (including in respect of each of the definitions required for the Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Provisions) shall be deemed to be a reference to 'in respect
of each Coupon Payment Date in the relevant Set of Coupon Payment Dates'.

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms and if an Autocall Event occurs in respect of any Autocall Observation Date or
any Autocall Observation Period (as applicable), the Conditional Coupon Amount (if
any) or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount (as applicable) payable on the Coupon
Payment Date scheduled to fall on the relevant Autocall Redemption Date (or if no such
date, the Coupon Payment Date falling most recently prior to the relevant Autocall
Redemption Date) shall be the final Conditional Coupon Amount or the final Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Amount (as applicable) payable in respect of the Products.

Autocall Amount

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms and the
Calculation Agent determines that an Autocall Event has occurred in respect of an
Autocall Observation Date or an Autocall Observation Period (as applicable), then unless
the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Issuer shall
redeem each Product on the Autocall Redemption Date corresponding to the Autocall
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Observation Date or the Autocall Observation Period (as applicable) in respect of which
the Autocall Event occurred at the Autocall Redemption Amount.

If the Conditions specify that the final Autocall Redemption Date shall be the
Redemption Date, and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date or the Autocall Observation Period (as applicable) corresponding to such final
Autocall Redemption Date, each Product shall be redeemed on the Redemption Date
(which is also the final Autocall Redemption Date) at the Autocall Redemption Amount
and no further amounts shall be payable in respect of such Products.

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms, the
Autocall Provisions shall not apply to the Products.

Redemption Amount

Unless the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date or Delivery Date (as
applicable) in accordance with paragraph (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v) or (vi) below (as
applicable):

(i) American Barrier

This paragraph 1.2(c)(i) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as 'American
Barrier' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product in accordance with either paragraph (A) or
(B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred and:

(1) a Strike Event has occurred, either (a) or (b) below (as
applicable):

@ if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement’
in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on the
Redemption Date, which shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation
Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance; or

(b)  if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Delivery and
Residual Cash Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product by (1) delivery of (or
procuring the delivery on its behalf of) the Entitlement
on the Delivery Date in accordance with General
Condition 6.2 and (I1) payment of the Residual Cash
Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date; or

(2) a Strike Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount
payable on the Redemption Date shall be equal to the
Calculation Amount; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount payable on
the Redemption Date shall be equal to the Calculation Amount,

PROVIDED THAT, if:
(1)  'Lock-In Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue

Terms, and if a Lock-In Event has occurred; or
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(2)  'Target One Event Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in
the Issue Terms, and if a Target One Event has occurred,

the Redemption Amount payable on the Redemption Date shall be equal to the
Calculation Amount.

American Barrier with Return

This paragraph 1.2(c)(ii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as '‘American
Barrier with Return' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred and:

(1)  aStrike Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation
Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Max [O; Calculation Amount X (PP + (DPP X Final Return))]; or;

(2)  aStrike Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount.

American Barrier with Protection

This paragraph 1.2(c)(iii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as 'American
Barrier with Protection' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred and:

(1) a Strike Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation
Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Max [CPP; Final Performance]; or

(2) a Strike Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount.

American Barrier with Inverse Participation
This paragraph 1.2(c)(iv) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in

respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as 'American
Barrier with Inverse Participation' in the Issue Terms.
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v)

(vi)

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with either paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred, and:

(1)  a Strike Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount; or

(2)  aStrike Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Max [0; Calculation Amount X (IP — Final Performance)]

(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount.

American Barrier with Inverse Participation and High Strike

This paragraph 1.2(c)(v) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as '"American
Barrier with Inverse Participation and High Strike' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred, and:

(1)  a Strike Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount; or

(2)  aStrike Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

[P — Final Performance
Calculation Amount XxMax (0; - ) ;
IP — Strike Percentage

(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount.

American Barrier with Increased Downside Risk

This paragraph 1.2(c)(vi) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as 'American
Barrier Increased Downside Risk' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has occurred, and:
(1)  aStrike Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation

Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X FRP; or
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(2)  aStrike Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount x Max (0; Final Performance — PP); or
(B) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Calculation Amount x FRP

Yield Enhancement Products Without Barrier Payout

This paragraph 1.3 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Yield Enhancement Without
Barrier Products.

(@)

Coupon Amount

If 'Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms no Coupon
Amounts will be payable in respect of the Products.

If 'Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms the Coupon
Amount payable in respect of each Product on each Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Conditional Coupon Amount (if any) and/or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount
pursuant to, respectively, paragraph (i) or (ii) below, as applicable, PROVIDED THAT
if 'Multiple Coupon Sets' is specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, there shall be
more than one Set of Coupon Payment Dates and either the Conditional Coupon
Provisions (paragraph (i) below) or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions
(paragraph (ii) below) shall apply to each Set of Coupon Payment Dates (as specified in
the Issue Terms):

(i) Conditional Coupon

If 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date and the Coupon Observation
Date falling immediately prior to such Coupon Payment Date, the Conditional
Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment
Date shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with paragraph
(A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Coupon Trigger Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be the Specified Coupon Amount; or

(B) if a Coupon Trigger Event has not occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be zero.

If 'Multiple Coupon Sets' is specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, these
Conditional Coupon Provisions shall apply separately to each Set of Coupon
Payment Dates in respect of which 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified
to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, and each reference to 'in respect of each
Coupon Payment Date' in the Conditional Coupon Provisions (including in
respect of each of the definitions required for the Conditional Coupon Provisions)
shall be deemed to be a reference to 'in respect of each Coupon Payment Date in
the relevant Set of Coupon Payment Dates'.

(i)  Fixed Unconditional Coupon
If 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the

Issue Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date, the Coupon Amount
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payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount.

If 'Multiple Coupon Sets' is specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, these
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions shall apply separately to each Set of
Coupon Payment Dates in respect of which 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon
Provisions' are specified to be ‘Applicable' in the Issue Terms, and each reference
to 'in respect of each Coupon Payment Date' in the Fixed Unconditional Coupon
Provisions (including in respect of each of the definitions required for the Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Provisions) shall be deemed to be a reference to 'in respect
of each Coupon Payment Date in the relevant Set of Coupon Payment Dates'".

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms and if an Autocall Event occurs in respect of any Autocall Observation Date or
any Autocall Observation Period (as applicable), the Conditional Coupon Amount (if
any) or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount (as applicable) payable on the Coupon
Payment Date scheduled to fall on the relevant Autocall Redemption Date (or if ho such
date, the Coupon Payment Date falling most recently prior to the relevant Autocall
Redemption Date) shall be the final Conditional Coupon Amount or final Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Amount (as applicable) payable in respect of the Products.

Autocall Amount

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms and the
Calculation Agent determines that an Autocall Event has occurred in respect of an
Autocall Observation Date or an Autocall Observation Period (as applicable), then unless
the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Issuer shall
redeem each Product on the Autocall Redemption Date corresponding to the Autocall
Observation Date or the Autocall Observation Period (as applicable) in respect of which
the Autocall Event occurred at the Autocall Redemption Amount.

If the Conditions specify that the final Autocall Redemption Date shall be the
Redemption Date, and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date or the Autocall Observation Period (as applicable) corresponding to such final
Autocall Redemption Date, each Product shall be redeemed on the Redemption Date
(which is also the final Autocall Redemption Date) at the Autocall Redemption Amount
and no further amounts shall be payable in respect of such Products.

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms, the
Autocall Provisions shall not apply to the Products.

Redemption Amount

Unless the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph
(i), (ii) or (iii) below (as applicable):

(i) Without Barrier

This paragraph 1.3(c)(i) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as "Without
Barrier' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Strike Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount x Final Performance; or
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(B) if a Strike Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount.

(i) Without Barrier (Inverse) with High Strike

This paragraph 1.3(c)(ii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as 'Without
Barrier (Inverse) with High Strike' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Strike Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

IP — Final Performance
Calculation Amount x Max |0; ] ;

[P — Strike Percentage

(B) if a Strike Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount.

(iii)  Without Barrier with Downside Participation

This paragraph 1.3(c)(iii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified as "Without
Barrier with Downside Participation' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Strike Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Max [0; Calculation Amount x (PP + (DPP x Final Return))]; or

(B) if a Strike Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount.

Yield Enhancement Product Definitions

The following terms and expressions shall have the following meanings in respect of Products
for which the Payout Style is specified to be "Yield Enhancement Products' in the Issue Terms:

"Autocall Coupon Amount" means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, the amount
specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"American Barrier Yield Enhancement Product” means each Product in respect of which the
Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified in the Issue Terms as any of 'American Barrier',
'‘American Barrier with Return’, 'American Barrier with Protection’, 'American Barrier with
Inverse Participation', 'American Barrier with Inverse Participation and High Strike' or
'‘American Barrier with Increased Downside Risk'.

"Autocall Basket Performance"” means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, an amount
calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Relevant Autocall Fixing Basket Level

Initial Fixing Basket Level
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"Autocall Event" means one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@)

(b)

if 'Autocall Observation Period' is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms, in
respect of an Autocall Observation Date (and an Autocall Event shall be deemed to have
occurred in respect of an Autocall Observation Date if), either (i) or (ii) below (as
applicable):

(M in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (A) or (B) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Autocall Fixing Level of the Underlying in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date is either (1) above or (2) at or above (as specified in
the Issue Terms) the Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date; or

(B) the Autocall Fixing Level of the Underlying in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date is either (1) below or (2) at or below (as specified in
the Issue Terms) the Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date; or

(i) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, any of (A), (B), (C) or
(D) below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Autocall Fixing Basket Level (excluding the Target One Underlying
if specified in the Issue Terms) on such Autocall Observation Date is
either (1) above or (2) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the
Autocall Trigger Basket Level in respect of such Autocall Observation
Date; or

(B) the Autocall Fixing Basket Level (excluding the Target One Underlying
if specified in the Issue Terms) on such Autocall Observation Date is
either (1) below or (2) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the
Autocall Trigger Basket Level in respect of such Autocall Observation
Date; or

© the Autocall Fixing Level of all Underlyings (excluding the Target One
Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) on such Autocall Observation
Date are either (1) above or (2) at or above (as specified in the Issue
Terms) their respective Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such
Autocall Observation Date; or

(D) the Autocall Fixing Level of all Underlyings (excluding the Target One
Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) on such Autocall Observation
Date are either (1) below or (2) at or below (as specified in the Issue
Terms) their respective Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such
Autocall Observation Date; or

if 'Autocall Observation Period' is specified to be 'Applicable' in the Issue Terms, in
respect of an Autocall Observation Period (and an Autocall Event shall be deemed to
have occurred in respect of an Autocall Observation Period if) either (i) or (ii) below (as
applicable):

(i) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (A) or (B) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Autocall Fixing Level of the Underlying in respect of any Autocall
Period Observation Date falling in such Autocall Observation Period is
either (1) above or (2) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the
Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Period,;
or
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(B) the Autocall Fixing Level of the Underlying in respect of any Autocall
Period Observation Date falling in such Autocall Observation Period is
either (1) below or (2) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the
Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Period:;
or

(i) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, any of (A), (B), (C) or
(D) below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Autocall Fixing Basket Level (excluding the Target One Underlying
if specified in the Issue Terms) on any Common Autocall Period
Observation Date falling in such Autocall Observation Period is either
(1) above or (2) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Autocall
Trigger Basket Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Period; or

(B) the Autocall Fixing Basket Level (excluding the Target One Underlying
if specified in the Issue Terms) on any Common Autocall Period
Observation Date falling in such Autocall Observation Period is either
(1) below or (2) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Autocall
Trigger Basket Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Period; or

© the Autocall Fixing Level of all Underlyings (excluding the Target One
Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) on any Common Autocall
Period Observation Date falling in such Autocall Observation Period are
either (1) above or (2) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective  Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall
Observation Period; or

(D) the Autocall Fixing Level of all Underlyings (excluding the Target One
Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) on any Common Autocall
Period Observation Date falling in such Autocall Observation Period are
either (1) below or (2) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall
Observation Period.

"Autocall Fixing Basket Level" means an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
Z NUC; x Autocall Fixing Level;

i=1

Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:
"Autocall Fixing Leveli" means the Autocall Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Fixing Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date or an Autocall
Period Observation Date (as applicable) and an Underlying, the Level of such Underlying
specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Autocall Observation Date or such
Autocall Period Observation Date (as applicable).
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"Autocall Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, one of the following (as
applicable):

(a) inrespect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the Underlying
Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings either:

M where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified as 'Common Adjustment' in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified as 'Individual Adjustment’ in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Autocall Observation Period" means, if specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, each
period specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Period Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, each Underlying
Trading Day falling in the relevant Autocall Observation Period.

"Autocall Redemption Amount"” means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, one of
the following:

(@)  the amount specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b) if 'Fixed Autocall Redemption Amount plus Autocall Coupon Amount' is specified in
the Issue Terms, an amount determined by the Calculation Agent as being equal to the
sum of the Fixed Autocall Redemption Amount in respect of such Autocall Redemption
Date and the Autocall Coupon Amount in respect of such Autocall Redemption Date; or

(c) if 'High Watermark Autocallable' is specified in the Issue Terms, an amount calculated
by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount x Max (MERP; Autocall Basket Performance)

"Autocall Redemption Date" means, in respect of either (a) an Autocall Observation Date on
which an Autocall Event has occurred or (b) an Autocall Observation Period in respect of which
an Autocall Event has occurred, one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@)  the date specified as an 'Autocall Redemption Date' in the Issue Terms that falls
immediately after such Autocall Observation Date or such Autocall Observation Period
(as applicable); or

(b)  if an Autocall Redemption Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the
column entitled 'Autocall Redemption Date(s)' in the row corresponding to such Autocall
Observation Date or such Autocall Observation Period (as applicable),

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Redemption Table" the table specified as such in the Issue Terms.
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"Autocall Trigger Basket Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date or an
Autocall Observation Period (as applicable) and a basket of Underlyings, an amount equal to
the percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such Underlyings as specified in respect of
such Autocall Observation Date or such Autocall Observation Period (as applicable) in the Issue
Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation
Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Trigger Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date or an Autocall
Observation Period (as applicable) and an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of
either (a) the Initial Fixing Level or (b) the Strike Level (as specified in the Issue Terms) of such
Underlying as specified in respect of such Autocall Observation Date or such Autocall
Observation Period (as applicable) in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be
indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into
account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum
percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Basket Level" means, in respect of a basket of Underlyings, an amount equal to the
percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such Underlyings as specified in the Issue
Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation
Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Event" means (and a Barrier Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), one of the
following (as applicable):

@) in respect of European Barrier Yield Enhancement Products, one of the following (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(M in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (A) or (B) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Final Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (1) below or (I) at or
below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level; or

(B) the Final Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (1) above or (Il) at or
above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level; or

(i) inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, any of (A), (B), (C), (D),
(E), (F) or (G) below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Final Fixing Basket Level (excluding the Target One Underlying if
specified in the Issue Terms) is either (1) below or (I1) at or below (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level; or

(B) the Final Fixing Basket Level (excluding the Target One Underlying if
specified in the Issue Terms) is either (1) above or (I1) at or above (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level; or

© the Final Fixing Level of at least one Underlying (excluding the Target
One Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) is either (1) below or (11)
at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Barrier Level;
or

(D) the Final Fixing Level of at least one Underlying (excluding the Target
One Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) is either (I) above or (I1)
at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Barrier Level;
or
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B)

(F)

(G)

the Final Fixing Level of (1) at least one Underlying is either (1) below
or (2) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Barrier
Level; and (11) none of the Underlyings are either (1) above or (2) at or
above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Target Level; or

the Final Fixing Level of () at least one Underlying is either (1) above
or (2) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Barrier
Level; and (1) none of the Underlyings are either (1) below or (2) at or
below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Target Level; or

if Barrier Event is specified as 'Multichance Barrier Event' in the Issue
Terms, a Multichance Barrier Event has occurred; or

(b)  in respect of American Barrier Yield Enhancement Products, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms:

0] in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, any of (A) or (B) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(A)

(B)

the Barrier Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (1) below or (1) at
or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level on any
Barrier Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

the Barrier Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (1) above or (I) at or
above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level on any Barrier
Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

(if)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, any of (A), (B), (C), (D)
or (E) below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A)

(B)

©)

(D)

B)

the Barrier Fixing Basket Level (excluding the Target One Underlying
if specified in the Issue Terms) is either (1) below or (I1) at or below (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level on any Barrier
Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

the Barrier Fixing Basket Level (excluding the Target One Underlying
if specified in the Issue Terms) is either (1) above or (Il) at or above (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level on any Barrier
Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

the Barrier Fixing Level of at least one Underlying (excluding the Target
One Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) is either (1) below or (I1)
at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Barrier Level
on any Barrier Observation Date for such Underlying falling in the
Barrier Observation Period; or

the Barrier Fixing Level of at least one Underlying (excluding the Target
One Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) is either (I) above or (I1)
at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Barrier Level
on any Barrier Observation Date for such Underlying falling in the
Barrier Observation Period; or

if Barrier Event is specified as 'Multichance Barrier Event' in the Issue
Terms, a Multichance Barrier Event has occurred.

"Barrier Fixing Basket Level" means, an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
Z NUC; x Barrier Fixing Level;

i=1
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Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:
"Barrier Fixing Leveli" means the Barrier Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;

"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Fixing Level" means, in respect a Barrier Observation Date and an Underlying, the
Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Level” means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, each Underlying Trading Day
falling in the relevant Barrier Observation Period.

"Barrier Observation Period" means the period specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Best Performing Underlying” means the Underlying with the highest Underlying
Performance, provided that if two or more Underlyings have the same highest Underlying
Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine, in its discretion, which of such
Underlyings shall be deemed to be the Best Performing Underlying.

"Common Autocall Period Observation Date" means, in respect of a Product linked to a
basket of Underlyings and an Autocall Observation Period, each day falling in such Autocall
Observation Period that is an Autocall Period Observation Date for each of the Underlyings in
such basket of Underlyings.

"Common Lock-In Event" means, (and a Common Lock-In Event shall be deemed to have
occurred if), in respect of a Lock-In Observation Date and a basket of Underlyings, the Lock-In
Fixing Level of all Underlying's on such Lock-In Observation Date is either (i) above, (ii) at or
above, (iii) below or (iv) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) their respective Lock-In
Barrier Level in respect of such Lock-In Observation Date.

"Conditional Coupon Amount" means, if ‘Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be
‘Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the amount determined in accordance with paragraphs 1.1(a)(i),
1.2(a)(i) and 1.3(a)(i) of these Payout Conditions.

"Conditional Coupon Provisions" means the provisions of paragraphs 1.1(a)(i), 1.2(a)(i) and
1.3(a)(i) of these Payout Conditions, as applicable.

"Coupon Amount" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Coupon Fixing Basket Level" means an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
Z NUC; x Coupon Fixing Level,

i=1
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Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:
"Coupon Fixing Leveli" means the Coupon Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Fixing Level" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date.

"Coupon Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying and a Coupon Payment Date,
one of the following (as applicable):

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the
Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either:

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be '‘Common Adjustment' in respect of the Coupon Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Individual Adjustment' in respect of the Coupon Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Coupon Payment Date™" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date, one of the following
as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@)  each date specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  ifaCoupon Payment Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the column
entitled '‘Coupon Payment Date(s)’,

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Payment Table" means the table specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Rate" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, each percentage specified as such
in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the
Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Trigger Basket Level" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and a basket

of Underlyings, an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such
Underlyings as specified in respect of such Coupon Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if
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such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Trigger Event" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date (and a Coupon
Trigger Event shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of such Coupon Observation Date
if), one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (i) or (ii) below (as specified
in the Issue Terms):

(i) the Coupon Fixing Level of the Underlying on such Coupon Observation Date is
either (A) above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon
Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(i) the Coupon Fixing Level of the Underlying on such Coupon Observation Date is
either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon
Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, any of (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) below
(as specified in the Issue Terms):

0] the Coupon Fixing Basket Level (excluding the Target One Underlying if
specified in the Issue Terms) on such Coupon Observation Date is either (A)
above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon Trigger
Basket Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(i)  the Coupon Fixing Basket Level (excluding the Target One Underlying if
specified in the Issue Terms) on such Coupon Observation Date is either (A)
below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon Trigger
Basket Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(iii)  the Coupon Fixing Level of all Underlyings (excluding the Target One
Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) on such Coupon Observation Date are
either (A) above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective Coupon Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(iv) the Coupon Fixing Level of all Underlyings (excluding the Target One
Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) on such Coupon Observation Date are
either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective Coupon Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date.

"Coupon Trigger Level™ means in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and an Underlying,
each amount equal to the percentage of either (2) the Initial Fixing Level or (b) the Strike Level
(as specified in the Issue Terms) of such Underlying as specified in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such
percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account
prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and,
if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"CPP" or "Protection Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms,
and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent
shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial
Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage
specified in the Issue Terms.

"Delivery Date" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout Conditions.

"DPP" or "Downside Participation Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the
Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the
Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
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conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Entitlement" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout Conditions.

"European Barrier Yield Enhancement Product” means products in respect of which the
Yield Enhancement Product Style is specified in the Issue Terms as any of 'European Barrier',
'European Barrier with Return’, 'European Barrier with Protection’, 'European Barrier with
Inverse Participation’, 'European Barrier with Inverse Participation and High Strike' or
'European Barrier with Downside Risk'.

"Final Fixing Basket Level" means, an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:
n
Z NUC; x Final Fixing Level;
i=1
Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:

"Final Fixing Leveli" means the Final Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"I'" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components” means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Final Fixing Level (Best)" means the Final Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying
in respect of the Final Fixing Date.

"Final Fixing Level (Worst)" means the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing
Underlying in respect of the Final Fixing Date.

"Final Performance" means either paragraph (a) or (b) below (as applicable):

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, one of the following as specified in
the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the Issue Terms):

(i) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Intial Fixing Level’ or

(i)  a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Level
Strike Level * '

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, one of the following as specified
in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the Issue Terms):

(i) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level

Initial Fixing Basket Level

96



Payout Conditions

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in
following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level
Strike Basket Level

a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in
following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)

Initial Fixing Level (Worst)

a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in
following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)

Initial Fixing Level (Best)’ or

a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in
following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)
Strike Level (Worst)

a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in
following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Strike Level (Best)

accordance

accordance

accordance

accordance

accordance

with the

with the

with the

with the

with the

"Final Return™ means one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the
relevant formula below in the Issue Terms):

(@)

(b)

(©

for Products linked to a single Underlying, in respect of such Underlying a percentage
determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level — Strike Level)

Initial Fixing Level

for Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, a percentage determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level (Worst) — Strike Level (Worst))

Initial Fixing Level (Worst)

for Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, a percentage determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best) — Strike Level (Best)

Initial Fixing Level (Best)

"Fixed Autocall Redemption Amount" means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, the
amount specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount"” means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, the

amount specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Coupon Payment Date.

"Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions” means the provisions of paragraph 1.1(a)(ii),
1.2(a)(ii) or 1.3(a)(ii) of these Payout Conditions, as applicable.
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"FRP" or "Final Redemption Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue
Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation
Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Highest Recorded Performance" means, in respect of an Optimal Tracker Observation Date,
the highest Underlying Performance observed on any Optimal Tracker Observation Date.

"Initial Fixing Basket Level" means either (a) or (b) below (as applicable)

@) if 'Initial Fixing Basket Level' is specified to be 'Specified Amount' in the Issue Terms,
the amount specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  if 'Initial Fixing Basket Level' is specified to be 'Calculated Amount' in the Issue Terms,
an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

n
z NUC; X Initial Fixing Level;

=1
Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:
"Initial Fixing Leveli" means the Initial Fixing Level of Underlying "i*;

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Initial Fixing Level (Best)" means the Initial Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying.

"Initial Fixing Level (Worst)" means the Initial Fixing Level of the Worst Performing
Underlying.

"IP" or "Inverse Percentage™ means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and
if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Lock-In Barrier Level” means, in respect of a Lock-In Observation Date and an Underlying,
an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified in
respect of such Lock-1n Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified
to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion,
taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the
minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Lock-In Event" means, (and a Lock-In Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Lock-In Fixing Level of the
Underlying on a Lock-In Observation Date is either (i) above, (ii) at or above, (iii) below
or (iv) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Lock-In Barrier Level in respect
of such Lock-In Observation Date; or
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(b)  in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (i) or (ii) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

M a Common Lock-In Event has occurred in respect of a Lock-In Observation Date
and the basket of Underlyings; or

(i) a Single Lock-In Event has occurred in respect of each Underlying on at least one
Lock-In Observation Date. The Lock-In Event shall be deemed to have occurred
on the first Lock-In Observation Date in respect of which a Single Lock-In Event
has occurred for all Underlyings.

"Lock-In Fixing Level" means, in respect of a Lock-In Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Lock-In
Observation Date.

"Lock-In Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, one of the following (as
applicable):

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the
Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either:

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Common Adjustment' in respect of the Lock-In Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Individual Adjustment' in respect of the Lock-In Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Lock-In Provisions" means the provisions of proviso (1) of paragraph 1.1(c)(i) or 1.2(c)(i) of
these Payout Conditions, as applicable.

"MERP" or "Minimum Early Redemption Percentage" means the percentage specified as
such in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as
the Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Multichance Barrier Event" means (and a Multichance Barrier Event shall be deemed to have
occurred if), one of the following (as applicable):

@ in respect of European Barrier Yield Enhancement Products, if the Final Fixing Level of
a number of Underlyings at least equal to the Specified Multichance Barrier Number of
Underlyings are either (i) above, (ii) at or above, (iii) below or (iv) at or below (as
specified in the Issue Terms) their respective Barrier Levels; or

(b)  inrespect of American Barrier Yield Enhancement Products, either (i) or (ii) below (as
specified in the Issuer Terms):

(i) in respect of a Barrier Observation Date in the Barrier Observation Period, the

Barrier Fixing Level of a number of Underlyings at least equal to the Specified
Multichance Barrier Number of Underlyings are either (i) above, (ii) at or above,
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(iii) below or (iv) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) their respect Barrier
Levels; or

(i) the number of Underlyings in respect of which the Barrier Fixing Level on any
Barrier Observation Date in the Barrier Observation Period has been either (i)
above, (ii) at or above, (iii) below or (iv) at or below (as specified in the Issue
Terms) their respect Barrier Levels is at least equal to the Specified Multichance
Barrier Number of Underlyings.

"Optimal Tracker Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, subject as provided
in the Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day.

"PP" or "Participation Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms,
and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent
shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial
Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage
specified in the Issue Terms.

"Redemption Amount" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Relevant Autocall Fixing Basket Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date,
an amount determined by the Calculation Agent as being equal to (a) the Autocall Fixing Basket
Level corresponding to the Autocall Observation Date in respect of which the Autocall Event
occurred divided by (b) the Initial Fixing Basket Level.

"Residual Cash Amount" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Set of Coupon Payment Dates™ means one or more Coupon Payment Dates specified in the
Issue Terms as belonging to the same "set" of Coupon Payment Dates. Each Set of Coupon
Payment Dates shall be referred to in the Issue Terms as 'Coupon Payment Date Set i' where 'i’
is a number from 1 (one) up to the total number of distinct Sets of Coupon Payment Dates. In
respect of each Set of Coupon Payment Dates either the Conditional Coupon Provisions or the
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions shall be specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms.

"Single Lock-In Event" means, (and a Single Lock-In Event shall be deemed to have occurred
if), in respect of a Lock-In Observation Date and an Underlying in a basket of Underlyings, the
Lock-In Fixing Level of such Underlying on such Lock-In Observation Date is either (i) above,
(ii) at or above, (iii) below or (iv) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Lock-In
Barrier Level for such Underlying in respect of such Lock-In Observation Date.

"Specified Coupon Amount" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@ if '‘Conditional Coupon Style' is specified as 'Specified Conditional Coupon' in the Issue
Terms, an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Coupon Rate; or

(b)  if 'Conditional Coupon Style' is specified as 'Memory Coupon' in the Issue Terms, an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

N

Calculation Amount x [ Z Coupon Rate;

i=n+1
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(d)

Where the summation is taken across each Coupon Payment Date specified in the Issue
Terms and:

"Coupon Rate;i" means the Coupon Rate in respect of Coupon Payment Date "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Coupon
Payment Date;

"n" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the last
Coupon Payment Date on which a Specified Coupon Amount was paid (if any)
preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, provided that if there are no
Coupon Payment Dates preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date prior to
the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, then "n" shall be zero.

"N" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the current
Relevant Coupon Observation Date.

if 'Conditional Coupon Style' is specified as 'Layered Memory Coupon' in the Issue
Terms, an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

N
X T

Calculation Amount X [ Z Coupon Rate;
i=n+1

Where the summation is taken across each Coupon Payment Date specified in the Issue
Terms and:

"Coupon Ratei" means the Coupon Rate in respect of Coupon Payment Date "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Coupon
Payment Date;

"n" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date™), the number of the last
Coupon Payment Date on which a Specified Coupon Amount was paid (if any)
preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, provided that if there are no
Coupon Payment Dates preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date prior to
the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, then "n" shall be zero.

"N" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the current
Relevant Coupon Observation Date.

"T" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date, the number of times that a
Coupon Trigger Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon Observation Date
in respect of each Coupon Trigger Level.

if 'Conditional Coupon Style' is specified as 'Layered Coupon' in the Issue Terms, an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formulae:

Calculation Amount X Coupon Rate X T

"Specified Multichance Barrier Number of Underlyings" means the number specified as
such in the Issue Terms.

101



Payout Conditions

"Strike Barrier Basket Level" means, in respect of a basket of Underlyings, any of (a), (b) or
(c) below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(@  anamount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such Underlyings
as specified in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such
percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account
prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum
percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms;

(b)  the Initial Fixing Basket Level; or
(c)  the Strike Basket Level.

"Strike Barrier Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, any of (a), (b) or (c) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(@) an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as
specified in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such
percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account
prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum
percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying; or
(c)  the Strike Level of such Underlying.

"Strike Basket Level” means, in respect of a basket of Underlyings, an amount equal to the
percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue
Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation
Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Strike Event" means (and a Strike Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, any of (i) or (ii) below (as specified
in the Issue Terms):

(i) the Final Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (A) below or (B) at or below
(as specified in the Issue Terms) the Strike Barrier Level;

(i) the Final Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (A) above or (B) at or above (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Strike Barrier Level,

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, any of (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v) or
(vi) below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(i) the Final Fixing Basket Level (excluding the Target One Underlying if specified
in the Issue Terms) is either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue
Terms) the Strike Barrier Basket Level;

(i) the Final Fixing Basket Level (excluding the Target One Underlying if specified
in the Issue Terms) is either (A) above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue
Terms) the Strike Barrier Basket Level;

(iii)  the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing Underlying (excluding the Target

One Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) is either (A) below or (B) at or
below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its Strike Barrier Level; or
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(iv)  the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing Underlying (excluding the Target
One Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) is either (A) above or (B) at or
above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its Strike Barrier Level; or

(v)  the Final Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying of all Underlyings
(excluding the Target One Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) is either
(A) below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its Strike Barrier
Level; or

(vi) the Final Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying (excluding the Target
One Underlying if specified in the Issue Terms) is either (A) above or (B) at or
above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its Strike Barrier Level.

"Strike Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms, PROVIDED THAT if 'Predetermined Strike Level' is specified to be
‘Applicable’ in respect of the Strike Level in the Issue Terms, notwithstanding that the Strike
Level is expressed as a percentage of the Initial Fixing Level in the Issue Terms, the Strike Level
was determined on a date prior to the date on which the Initial Fixing Level is determined.

"Strike Level (Best)" means the Strike Level of the Best Performing Underlying.
"Strike Level (Worst)" means the Strike Level of the Worst Performing Underlying.

"Strike Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"T" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date, the number of times that a Coupon Trigger
Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon Observation Date in respect of each Coupon
Trigger Level.

"Target Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified in the Issue Terms.

"Target One Barrier Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the
percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified in the Issue Terms, and if
such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Target One Event" means (and Target One Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), either
(a) or (b) below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(@  the Final Fixing Level of the Target One Underlying is either (i) above, (ii) at or above,
(iii) below or (iv) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its Target One Barrier
Level; or

(b)  the Final Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either ((i) above, (ii) at or above, (iii)
below or (iv) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Target One
Barrier Level.

"Target One Underlying" means, the Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms or if no
Underlying is specified, not applicable.
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"Underlying Performance™ means, in respect of an Underlying, a percentage determined by
the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Initial Fixing Level

"Underlying Trading Day" means, in respect of an Underlying, as specified in the relevant
Underlying Specific Conditions.

"Worst Performing Underlying"” means the Underlying with the lowest Underlying
Performance, provided that if two or more Underlyings have the same lowest Underlying
Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine, in its discretion, which of such
Underlyings shall be deemed to be the Worst Performing Underlying.

"Yield Enhancement Product Style" means, in respect of the Products, one of the following
as specified in the Issue Terms: 'European Barrier', 'European Barrier with Return', 'European
Barrier with Protection’, 'European Barrier with Optimal Tracker', 'European Barrier with
Inverse Participation’, 'European Barrier with Inverse Participation and High Strike', 'European
Barrier with Increased Downside Risk', 'American Barrier', 'American Barrier with Return’,
'‘American Barrier with Protection’, 'American Barrier with Inverse Participation', '"American
Barrier with Inverse Participation and High Strike', 'American Barrier with Increased Downside
Risk', 'Without Barrier', 'Without Barrier (Inverse) with High Strike' or 'Without Barrier with
Downside Participation'.

"Yield Enhancement Without Barrier Product™ means Products in respect of which the Yield
Enhancement Product Style is specified in the Issue Terms as either 'Without Barrier', 'Without
Barrier (Inverse) with High Strike' or ‘Without Barrier with Downside Participation'.
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2.1

Twin Win Products

This paragraph 2 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in respect of which the
Payout Style is specified to be "Twin Win Products' in the Issue Terms.

Twin Win Products with European Barrier Payout

This paragraph 2.1 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all European Barrier Twin Win
Products.

(@)

(b)

Coupon Amount

If '‘Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms no Coupon
Amounts will be payable in respect of the Products.

If 'Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms the Coupon
Amount payable in respect of each Product on each Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Conditional Coupon Amount (if any) or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount
pursuant to, respectively, paragraph (i) or (ii) below, as applicable:

0] Conditional Coupon

If ‘Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date and the Coupon Observation
Date falling immediately prior to such Coupon Payment Date, the Conditional
Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment
Date shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with paragraph
(A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Coupon Trigger Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be the Specified Coupon Amount; or

(B) if a Coupon Trigger Event has not occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be zero.

(i)  Fixed Unconditional Coupon

If 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the
Issue Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date, the Coupon Amount
payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount,

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms and if an Autocall Event occurs in respect of any Autocall Observation Date, the
Conditional Coupon Amount (if any) or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount (as
applicable) payable on the Coupon Payment Date falling on the relevant Autocall
Redemption Date (or if no such date, the Coupon Payment Date falling most recently
prior to the relevant Autocall Redemption Date) shall be the final Conditional Coupon
Amount or final Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount (as applicable) payable in respect
of the Products.

Autocall Amount

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms and the
Calculation Agent determines that an Autocall Event has occurred in respect of an
Autocall Observation Date, then unless the Products have been previously redeemed or
purchased and cancelled, the Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Autocall
Redemption Date corresponding to the Autocall Observation Date on which the Autocall
Event occurred at the Autocall Redemption Amount.
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Notwithstanding any other applicable provisions of the Payout Conditions, if the
Conditions specify that the final Autocall Redemption Date is scheduled to fall on the
same date as the Redemption Date, and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of the
Autocall Observation Date corresponding to such final Autocall Redemption Date, each
Product shall be redeemed on the Redemption Date (which is also the final Autocall
Redemption Date) at the Autocall Redemption Amount and no further amounts shall be
payable in respect of such Products.

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms, the
Autocall Provisions shall not apply to the Products.

Redemption Amount

Unless the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date or Delivery Date (as
applicable) in accordance with the Twin Win Product Style and paragraph (i) or (ii)
below (as applicable):

0] European Barrier (Bullish)

This paragraph 2.1(c)(i) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Twin Win Product Style is specified to be 'European Barrier
(Bullish)" in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date or Delivery Date
(as applicable) in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product
by payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in
accordance with (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

(1)  ifaTwin Win Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X(TWP — Final Performance); or
(2)  if a Twin Win Event has not occurred, and
()] if 'Cap' is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the lIssue
Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the

Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance; or

(1)  if 'Cap' is specified to be ‘Applicable’ in the Issue Terms,
the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Min (Final Performance; CP); or

(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred, either (1) or (2) below (as applicable):
(1) if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the
Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of

the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in accordance
with (1) or (1) below (as applicable):

n if 'Floor' is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue
Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
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Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance; or

(I if 'Floor' is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms,
the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Max (Final Performance; FP); or

if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by (1) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf
of) the Entitlement on the Delivery Date in accordance with
General Condition 6.2 and (Il) payment of the Residual Cash
Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date.

European Barrier (Bearish)

This paragraph 2.1(c)(ii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Twin Win Product Style is specified to be 'European Barrier
(Bearish)' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date or Delivery Date
(as applicable) in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product
by payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in
accordance with (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

M

if a Twin Win Event has occurred and:

() if'Cap'is specified to be 'Not Applicable’ in the Issue Terms,
the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X (TWP — Final Performance); or

(I1) if'Cap'is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the
Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement
Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Min [(TWP — Final Performance); CP]

(2) if a Twin Win Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount
shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:
Calculation Amount X Final Performance; or
(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred, either (1) or (2) below:
(1)  if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the

Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of
the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which shall be
an amount in the Settlement Currency determined in accordance
with (1) or (11) below (as applicable):
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() if 'Floor' is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue
Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Max [0; Calculation Amount X (IP — Final Performance)]; or

(1) if 'Floor' is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms,
the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined in accordance with the
following formula:

Calculation Amount X Max (IP — Final Performance; FP); or

(2)  if'Settlement Type'is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by (1) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf
of) the Entitlement on the Delivery Date in accordance with
General Condition 6.2 and (1) payment of the Residual Cash
Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date.

Twin Win Products with American Barrier Payout

This paragraph 2.2 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all American Barrier Twin Win
Products.

(@)

Coupon Amount

If 'Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms no Coupon
Amounts will be payable in respect of the Products.

If 'Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms the Coupon
Amount payable in respect of each Product on each Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Conditional Coupon Amount (if any) or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount
pursuant to, respectively, paragraph (i) or (ii) below, as applicable:

(i)

(i)

Conditional Coupon

If 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date and the Coupon Observation
Date falling immediately prior to such Coupon Payment Date, the Conditional
Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment
Date shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with paragraph
(A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Coupon Trigger Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be the Specified Coupon Amount; or

(B) if a Coupon Trigger Event has not occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be zero.

Fixed Unconditional Coupon
If 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the
Issue Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date, the Coupon Amount

payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount,
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PROVIDED THAT, if 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms and if an Autocall Event occurs in respect of any Autocall Observation Date, the
Conditional Coupon Amount (if any) or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount (as
applicable) payable on the Coupon Payment Date falling on the relevant Autocall
Redemption Date (or if no such date, the Coupon Payment Date falling most recently
prior to the relevant Autocall Redemption Date) shall be the final Conditional Coupon
Amount or final Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount (as applicable) payable in respect
of the Products.

Autocall Amount

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms and the
Calculation Agent determines that an Autocall Event has occurred in respect of an
Autocall Observation Date, then unless the Products have been previously redeemed or
purchased and cancelled, the Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Autocall
Redemption Date corresponding to the Autocall Observation Date on which the Autocall
Event occurred at the Autocall Redemption Amount.

If the Conditions specify that the final Autocall Redemption Date shall be the
Redemption Date, and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date corresponding to such final Autocall Redemption Date, each Product shall be
redeemed on the Redemption Date (which is also the final Autocall Redemption Date)
at the Autocall Redemption Amount and no further amounts shall be payable in respect
of such Products.

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms, the
Autocall Provisions shall not apply to the Products.

Redemption Amount

Unless the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date or Delivery Date (as
applicable) in accordance with the Twin Win Product Style and paragraph (i) or (ii)
below (as applicable):

(i) American Barrier (Bullish)

This paragraph 2.2(c)(i) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Twin Win Product Style is specified to be 'American Barrier
(Bullish) in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date or Delivery Date
(as applicable) in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product
by payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in
accordance (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

(1)  ifaTwin Win Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X (TWP — Final Performance); or
(2)  ifaTwin Win Event has not occurred, and:

() if'Cap'is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms,
the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance; or
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(i)

(B)

(1

if 'Cap' is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the
Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement
Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula;

Calculation Amount X Min (Final Performance; CP); or

if a Barrier Event has occurred, either (1) or (2) below:

M

)

if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the
Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of

the

Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in accordance

(1) or (1) below (as applicable):

0

(1

if 'Floor' is specified to be 'Not Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance; or

if 'Floor' is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms,
the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Max (Final Performance; FP); or

if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement or Cash Settlement' in the Issue Terms and:

(M

(1

if a Twin Win Event has not occurred, the Issuer shall
redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption
Amount on the Redemption Amount, which shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following
formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance; or

if a Twin Win Event has occurred, the Issuer shall redeem
each Product by (1) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on
its behalf of) the Entitlement on the Delivery Date in
accordance with General Condition 6.2 and (l1) payment of
the Residual Cash Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date.

American Barrier (Bearish)

This paragraph 2.2(c)(ii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Twin Win Product Style is specified to be 'American Barrier
(Bearish)' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date or Delivery Date
(as applicable) in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A)

if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product
by payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in
accordance with (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

)

if a Twin Win Event has occurred and:
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() if'Cap'is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms,
the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X (TWP — Final Performance); or

(I1) if'Cap'is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the
Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement
Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula;

Calculation Amount X Min [(TWP — Final Performance); CP]

(2) if a Twin Win Event has not occurred the Redemption Amount
shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance; or
(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred, either (1) or (2) below:

(1)  if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the
Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of
the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in accordance
(1) or (1) below (as applicable):

() if 'Floor" is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue
Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Max[0; Calculation Amount X (IP — Final Performance)]; or

(I if 'Floor' is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms,
the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Max (IP — Final Performance; FP); or

(2)  if'Settlement Type'is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by (1) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf
of) the Entitlement on the Delivery Date in accordance with
General Condition 6.2 and (Il) payment of the Residual Cash
Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date.

2.3 Twin Win Product Definitions

The following terms and expressions shall have the following meanings in respect of Products
for which the Payout Style is specified to be "Twin Win Products' in the Issue Terms:

"American Barrier Twin Win Product" means Products in respect of which the Twin Win
Product Style is specified in the Issue Terms as either 'American Barrier (Bullish)' or 'American
Barrier (Bearish)".

"Autocall Coupon Amount" means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, the amount
specified as such in the Issue Terms.
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"Autocall Event" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date (and an Autocall Event
shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of such Autocall Observation Date if), one of the

following as s

pecified in the Issue Terms:

(@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (i) or (ii) below (as specified

in the |

(i)

(i)

ssue Terms):

the Autocall Fixing Level of the Underlying in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date is either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue
Terms) the Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date;
or

the Autocall Fixing Level of the Underlying in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date is either (i) below or (ii) at or below (as specified in the Issue
Terms) the Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date;
or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, any of (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) below
(as specified in the Issue Terms):

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the Autocall Fixing Basket Level on such Autocall Observation Date is either (i)
above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Autocall Trigger
Basket Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date; or

the Autocall Fixing Basket Level on such Autocall Observation Date is either (i)
below or (ii) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Autocall Trigger
Basket Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date; or

the Autocall Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Autocall Observation Date
are either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date;
or

the Autocall Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Autocall Observation Date
are either (i) below or (ii) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date.

"Autocall Fixing Basket Level" means an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
Z NUC; x Autocall Fixing Level;

i=1

Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:

"Autocall Fixing Leveli" means the Autocall Fixing Level of Underlying

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the

basket;

"NUCi

n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;

" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.
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"Autocall Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, one of the following (as
applicable):

(a) inrespect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the Underlying
Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings either:

M where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified as 'Common Adjustment’ in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i)  where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified as 'Individual Adjustment’ in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Autocall Fixing Level” means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date.

"Autocall Redemption Amount™ means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, either (a)
the amount specified as such in the Issue Terms or (b) if 'Fixed Autocall Redemption Amount
plus Autocall Coupon Amount' is specified in the Issue Terms, an amount determined by the
Calculation Agent as being equal to the sum of the Fixed Autocall Redemption Amount in
respect of such Autocall Redemption Date and the Autocall Coupon Amount in respect of such
Autocall Redemption Date.

"Autocall Redemption Date" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date on which an
Autocall Event has occurred, one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(a)  the date specified as an 'Autocall Redemption Date' in the Issue Terms that falls
immediately after such Autocall Observation Date; or

(b)  if an Autocall Redemption Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the
column entitled 'Autocall Redemption Date(s)' in the row corresponding to such Autocall
Observation Date,

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Redemption Table" the table specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Trigger Basket Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date and a
basket of Underlyings, an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of
such Underlyings as specified in respect of such Autocall Observation Date in the Issue Terms,
and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent
shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial
Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage
specified in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Trigger Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date and an
Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying
as specified in respect of such Autocall Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
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Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified

in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Basket Level" means, in respect of a basket of Underlyings, an amount equal to the
percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such Underlyings as specified in the Issue
Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation
Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Event" means (and a Barrier Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), one of the
following (as applicable):

@) in respect of European Barrier Twin Win Products, one of the following (as specified in
the Issue Terms):

(i)

(i)

in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (A) or (B) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(A)

(B)

the Final Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (I) below or (I1) at or
below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level; or

the Final Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (I) above or (II) at or
above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level; or

in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, any of (A), (B), (C) or
(D) below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A)

(B)

©

(D)

the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (I) below or (Il) at or below (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level; or

the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (1) above or (Il) at or above (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level; or

the Final Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (I) below or
(1) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Barrier
Level; or

the Final Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (I) above or
(1) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Barrier
Level; or

(b)  in respect of American Barrier Twin Win Products, one of the following as specified in
the Issue Terms:

(i)

(i)

in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (A) or (B) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(A)

(B)

the Barrier Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (1) below or (1) at
or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level on any
Barrier Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

the Barrier Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (1) above or (1) at or
above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level on any Barrier
Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, any of (A), (B), (C) or
(D) below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A)

the Barrier Fixing Basket Level is either (I) below or (1) at or below (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level on any Barrier
Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or
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(B) the Barrier Fixing Basket Level is either (1) above or (1) at or above (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level on any Barrier
Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

(© the Barrier Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (I) below or
(1) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Barrier
Level on any Barrier Observation Date for such Underlying falling in the
Barrier Observation Period; or

(D) the Barrier Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (1) above or
(11) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Barrier
Level on any Barrier Observation Date for such Underlying falling in the
Barrier Observation Period.

"Barrier Fixing Basket Level" means, an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
z NUC; x Barrier Fixing Level;
i=1

Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:
"Barrier Fixing Leveli" means the Barrier Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"I'" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Fixing Level" means, in respect a Barrier Observation Date and an Underlying, the
Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, each Underlying Trading Day
falling in the relevant Barrier Observation Period.

"Barrier Observation Period" means the period specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Best Performing Underlying" means the Underlying with the highest Underlying
Performance, provided that if two or more Underlyings have the same highest Underlying
Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine, in its discretion, which of such
Underlyings shall be deemed to be the Best Performing Underlying.

"Cap" shall be specified as 'Applicable’ or 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms.

"Conditional Coupon Amount" means, if ‘Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be
‘Applicable' in the Issue Terms, the amount determined in accordance with paragraphs 2.1(a)(i)
and 2.2(a)(i) of these Payout Conditions.

"Conditional Coupon Provisions" means the provisions of paragraph 2.1(a)(i) or 2.2(a)(i) of
these Payout Conditions, as applicable.
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"Coupon Amount" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Coupon Fixing Basket Level" means an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula;

n
Z NUC; x Coupon Fixing Level;

i=1
Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:
"Coupon Fixing Leveli" means the Coupon Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components” means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Fixing Level" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date.

"Coupon Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying and a Coupon Payment Date,
one of the following (as applicable):

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the
Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either:

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Common Adjustment' in respect of the Coupon Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Individual Adjustment' in respect of the Coupon Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Coupon Payment Date" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date, one of the following
as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@)  each date specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  ifaCoupon Payment Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the column
entitled 'Coupon Payment Date(s)’,

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Payment Table" means the table specified as such in the Issue Terms.
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"Coupon Rate" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, each percentage specified as such
in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the
Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Trigger Basket Level" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and a basket
of Underlyings, an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such
Underlyings as specified in respect of such Coupon Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if
such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Trigger Event" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date (and a Coupon
Trigger Event shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of such Coupon Observation Date
if), one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (i) or (ii) below (as specified
in the Issue Terms):

(i) the Coupon Fixing Level of the Underlying on such Coupon Observation Date is
either (A) above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon
Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(i) the Coupon Fixing Level of the Underlying on such Coupon Observation Date is
either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon
Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, any of (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) below
(as specified in the Issue Terms):

0] the Coupon Fixing Basket Level on such Coupon Observation Date is either (A)
above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon Trigger
Basket Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(i) the Coupon Fixing Basket Level on such Coupon Observation Date is either (A)
below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon Trigger
Basket Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(iif)  the Coupon Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Coupon Observation Date
are either (A) above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective Coupon Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(iv)  the Coupon Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Coupon Observation Date
are either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective Coupon Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date.

"Coupon Trigger Level" means in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and an Underlying,
each amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified
in respect of such Coupon Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is
specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its
discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject
to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue
Terms.

"CP" or "Cap Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if
such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.
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"Delivery Date" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout Conditions.
"Entitlement" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout Conditions.
"European Barrier Twin Win Product" means Products in respect of which the Twin Win
Product Style is specified in the Issue Terms as either 'European Barrier (Bullish)' or 'European
Barrier (Bearish)'.
"Final Fixing Basket Level" means, an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula;

n
Z NUC; X Final Fixing Level;

i=1
Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:

"Final Fixing Level;" means the Final Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components” means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Final Fixing Level (Best)" means the Final Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying
in respect of the Final Fixing Date.

"Final Fixing Level (Worst)" means the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing
Underlying in respect of the Final Fixing Date.

"Final Performance" means either paragraph (a) or (b) below (as applicable):

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, one of the following as specified in
the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the Issue Terms):

(i) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Intial Fixing Level For

(i)  a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Level
Strike Level * '

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, one of the following as specified
in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the Issue Terms):

(i) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level

Initial Fixing Basket Level
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(i)  a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level
Strike Basket Level

(iii) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)
Initial Fixing Level (Worst)

(iv)  percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following
formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)

Initial Fixing Level (Best)’ or

(v) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)
Strike Level (Worst)

(vi) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Strike Level (Best)

"Fixed Autocall Redemption Amount" means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, the
amount specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount™ means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, the
amount specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Coupon Payment Date.

"Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions" means the provisions of paragraph 2.1(a)(ii) or
2.2(a)(ii) of these Payout Conditions, as applicable.

"Floor" shall be specified as 'Applicable’ or ‘Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms.

"FP" or "Floor Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if
such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Initial Fixing Basket Level" means either (a) or (b) below (as applicable)

@) if 'Initial Fixing Basket Level' is specified to be 'Specified Amount' in the Issue Terms,
the amount specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  if 'Initial Fixing Basket Level' is specified to be 'Calculated Amount' in the Issue Terms,
an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

n
Z NUC; X Initial Fixing Level;

i=1
Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:

"Initial Fixing Leveli" means the Initial Fixing Level of Underlying
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i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "I; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Initial Fixing Level (Best)" means the Initial Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying.

"Initial Fixing Level (Worst)" means the Initial Fixing Level of the Worst Performing
Underlying.

"IP" or "Inverse Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and
if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Redemption Amount" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Residual Cash Amount" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Specified Coupon Amount™ means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@) if '‘Conditional Coupon Style' is specified as 'Specified Conditional Coupon' in the Issue
Terms, an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Coupon Rate; or

(b)  if 'Conditional Coupon Style' is specified as 'Memory Coupon' in the Issue Terms, an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

N
Calculation Amount x [ Z Coupon Rate;

i=n+1

Where the summation is taken across each Coupon Payment Date specified in the Issue
Terms and:

"Coupon Ratei" means the Coupon Rate in respect of Coupon Payment Date "i";
"i" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Coupon
Payment Date;

"n" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the last
Coupon Payment Date on which a Specified Coupon Amount was paid (if any)
preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, provided that if there are no
Coupon Payment Dates preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date prior to
the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, then "n" shall be zero.

"N" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this

definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the current
Relevant Coupon Observation Date.
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"Strike Basket Level" means, in respect of a basket of Underlyings, an amount equal to the
percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue
Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation
Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Strike Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms, , PROVIDED THAT if 'Predetermined Strike Level' is specified to be
'‘Applicable’ in respect of the Strike Level in the Issue Terms, notwithstanding that the Strike
Level is expressed as a percentage of the Initial Fixing Level in the Issue Terms, the Strike Level
was determined on a date prior to the date on which the Initial Fixing Level is determined.

"Strike Level (Best)" means the Strike Level of the Best Performing Underlying.
"Strike Level (Worst)" means the Strike Level of the Worst Performing Underlying.
"Strike Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Final Terms.

"Twin Win Event" means, (and a Twin Win Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), one
of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@  in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Final Fixing Level of the
Underlying is either (i) below or (ii) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the
Initial Fixing Level; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, any of (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv) below
(as specified in the Issue Terms):

(M the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified
in the Issue Terms) the Initial Fixing Basket Level;

(i) the Final Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (A) below or (B) at or
below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Initial Fixing Level,

(iif)  the Final Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying is either (A) below or
(B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Initial Fixing Level;
or

(iv)  the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing Underlying is either (A) below or
(B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Initial Fixing Level.

"Twin Win Product Style" means, in respect of the Products, one of the following as specified
in the Issue Terms: 'European Barrier (Bullish)', 'European Barrier (Bearish), 'American Barrier
(Bullish)' or 'American Barrier (Bearish)'.

"TWP" or "Twin Win Percentage™ means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Underlying Performance"” means, in respect of an Underlying, a percentage determined by
the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Initial Fixing Level

"Underlying Trading Day" means, in respect of an Underlying, as specified in the relevant
Underlying Specific Conditions.
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"Worst Performing Underlying” means the Underlying with the lowest Underlying
Performance, provided that if two or more Underlyings have the same lowest Underlying
Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine, in its discretion, which of such
Underlyings shall be deemed to be the Worst Performing Underlying.
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3.1

Fixed Redemption Products

This paragraph 3 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in respect of which the
Payout Style is specified to be 'Fixed Redemption ' in the Issue Terms.

Fixed Redemption Products Payout

(@)

(b)

(©

Coupon Amount

If '‘Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms no Coupon
Amounts will be payable in respect of the Products.

If 'Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, in respect of
each Coupon Payment Date and the Coupon Observation Date falling immediately prior
to such Coupon Payment Date, the Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product
on such Coupon Payment Date shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with paragraph (i) or (ii) below (as applicable):

(i) if a Coupon Trigger Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon Observation
Date, the Coupon Amount payable on such Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Specified Coupon Amount; or

(i) if a Coupon Trigger Event has not occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Coupon Amount payable on such Coupon Payment Date
shall be zero,

PROVIDED THAT, if an Autocall Event occurs in respect of any Autocall Observation
Date, the Coupon Amount (if any) payable on the Coupon Payment Date falling on the
relevant Autocall Redemption Date (or if no such date, the Coupon Payment Date falling
immediately prior to the relevant Autocall Redemption Date) shall be the final Coupon
Amount payable in respect of the Products.

Autocall Amount

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms and the
Calculation Agent determines that an Autocall Event has occurred in respect of an
Autocall Observation Date, then unless the Products have been previously redeemed or
purchased and cancelled, the Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Autocall
Redemption Date corresponding to the Autocall Observation Date on which the Autocall
Event occurred at the Autocall Redemption Amount.

Notwithstanding any other applicable provisions of the Payout Conditions, if the
Conditions specify that the final Autocall Redemption Date is scheduled to fall on the
same date as the Redemption Date, and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of the
Autocall Observation Date corresponding to such final Autocall Redemption Date, each
Product shall be redeemed on the Redemption Date (which is also the final Autocall
Redemption Date) at the Autocall Redemption Amount and no further amounts shall be
payable in respect of such Products.

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms, the
Autocall Provisions shall not apply to the Products.

Redemption Amount

Unless the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date at the Redemption Amount,
which shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation
Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X PP
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3.2

Fixed Redemption Products Definitions

The following terms and expressions shall have the following meanings in respect of Products
for which the Payout Style is specified to be 'Fixed Redemption Products' in the Issue Terms:

"Autocall Event" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date (and an Autocall Event
shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of such Autocall Observation Date if), one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@)  the Autocall Fixing Level of the Underlying in respect of such Autocall Observation
Date is either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Autocall
Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date; or

(b)  the Autocall Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Autocall Observation Date are
either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) their respective
Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date.

"Autocall Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, one of the following (as
applicable):

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the
Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings either:

0] where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified as '‘Common Adjustment' in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified as 'Individual Adjustment’ in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Autocall Fixing Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date.

"Autocall Redemption Amount™ means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, the
amount specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Redemption Date" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date on which an
Autocall Event has occurred, one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@)  the date specified as an 'Autocall Redemption Date' in the Issue Terms that falls
immediately after such Autocall Observation Date; or

(b)  if an Autocall Redemption Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the
column entitled 'Autocall Redemption Date(s)' in the row corresponding to such Autocall
Observation Date,

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Redemption Table" the table specified as such in the Issue Terms.
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"Autocall Trigger Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date and an
Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying
as specified in respect of such Autocall Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Amount" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Coupon Fixing Level" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date.

"Coupon Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying and a Coupon Payment Date,
one of the following (as applicable):

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the
Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either:

0] where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Common Adjustment’ in respect of the Coupon Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Individual Adjustment’ in respect of the Coupon Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Coupon Payment Date™ means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date, one of the following
as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@)  each date specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b) ifaCoupon Payment Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the column
entitled '‘Coupon Payment Date(s)’,

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Payment Table" means the table specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Rate" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, the percentage specified as such
in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the
Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.
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"Coupon Trigger Event" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date (and a Coupon
Trigger Event shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of such Coupon Observation Date
if), one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@)  the Coupon Fixing Level of the Underlying on such Coupon Observation Date is either
(i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon Trigger Level
in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(b)  the Coupon Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Coupon Observation Date are either
(i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) their respective Coupon
Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date.

"Coupon Trigger Level" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and an Underlying,
an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified in
respect of such Coupon Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified
to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion,
taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the
minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"PP" or "Protection Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms,
and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent
shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial
Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage
specified in the Issue Terms.

"Specified Coupon Amount™ means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@) if 'Coupon Style' is specified as 'Specified Conditional Coupon' in the Issue Terms, an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Coupon Rate; or

(b)  if 'Coupon Style' is specified as 'Memory Coupon' in the Issue Terms, an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

N
Calculation Amount X [ Z Coupon Rate;

i=n+1

Where the summation is taken across each Coupon Payment Date specified in the Issue
Terms and:

"Coupon Ratei" means the Coupon Rate in respect of Coupon Payment Date "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Coupon
Payment Date;

n" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the last
Coupon Payment Date on which a Specified Coupon Amount was paid (if any)
preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, provided that if there are no
Coupon Payment Dates preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date prior to
the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, then "n" shall be zero.

"N" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this

definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the current
Relevant Coupon Observation Date.
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4.1

Protection Products

This paragraph 4 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in respect of which the
Payout Style is specified to be 'Protection Products' in the Issue Terms.

Protection Products Payout

(@)

(b)

(©

Coupon Amount

If '‘Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms no Coupon
Amounts will be payable in respect of the Products.

If 'Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, in respect of
each Coupon Payment Date and the Coupon Observation Date falling immediately prior
to such Coupon Payment Date, the Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product
on such Coupon Payment Date shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with paragraph (i) or (ii) below (as applicable):

(i) if a Coupon Trigger Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon Observation
Date, the Coupon Amount payable on such Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Specified Coupon Amount; or

(i) if a Coupon Trigger Event has not occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Coupon Amount payable on such Coupon Payment Date
shall be zero,

PROVIDED THAT, if an Autocall Event occurs in respect of any Autocall Observation
Date, the Coupon Amount (if any) payable on the Coupon Payment Date falling on the
relevant Autocall Redemption Date (or if no such date, the Coupon Payment Date falling
immediately prior to the relevant Autocall Redemption Date) shall be the final Coupon
Amount payable in respect of the Products.

Autocall Amount

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms and the
Calculation Agent determines that an Autocall Event has occurred in respect of an
Autocall Observation Date, then unless the Products have been previously redeemed or
purchased and cancelled, the Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Autocall
Redemption Date corresponding to the Autocall Observation Date on which the Autocall
Event occurred at the Autocall Redemption Amount.

Notwithstanding any other applicable provisions of the Payout Conditions, if the
Conditions specify that the final Autocall Redemption Date is scheduled to fall on the
same date as the Redemption Date, and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of the
Autocall Observation Date corresponding to such final Autocall Redemption Date, each
Product shall be redeemed on the Redemption Date (which is also the final Autocall
Redemption Date) at the Autocall Redemption Amount and no further amounts shall be
payable in respect of such Products.

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms, the
Autocall Provisions shall not apply to the Products.

Redemption Amount

Unless the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product at the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in
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accordance with the applicable Protection Product Style and paragraph (i), (ii), (iii), (iv)
or (v) below (as applicable).

(i)

(i)

Protection with Barrier Payout

This paragraph 4.1(c)(i) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which 'Protection Product Style' is specified to be 'Protection with
Barrier' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount x CPP

(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

(CA X CPP) + (CA x PP x Final Return)
Protection with Twin Win Payout

This paragraph 4.1(c)(ii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which 'Protection Product Style' is specified to be 'Protection with Twin
Win' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred and:

(1) if a Twin Win Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount
shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

(CA X CPP) + (CA % Final Return (Inverse)); or

(2)  ifa Twin Win Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

(CA x CPP) + (CA X Final Return)
(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred and:

(1) if 'Rebate’ is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the
Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement
Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

Calculation Amount x (CPP + RCP); or

(2)  if 'Rebate’ is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms,
the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement
Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:
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(iii)

(iv)

Calculation Amount x CPP
Protection with Twin Win and Low Strike Payout

This paragraph 4.1(c)(iii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which 'Protection Product Style' is specified to be 'Protection with Twin
Win and Low Strike' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred and:

(1) if a Twin Win Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount
shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

CA X Final Return (Inverse); or

(2) if a Twin Win Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

CA X Final Performance
(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred and:

(1)  if 'Rebate’ is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the
Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement
Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

Calculation Amount x (CPP + RCP); or

(2) if 'Rebate’ is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms,
the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement
Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

Calculation Amount x CPP
Protection with Barrier and Strike Event Payout

This paragraph 4.1(c)(iv) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which 'Protection Product Style' is specified to be 'Protection with
Barrier and Strike Event' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred and:

(1) if a Strike Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X CPP; or
(2)  if a Strike Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be

an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:
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v)

(CA x CPP) + (CA x PP X Final Return)

(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred and:

o))

O]

if 'Rebate’ is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the
Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement

Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X (CPP + RCP); or

if 'Rebate' is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms,

the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement

Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance

with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X CPP

Protection without Barrier Payout

This paragraph 4.1(c)(v) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which 'Protection Product Style' is specified to be 'Protection without
Barrier' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as

applicable):

(A) if a Strike Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with (1), (2), (3) or (4) below as applicable:

1)

)

®3)

(4)

if 'Cap' and 'Floor" are specified to be 'Not Applicable’ in the
Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

(Calculation Amount X CCP); or

if 'Cap' is specified to be 'Applicable’ and 'Floor" is specified to
be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount
shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by
the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following
formula:

Min[(Calculation Amount x CPP); CP]; or

if 'Cap' is specified to be 'Not Applicable' and Floor' is specified
to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount
shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by
the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following
formula:

Max[(Calculation Amount x CPP); FP]; or

if both 'Cap' and 'Floor' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the
Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

Max{Min[(Calculation Amount x CPP)]; CP; FP}
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(B) if a Strike Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with (1), (2), (3) or (4) below (as applicable):

(1) if 'Cap' and 'Floor' are specified to be 'Not Applicable’ in the
Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

(CA x CPP) 4+ (CA x PP x Final Return)

(2)  if 'Cap' is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the
Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement
Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

Min{[(CA x CPP) + (CA x PP X Final Return)]; CP}; or

(3)  if 'Floor'is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the
Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement
Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

Max{[(CA x CPP) + (CA X PP X Final Return)]; FP}; or

(4) if both 'Cap' and 'Floor' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the
Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

Max{Min[(CA x CPP) + (CA x PP x Final Return)]; CP; FP}
4.2 Protection Product Definitions

The following terms and expressions shall have the following meanings in respect of Products
for which the Payout Style is specified to be 'Protection Products' in the Issue Terms:

"Autocall Event" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date (and an Autocall Event
shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of such Autocall Observation Date if), one of the
following (as applicable):

@) if 'Product Direction' is specified as '‘Bullish' in the Issue Terms, either (i) or (ii) below
(as specified in the Issue Terms):

(i) the Autocall Fixing Level of the Underlying in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date is either (A) above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue
Terms) the Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date;
or

(if)  the Autocall Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Autocall Observation Date
are either (A) above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date;
or

(b)  if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Bearish' in the Issue Terms, either (i) or (ii) below
(as specified in the Issue Terms):

Q) the Autocall Fixing Level of the Underlying in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date is either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue
Terms) the Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date;
or
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(i) the Autocall Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Autocall Observation Date
are either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date.

"Autocall Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, one of the following (as
applicable):

(@  in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the
Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings either:

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified as 'Common Adjustment' in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified as 'Individual Adjustment' in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Autocall Fixing Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date.

"Autocall Redemption Amount™ means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, the
amount specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Redemption Date" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date on which an
Autocall Event has occurred, one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(a) the date specified as an 'Autocall Redemption Date' in the Issue Terms that falls
immediately after such Autocall Observation Date; or

(b)  if an Autocall Redemption Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the
column entitled 'Autocall Redemption Date(s)' in the row corresponding to such Autocall
Observation Date,

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Redemption Table" the table specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Trigger Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date and an
Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying
as specified in respect of such Autocall Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Basket Level" means in respect of a basket of Underlyings, an amount equal to the
percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such Underlyings as specified as such in the
Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the
Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
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conditions on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Event" means (and a Barrier Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), either (a) or
(b) below (as applicable):

@) if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Bullish' in the Issue Terms (and Product is not a
Protection with Twin Win Product), either (i) or (ii) below (as applicable):

M in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (A) or (B) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Final Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (I) above or (lI) at
or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level; or

(B) the Barrier Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (I) above or (1)
at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level on any
Barrier Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period;
or

(i) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (A), (B), (C) or
(D) below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (1) above or (I) at or above
(as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level; or

(B) the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing Underlying is either
(1) above or (Il) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its
respective Barrier Level; or

(C) the Barrier Fixing Basket Level is either (1) above or (1) at or above
the Barrier Basket Level on any Barrier Observation Date falling in
the Barrier Observation Period; or

(D) the Barrier Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (1) above
or (I1) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective
Barrier Level on any Barrier Observation Date for such Underlying
falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

(b) if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Bearish' in the Issue Terms or if Product is a
Protection with Twin Win Product, either (i) or (ii) below (as applicable):

0] in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (A) or (B) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Final Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (1) below or (1) at
or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level; or

(B) the Barrier Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (I) below or (I1)
at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level on any
Barrier Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period;
or

(i) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (A), (B), (C) or
(D) below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (I) below or (1) at or below
(as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level; or

(B) the Final Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying is either

(1) below or (I1) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its
respective Barrier Level; or
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(©)

(D)

the Barrier Fixing Basket Level is either (1) below or (1) at or below
the Barrier Basket Level on any Barrier Observation Date falling in
the Barrier Observation Period; or

the Barrier Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (I) below
or (I) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective
Barrier Level on any Barrier Observation Date for such Underlying
falling in the Barrier Observation Period.

(c) if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Absolute’ in the Issue Terms either (i) or (ii) below
(as applicable):

(i)

(i)

in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (A) or (B) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(A)

(B)

the Final Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (1) (y) below the
Lower Barrier Level or (z) at or below the Lower Barrier Level, or
(1) (y) above the Upper Barrier Level or (z) at or above (as specified
in the Issue Terms) the Upper Barrier Level; or

the Barrier Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (1) (y) below the
Lower Barrier Level or (z) at or below the Lower Barrier Level, or
(1) (y) above the Upper Barrier Level or (z) at or above (as specified
in the Issue Terms) the Upper Barrier Level on any Barrier
Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, any of (A), (B) or (C)
below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A)

(B)

(©)

the Final Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying is either
() (y) below its respective Lower Barrier Level or (z) at or below its
respective Lower Barrier Level, or (I1) (y) above its respective Upper
Barrier Level or (z) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its
respective Upper Barrier Level; or

the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing Underlying is either
(1) (y) below its respective Lower Barrier Level or (z) at or below its
respective Lower Barrier Level, or (I1) (y) above its respective Upper
Barrier Level or (z) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its
respective Upper Barrier Level; or

the Barrier Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (1) (y)
below its respective Lower Barrier Level or (z) at or below its
respective Lower Barrier Level, or (1) (y) above its respective Upper
Barrier Level or (z) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its
respective Upper Barrier Level on any Barrier Observation Date for
such Underlying falling in the Barrier Observation Period.

"Barrier Fixing Basket Level" means, an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
Z NUC; x Barrier Fixing Level;

i=1

Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:

"Barrier Fixing Leveli" means the Barrier Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the

basket;
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n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;

"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"'; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Fixing Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, the Level of such Underlying
specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, each Underlying Trading Day
falling in the relevant Barrier Observation Period.

"Barrier Observation Period" means the period specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Bearish Final Basket Return™ means the aggregate of the weighted final return of each
Underlying in respect of Products for which 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Bearish' in the
Issue Terms, which shall be the amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

- Final Fixing Level;
ZNUCix<IP— ——— )
- Initial Fixing Level;
i=

Where:
"Final Fixing Leveli" means the Final Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"Initial Fixing Level;" means the Initial Fixing Level of Underlying "i";
"IP" means Inverse Percentage;

"NUC" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i";
and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the
number, percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Bearish Final Basket Return (Strike)" means the aggregate of the weighted final return of
each Underlying in respect of Products for which 'Product Direction' is specified as '‘Bearish' in
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the Issue Terms, which shall be the amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

. NUC (IP Final Fixing Leveli)
. X —

Z - ! Strike Level;

i=

Where:
"Final Fixing Leveli" means the Final Fixing Level of Underlying "i";
"i" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"IP" means Inverse Percentage;
"NUC;i" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i";

"Number of Underlying Components” means, in respect of an Underlying, the
number, percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms; and

"Strike Leveli" means the Strike Level of Underlying "i".

"Best Performing Underlying” means the Underlying with the highest Underlying
Performance, provided that if two or more Underlyings have the same highest Underlying
Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine, in its discretion, which of such
Underlyings shall be deemed to be the Best Performing Underlying.

"CA" means Calculation Amount.
"Cap" shall be specified as ‘Applicable’ or ‘Not Applicable’ in the Issue Terms.

"CP" or "Cap Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if
such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Amount" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Coupon Fixing Level" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date.

"Coupon Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying and a Coupon Payment Date,
one of the following (as applicable):

@ in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the
Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either:

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be '‘Common Adjustment' in respect of the Coupon Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i)  where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Individual Adjustment' in respect of the Coupon Observation

136



Payout Conditions

Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Coupon Payment Date" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date, one of the following
as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@)  each date specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  ifaCoupon Payment Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the column
entitled 'Coupon Payment Date(s)’,

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Payment Table" means the table specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Rate" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, the percentage specified as such
in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the
Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Trigger Event" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date (and a Coupon
Trigger Event shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of such Coupon Observation Date
if), either (2) or (b) below (as applicable):

@) if 'Product Direction' is specified as '‘Bullish' in the Issue Terms, either (i) or (ii) below
(as applicable):

(i) the Coupon Fixing Level of the Underlying on such Coupon Observation Date is
either (A) above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon
Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(i)  the Coupon Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Coupon Observation Date
are either (A) above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective Coupon Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(b)  if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Bearish' in the Issue Terms, either (i) or (ii) below
(as applicable):

0] the Coupon Fixing Level of the Underlying on such Coupon Observation Date is
either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon
Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date; or

(i) the Coupon Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Coupon Observation Date
are either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective Coupon Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon Observation Date.

"Coupon Trigger Level" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and an Underlying,
an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified in
respect of such Coupon Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified
to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion,
taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the
minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"CPP" or "Protection Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms,
and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent
shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial
Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage
specified in the Issue Terms.
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"Final Basket Return™ means the aggregate of the weighted final return of each Underlying,
which shall be the amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following
formula:

. Final Fixing Level;
Z NUC; x ( — — — Strike Percentage)
L Initial Fixing Level;

i=

Where:
"Final Fixing Leveli" means the Final Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"Initial Fixing Leveli" means the Initial Fixing Level of Underlying "i";
"NUC;i" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i";

"Number of Underlying Components” means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms; and

"Strike Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if
such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent
shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the maximum percentage and, if applicable, the minimum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Final Basket Return (Strike)" means the aggregate of the weighted final return of each
Underlying, which shall be the amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

N

Z NUC (Final Fixing Level; Strike P X )
. X —
! Strike Level; rike rercentage

i=1
Where:
"Final Fixing Level;" means the Final Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i";

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms; and

"Strike Leveli" means the Strike Level of Underlying "i";

"Strike Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if
such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent
shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the maximum percentage and, if applicable, the minimum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Final Fixing Basket Level" means, an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
Z NUC; x Final Fixing Level;

i=1
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Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:
"Final Fixing Leveli" means the Final Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;

"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Final Fixing Level (Best)" means the Final Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying
in respect of the Final Fixing Date.

"Final Fixing Level (Worst)" means the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing
Underlying in respect of the Final Fixing Date.

"Final Performance" means either (a), (b), (c) or (d) below (as applicable):

(@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, a percentage calculated by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Initial Fixing Level $or

(b) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, a percentage calculated by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level

Initial Fixing Basket Level

(c) in respect of Products linked to a Worst Performing Underlying, a percentage calculated
by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)
Initial Fixing Level (Worst)’ or

(d) in respect of Products linked to a Best Performing Underlying, a percentage calculated by
the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)

Initial Fixing Level (Best)
"Final Return" means one of the following (as applicable):

@ if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Bullish' in the Issue Terms or if Product is a
Protection with Twin Win Product in the Issue Terms, either (i) or (ii) (as applicable):

Q) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (A), (B) or (C) below
(as specified in the Issue Terms by replicating the relevant formula in the Issue
Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level — Intial Fixing Level)
; or

Initial Fixing Level
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(i)

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level — Strike Level)
;or

Initial Fixing Level

© a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level — Strike Level)
Strike Level For

in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (A), (B), (C), (D)
or (E) below (as specified in the Issue Terms by replicating the relevant formula
or text in the Issue Terms):

(A) percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level (Worst) — Initial Fixing Level (Worst))
Initial Fixing Level (Worst) For

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level (Worst) — Strike Level (Worst))
Initial Fixing Level (Worst) ’

© a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level (Worst) — Strike Level (Worst)) _
Strike Level (Worst) ot

(D) the Final Basket Return; or

(E) the Final Basket Return (Strike).

(b)  if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Bearish' in the Issue Terms and if Product is not a
Protection with Twin Win Product, either (i) or (ii) below (as applicable):

(i)

in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (A) or (B) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms by replicating the relevant formula in the Issue
Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

* Initial Fixing Level’ or

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level
Strike Level

’
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(i)

in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (A), (B), (C) or
(D) below (as specified in the Issue Terms by replicating the relevant formula or
text in the Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with

the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Initial Fixing Level (Best)’ or

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with

the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Strike Level (Best) ot

© Bearish Final Basket Return; or

(D) Bearish Final Basket Return (Strike).

(c) if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Absolute’ in the Issue Terms either (i) or (ii) below
(as applicable):

(i)

(ii)

in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, either (A), (B) or (C) below
(as specified in the Issue Terms by replicating the relevant formula in the Issue
Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with

the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level — Intial Fixing Level)
;or

Initial Fixing Level

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with

the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level — Strike Level)
;or

Initial Fixing Level

© a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with

the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level — Strike Level)
Strike Level o

in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (A), (B), (C),
(D), (E), (F), (G) or (H) below (as specified in the Issue Terms by replicating
the relevant formula or text in the Issue Terms):

(A) percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level (Worst) — Initial Fixing Level (Worst))
;or

)

Initial Fixing Level (Worst)

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level (Worst) — Strike Level (Worst)) _

’

Initial Fixing Level (Worst)
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(© a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level (Worst) — Strike Level (Worst)) _
Strike Level (Worst) o

(D) percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level (Best) — Initial Fixing Level (Best))

Initial Fixing Level (Best) o
(B) percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:
(Final Fixing Level (Best) — Strike Level (Best)) _
Initial Fixing Level (Best) ’
(P percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with

the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level (Best) — Strike Level (Best)) _
Strike Level (Best) o

(G) the Final Basket Return; or
H) the Final Basket Return (Strike),

PROVIDED THAT, in each case, if Final Return Cap is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the
Issue Terms and the percentage determined in accordance with (a), (b) or (c) (as applicable) of
this definition of Final Return would be greater than the Final Return Cap Percentage, the Final
Return will be deemed to be equal to the Final Return Cap Percentage.

"Final Return (Inverse)" means one of the following (as applicable):

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, a percentage determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

~ Initial Fixing Level

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, a percentage determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

- Final Fixing Level;
Z NUC; x (IP - [ )
i=1

Initial Fixing Level;

Where:

"Final Fixing Leveli" means the Final Fixing Level of Underlying

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Underlying
in the basket;

"Initial Fixing Level;" means the Initial Fixing Level of Underlying "i";
"IP" means Inverse Percentage;

"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying

i"; and
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"Number of Underlying Components™ means, in respect of an Underlying, the
number, percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Final Return Cap" will be specified as either 'Applicable’ or 'Not Applicable' in the Issue
Terms.

"Final Return Cap Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms,
and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent
shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial
Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage
specified in the Issue Terms.

"Floor" shall be specified as 'Applicable’ or 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms.

"FP" or "Floor Percentage™ means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if
such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Initial Fixing Basket Level" means either (a) or (b) below (as applicable)

@) if 'Initial Fixing Basket Level' is specified to be 'Specified Amount' in the Issue Terms,
the amount specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  if 'Initial Fixing Basket Level' is specified to be '‘Calculated Amount' in the Issue Terms,
an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:
n
z NUC; X Initial Fixing Level;
i=1
Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:

"Initial Fixing Leveli" means the Initial Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"I'" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Initial Fixing Level (Best)" means the Initial Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying.

"Initial Fixing Level (Worst)" means the Initial Fixing Level of the Worst Performing
Underlying.

"IP" or "Inverse Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and
if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Lower Barrier Level" means the lower barrier level as specified in the relevant Issue Terms

"PP" or "Participation Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms,
and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent
shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial
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Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage
specified in the Issue Terms.

"Product Direction™ means, in respect of the Products, one of the following as specified in the
relevant Issue Terms: '‘Bullish’, '‘Bearish' or 'Absolute'.

"Protection Product Style" means, in respect of the Products, one of the following as specified
in the Issue Terms: 'Protection with Barrier', 'Protection with Twin Win', 'Protection with Twin
Win and Low Strike', 'Protection with Barrier and Strike Event' or 'Protection without Barrier'.

"Protection with Twin Win Product" means each Product in respect of which 'Protection
Product Style' is specified to be either 'Protection with Twin Win' or 'Protection with Twin Win
and Low Strike' in the Issue Terms.

"RCP" or "Rebate Coupon Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue
Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation
Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Specified Coupon Amount" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@) if '‘Coupon Style' is specified as 'Specified Conditional Coupon' in the Issue Terms, an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Coupon Rate; or

(b)  if 'Coupon Style' is specified as 'Memory Coupon' in the Issue Terms, an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

N

Calculation Amount x [ Z Coupon Rate;

i=n+1

Where the summation is taken across each Coupon Payment Date specified in the Issue
Terms and:

"Coupon Ratei" means the Coupon Rate in respect of Coupon Payment Date "i";

"iI'" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Coupon
Payment Date;

"n" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the last
Coupon Payment Date on which a Specified Coupon Amount was paid (if any)
preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, provided that if there are no
Coupon Payment Dates preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date prior to
the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, then "n" shall be zero.

"N" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the current
Relevant Coupon Observation Date.

"Strike Barrier Amount" means the amount specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
amount is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine
in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date,
subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the
Issue Terms.
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"Strike Barrier Basket Level" means, in respect of a basket of Underlyings, an amount equal
to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such Underlying as specified in the Issue
Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation
Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Strike Barrier Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage
of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Strike Event" means (and a Strike Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), one of the
following (as applicable):

@) if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Bullish' in the Issue Terms, either (i) or (ii) (as
applicable):

(i) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Final Fixing Level of the
Underlying is either (A) above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms)
its Strike Barrier Level; or

(i) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (A), (B) or (C)
below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (1) above or (1) at or above (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Strike Barrier Basket Level;

(B) the Final Basket Return is either (1) above or (1) at or above (as specified
in the Issue Terms) the Strike Barrier Amount; or

© the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing Underlying is either (1)
above or (1) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its Strike
Barrier Level; or

(b) if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Bearish' in the Issue Terms, either (i) or (ii) (as
applicable):

(M in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Final Fixing Level of the
Underlying is either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms)
its Strike Barrier Level; or

(i) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (A), (B) or (C)
below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (1) below or (1) at or below (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Strike Barrier Basket Level;

(B) the Final Basket Return is either (I) below or (1) at or below (as specified
in the Issue Terms) the Strike Barrier Amount; or

© the Final Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying is either (1)
below or (1) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its Strike
Barrier Level.

"Strike Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
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in the Issue Terms, PROVIDED THAT if 'Predetermined Strike Level' is specified to be
‘Applicable’ in respect of the Strike Level in the Issue Terms, notwithstanding that the Strike
Level is expressed as a percentage of the Initial Fixing Level in the Issue Terms, the Strike Level
was determined on a date prior to the date on which the Initial Fixing Level is determined.

"Strike Level (Best)" means the Strike Level of the Best Performing Underlying.
"Strike Level (Worst)" means the Strike Level of the Worst Performing Underlying.

"Twin Win Event" means, (and a Twin Win Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), one
of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@  in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Final Fixing Level of the
Underlying is either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the
Initial Fixing Level;

(b)  in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, the Final Fixing Basket Level
is either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Initial Fixing
Basket Level;

(c) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, the Final Fixing Level of the
Worst Performing Underlying is either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the
Issue Terms) the Initial Fixing Level of the Worst Performing Underlying; or

(d) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, the Final Fixing Level of the
Best Performing Underlying is either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the
Issue Terms) the Initial Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying.

"Upper Barrier Level” means the upper barrier level as specified in the relevant Issue Terms.

"Underlying Performance” means, in respect of an Underlying, a percentage determined by
the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Initial Fixing Level

"Underlying Trading Day" means, in respect of an Underlying, as specified in the relevant
Underlying Specific Conditions.

"Worst Performing Underlying” means the Underlying with the lowest Underlying
Performance, provided that if two or more Underlyings have the same lowest Underlying
Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine, in its discretion, which of such
Underlyings shall be deemed to be the Worst Performing Underlying.
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5.1

Bonus Products

This paragraph 5 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in respect of which the
Payout Style is specified to be 'Bonus Products' in the Issue Terms.

Bonus Products Payout

(@)

Coupon Amount

If '‘Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms no Coupon
Amounts will be payable in respect of the Products.

If 'Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms the Coupon
Amount payable in respect of each Product on each Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Conditional Coupon Amount (if any) and/or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount
pursuant to, respectively, paragraph (i) or (ii) below, as applicable, PROVIDED THAT
if 'Multiple Coupon Sets' is specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, there shall be
more than one Set of Coupon Payment Dates and either the Conditional Coupon
Provisions (paragraph (i) below) or the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions
(paragraph (ii) below) shall apply to each Set of Coupon Payment Dates (as specified in
the Issue Terms):

0] Conditional Coupon

If 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date and the Coupon Observation
Date falling immediately prior to such Coupon Payment Date, the Conditional
Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment
Date shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with paragraph
(A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Coupon Trigger Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be the Specified Coupon Amount; or

(B) if a Coupon Trigger Event has not occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be zero.

If 'Multiple Coupon Sets' is specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, these
Conditional Coupon Provisions shall apply separately to each Set of Coupon
Payment Dates in respect of which ‘Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified
to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, and each reference to 'in respect of each
Coupon Payment Date' in the Conditional Coupon Provisions (including in
respect of each of the definitions required for the Conditional Coupon Provisions)
shall be deemed to be a reference to 'in respect of each Coupon Payment Date in
the relevant Set of Coupon Payment Dates'.

(i)  Fixed Unconditional Coupon

If 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the
Issue Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date, the Coupon Amount
payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment Date shall be the
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount.

If 'Multiple Coupon Sets' is specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, these
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions shall apply separately to each Set of
Coupon Payment Dates in respect of which 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon
Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, and each reference
to 'in respect of each Coupon Payment Date' in the Fixed Unconditional Coupon
Provisions (including in respect of each of the definitions required for such Fixed
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(b)

(©

Unconditional Coupon Provisions) shall be deemed to be a reference to 'in respect
of each Coupon Payment Date in the relevant Set of Coupon Payment Dates'".

Autocall Amount

Not applicable — the Autocall Provisions do not apply to Products in respect of which the
Payout Style is specified to be '‘Bonus Products' in the Issue Terms.

Redemption Amount

Unless the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product in accordance with the relevant Bonus Product Style
and paragraph (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v), (vi), (vii), (viii) or (ix) below (as applicable):

(i)

European Barrier

This paragraph 5.1(c)(i) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Bonus Product Style is specified as 'European Barrier' in the
Issue Terms. In respect of such Products the Issuer shall redeem each Product in
accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A)

(B)

if a Barrier Event has not occurred the Issuer shall redeem each Product
by payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in
accordance with (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

@

)

if a Bonus Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Bonus Percentage; or

if a Bonus Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
an amount determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance (Upside),

PROVIDED THAT, if Upside Cap is specified to be 'Applicable’
in the Issue Terms and the Final Performance (Upside) (as
determined by the Calculation Agent) is greater than the Upside
Cap Percentage, for the purposes of this Payout Condition
5.1(c)()(A)(2) only, the Final Performance (Upside) shall be
deemed to be equal to the Upside Cap Percentage; or

if a Barrier Event has occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product in
accordance with either paragraph (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

M

if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the
Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of
the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which shall be
an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Max [0; Final Performance (Downside)]; or

O]

if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by (1) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf
of) the Entitlement on the Delivery Date in accordance with
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(i)

(iii)

General Condition 6.2 and (2) payment of the Residual Cash
Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date.

European Barrier with Upside Participation

This paragraph 5.1(c)(ii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Bonus Product Style is specified as 'European Barrier with
Upside Participation' in the Issue Terms. In respect of such Products the Issuer
shall redeem each Product in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product
by payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in
accordance with (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

(1) ifaBonus Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Bonus Percentage; or

(2) if a Bonus Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

(CA x BP) + (CA x UPP x (Final Performance (Upside) — BP))

PROVIDED THAT, if Upside Cap is specified to be 'Applicable’
in the Issue Terms and the Final Performance (Upside) (as
determined by the Calculation Agent) is greater than the Upside
Cap Percentage, for the purposes of this Payout Condition
5.1(c)(ii)(A)(2) only, the Final Performance (Upside) shall be
deemed to be equal to the Upside Cap Percentage; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product in
accordance with either paragraph (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

(1) if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the
Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of
the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which shall be
an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Max [0; Final Performance (Downside)]; or

(2)  if'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by (1) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf
of) the Entitlement on the Delivery Date in accordance with
General Condition 6.2 and (2) payment of the Residual Cash
Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date.

European Barrier with Downside Participation

This paragraph 5.1(c)(iii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Bonus Product Style is specified as 'European Barrier with
Downside Participation' in the Issue Terms. In respect of such Products, the
Settlement Type shall be 'Cash Settlement' and the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in
accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred and:
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(iv)

v)

(1) a Bonus Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Bonus Percentage; or

(2)  aBonus Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation
Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance (Upside),

PROVIDED THAT, if Upside Cap is specified to be 'Applicable’
in the Issue Terms and the Final Performance (Upside) (as
determined by the Calculation Agent) is greater than the Upside
Cap Percentage, for the purposes of this Payout Condition
5.1(c)(iii)(A)(2) only, the Final Performance (Upside) shall be
deemed to be equal to the Upside Cap Percentage; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent
in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount x Max [0; 1 4+ (DPP X (Final Performance (Downside) — 1))]
European Barrier with Bonus Cap

This paragraph 5.1(c)(iv) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Bonus Product Style is specified as 'European Barrier with
Bonus Cap' in the Issue Terms. In respect of such Products the Issuer shall redeem
each Product in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred the Issuer shall redeem each Product
by payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which
shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Bonus Percentage; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product in
accordance with either paragraph (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

(1)  if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the
Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of
the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which shall be
an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount x Max [0; Final Performance (Downside)]; or

(2)  if'Settlement Type'is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by (1) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf
of) the Entitlement on the Delivery Date in accordance with
General Condition 6.2 and (2) payment of the Residual Cash
Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date.

American Barrier with Upside Participation and Normal Performance
Participation

This paragraph 5.1(c)(v) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Bonus Product Style is specified as 'American Barrier with
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Upside Participation and Normal Performance Participation' in the Issue Terms.
In respect of such Products the Issuer shall redeem each Product in accordance
with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred the Issuer shall redeem each Product
by payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in
accordance with (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

1)

)

if a Bonus Event has not occurred, an amount determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Bonus Percentage; or

if a Bonus Event has occurred, an amount determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

(CA x BP) + (CA x OPP x (Final Performance (Upside) — BP),

PROVIDED THAT, if Outperformance Upside Cap is specified to
be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms and the Final Performance
(Upside) (as determined by the Calculation Agent) is greater than
the Outperformance Upside Cap Percentage, for the purposes of
this Payout Condition 5.1(c)(v)(A)(2) only, the Final Performance
(Upside) shall be deemed to be equal to the Outperformance Upside
Cap Percentage; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred and:

)

if a Bonus Event has not occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product in accordance with either paragraph (a) or (b) below (as
applicable):

(@)  if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in
the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by
payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption
Date, which shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency
determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Max [0; Final Performance (Downside)]; or

@

(b) if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Delivery and
Residual Cash Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer
shall redeem each Product by (x) delivery of (or procuring
the delivery on its behalf of) the Entitlement on the
Delivery Date in accordance with General Condition 6.2
and (y) payment of the Residual Cash Amount (if any) on
the Delivery Date; or

if a Bonus Event has occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on the
Redemption Date which shall be an amount in the Settlement
Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

(CA x BP) + (CA x NPP x (Final Performance — BP),

PROVIDED THAT, if Normal Performance Upside Cap is
specified to be 'Applicable' in the Issue Terms and the Final
Performance (as determined by the Calculation Agent) is greater
than the Normal Performance Upside Cap Percentage, for the
purposes of this Payout Condition 5.1(c)(v)(B)(2) only, the Final
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(vi)

(vii)

Performance shall be deemed to be equal to the Normal
Performance Upside Cap Percentage.

American Barrier with Upside Participation

This paragraph 5.1(c)(vi) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Bonus Product Style is specified as 'American Barrier with
Upside Participation' in the Issue Terms. In respect of such Products the Issuer
shall redeem each Product in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as
applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred the Issuer shall redeem each Product
by payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in
accordance with (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

(1) ifaBonus Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Bonus Percentage; or

(2) if aBonus Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be
an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

(CA x BP) + (CA X UPP X (Final Performance (Upside) — BP)),

PROVIDED THAT, if Upside Cap is specified to be 'Applicable’
in the Issue Terms and the Final Performance (Upside) (as
determined by the Calculation Agent) is greater than the Upside
Cap Percentage, for the purposes of this Payout Condition
5.1(c)(vi)(A)(2) only, the Final Performance (Upside) shall be
deemed to be equal to the Upside Cap Percentage; or

(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product in
accordance with either paragraph (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

(1)  if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the Issue
Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the
Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation
Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Max [0; Final Performance (Downside)]; or

(2) if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product
by (x) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf of) the
Entitlement on the Delivery Date in accordance with General
Condition 6.2 and (y) payment of the Residual Cash Amount (if
any) on the Delivery Date.

American Barrier with Upside Participation and Downside Participation

This paragraph 5.1(c)(vii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Bonus Product Style is specified as 'American Barrier with
Upside Participation and Downside Participation' in the Issue Terms. In respect
of such Products the Settlement Type shall be 'Cash Settlement' and the Issuer
shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on the
Redemption Date in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred and:
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(B)

)

O]

a Bonus Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Bonus Percentage; or

a Bonus Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation
Agent in accordance with the following formula:

(CA x BP) 4+ (CA x UPP x (Final Performance (Upside) — BP),

PROVIDED THAT, if Upside Cap is specified to be 'Applicable’
in the Issue Terms and the Final Performance (Upside) (as
determined by the Calculation Agent) is greater than the Upside
Cap Percentage, for the purposes of this Payout Condition
5.1(c)(vi)(A)(2) only, the Final Performance (Upside) shall be
deemed to be equal to the Upside Cap Percentage; or

if a Barrier Event has occurred and:

)

a Bonus Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

(CA x BP) + (CA x DPP x (Final Performance (Downside) — BP)); or

)

a Bonus Event has occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product
by payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date
which shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined
by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following
formula:

(CA x BP) + (CA x NPP x (Final Performance — BP)),

PROVIDED THAT, if Normal Performance Upside Cap is
specified to be 'Applicable' in the Issue Terms and the Final
Performance (as determined by the Calculation Agent) is greater
than the Normal Performance Upside Cap Percentage, for the
purposes of this Payout Condition 5.1(c)(vii)(B)(2) only, the Final
Performance shall be deemed to be equal to the Normal
Performance Upside Cap Percentage.

(viii) American Barrier with Bonus Cap

This paragraph 5.1(c)(viii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Bonus Product Style is specified as '‘American Barrier with
Bonus Cap' in the Issue Terms. In respect of such Products the Issuer shall redeem
each Product in accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A)

(B)

if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Issue shall redeem each Product
by payment of the Redemption Amount, which shall be an amount in the
Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Bonus Percentage; or

if a Barrier Event has occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product in
accordance with either paragraph (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

)

if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the
Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of
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the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in accordance
with either paragraph (1) or (11) below (as applicable);

() if a Bonus Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount
shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined
by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following
formula:

Calculation Amount X Max [0; Final Performance (Downside)]; or

(1) if a Bonus Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount
shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined
by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following
formula:

Calculation Amount X Bonus Percentage; or

(2)  if'Settlement Type'is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by (x) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf
of) the Entitlement on the Delivery Date in accordance with
General Condition 6.2 and (y) payment of the Residual Cash
Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date.

(ixX)  American Barrier with Upside Cap and Downside Cap

This paragraph 5.1(c)(ix) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Bonus Product Style is specified as 'American Barrier with
Upside Cap and Downside Cap' in the Issue Terms. In respect of such Products
the Settlement Type shall be 'Cash Settlement' and the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date in
accordance with paragraph (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Barrier Event has not occurred and:

(1) aBonus Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Bonus Percentage; or

(2) aBonus Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation
Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Min [Final Performance (Upside); CP]
(B) if a Barrier Event has occurred and:

(1) a Bonus Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount shall
be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Max [0; Final Performance (Downside)]; or

(2)  aBonus Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation
Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Min [Final Performance; CP]
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5.2

Bonus Product Definitions

The following terms and expressions shall have the following meanings in respect of Products
for which the Payout Style is specified to be 'Bonus Products' in the Issue Terms:

"American Barrier Bonus Products" means Products in respect of which the Bonus Product
Style is specified as either '"American Barrier with Upside Participation and Normal Performance
Participation’, 'American Barrier with Upside Participation', 'American Barrier with Upside
Participation and Downside Participation’, 'American Barrier with Bonus Cap' or 'American
Barrier with Upside Cap and Downside Cap'.

"Barrier Basket Level" means, in respect of a basket of Underlyings, an amount equal to the
percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such Underlyings as specified in the Issue
Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation
Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Event" means (and a Barrier Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), either (a) or
(b) below (as applicable):

@) if 'Product Direction' is specified as '‘Bullish' in the Issue Terms, one of the following (as
applicable):

0] in respect of Products which are European Barrier Bonus Products, one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(A) inrespect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Final Fixing Level
of the Underlying is either (1) below or (2) at or below (as specified in the
Issue Terms) the Barrier Level; or

(B) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (1) or (2)
below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(1) the Final Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (1) below
or (I1) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective
Barrier Level; or

(2)  the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (1) below or (1) at or below
(as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level,

(i) in respect of Products which are American Barrier Bonus Products, one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(A) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Barrier Fixing
Level of the Underlying is either (1) below or (2) at or below (as specified
in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level on any Barrier Observation Date
falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

(B) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (1) or (2)
below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(1)  the Barrier Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (1)
below or (I) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its
respective Barrier Level on any Barrier Observation Date for such
Underlying falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

(2)  the Barrier Fixing Basket Level is either (I) below or (II) at or
below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level on
any Barrier Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation
Period; or
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(b)  if 'Product Direction' is specified as '‘Bearish' in the Issue Terms, one of the following (as
applicable):

M in respect of Products which are European Barrier Bonus Products, one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(A) inrespect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Final Fixing Level
of the Underlying is either (1) above or (2) at or above (as specified in the
Issue Terms) the Barrier Level; or

(B) inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (1) or (2)
below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(1) the Final Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (1) above
or (1) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective
Barrier Level; or

(2)  the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (1) above or (1) at or above
(as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level;

(i) in respect of Products which are American Barrier Bonus Products, one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(A) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Barrier Fixing
Level of the Underlying is either (1) above or (2) at or above (as specified
in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level on any Barrier Observation Date
falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

(B) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (1) or (2)
below (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(1)  the Barrier Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (1)
above or (Il) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its
respective Barrier Level on any Barrier Observation Date for such
Underlying falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

(2)  the Barrier Fixing Basket Level is either (1) above or (I1) at or above
(as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level on any
Barrier Observation Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period.

"Barrier Fixing Basket Level" means, an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
z NUC; x Barrier Fixing Level;

i=1

Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:

"Barrier Fixing Leveli" means the Barrier Fixing Level of Underlying

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;

"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"'; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Fixing Level" means, in respect a Barrier Observation Date and an Underlying, the
Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms.

156



Payout Conditions

"Barrier Level” means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, each Underlying Trading Day
falling in the relevant Barrier Observation Period.

"Barrier Observation Period" means the period specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Best Performing Underlying” means the Underlying with the highest Underlying
Performance, provided that if two or more Underlyings have the same highest Underlying
Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine, in its discretion, which of such
Underlyings shall be deemed to be the Best Performing Underlying.

"Bonus Event" means (and a Bonus Event shall be deemed to have occurred if) one of the
following (as applicable):

@) if 'Product Direction' is specified to be 'Bullish' in the Issue Terms, one of the following
(as specified in the Issue Terms):

0] in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Final Fixing Level of the
Underlying is either (A) above or (B) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms)
the Bonus Level; or

(i) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (A) or (B) below
(as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing Underlying is either (1)
above or (2) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective
Bonus Level; or

(B) the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (1) above or (2) at or above (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Bonus Basket Level; or

(b)  if 'Product Direction' is specified to be 'Bearish' in the Issue Terms, one of the following
(as specified in the Issue Terms):

0] in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Final Fixing Level of the
Underlying is either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms)
the Bonus Level; or

(i) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (A) or (B) below
(as specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Final Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying is either (1)
below or (2) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective
Bonus Level; or

(B) the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (1) below or (2) at or below (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Bonus Basket Level.

"Bonus Basket Level" means an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket
Level as specified in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such
percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account
prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and,
if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Bonus Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage
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is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its
discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject
to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue
Terms.

"Bonus Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Bonus Product Style" means, in respect of the Products, one of the following as specified in
the Issue Terms: 'European Barrier', 'European Barrier with Upside Participation’, 'European
Barrier with Downside Participation’, 'European Barrier with Bonus Cap’, 'American Barrier
with Upside Participation and Normal Performance Participation’, 'American Barrier with
Upside Participation’, 'American Barrier with Upside Participation and Downside Participation’,
'‘American Barrier with Bonus Cap' and 'American Barrier with Upside Cap and Downside Cap'.

"BP" means the Bonus Percentage.
"CA" means Calculation Amount.

"Conditional Coupon Amount" means, if 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be
‘Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the amount determined in accordance with paragraph 5.1(a)(i)
of these Payout Conditions.

"Conditional Coupon Provisions" means the provisions of paragraphs 5.1(a)(i) of these Payout
Conditions.

"Coupon Amount™ has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Coupon Fixing Basket Level" means an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
z NUC; x Coupon Fixing Level;

i=1
Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:
"Coupon Fixing Leveli" means the Coupon Fixing Level of Underlying "i*;

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;

"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i""; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Fixing Level" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date.

"Coupon Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying and a Coupon Payment Date,
one of the following (as applicable):

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the
Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or
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(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either:

M where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Common Adjustment’ in respect of the Coupon Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Individual Adjustment' in respect of the Coupon Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Coupon Payment Date" means one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:
(@)  each date specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  ifaCoupon Payment Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the column
entitled 'Coupon Payment Date(s)’,

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Rate" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, each percentage specified as such
in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the
Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Trigger Basket Level™ means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and a basket
of Underlyings, an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such
Underlyings as specified in respect of such Coupon Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if
such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Trigger Event" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date (and a Coupon
Trigger Event shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of such Coupon Observation Date
if), one of the following (as applicable):

@) if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Bullish' in the Issue Terms, one of the following (as
applicable):

Q) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Coupon Fixing Level of
the Underlying on such Coupon Observation Date is either (A) above or (B) at or
above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon Trigger Level in respect of
such Coupon Observation Date; or

(i) inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, one of the following (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Coupon Fixing Basket Level on such Coupon Observation Date is
either (1) above or (I1) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the
Coupon Trigger Basket Level in respect of such Coupon Observation
Date; or

(B) the Coupon Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Coupon Observation
Date are either (1) above or (1) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms)
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their respective Coupon Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date; or

(b)  if 'Product Direction' is specified to as 'Bearish' in the Issue Terms, one of the following
(as applicable):

(i) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Coupon Fixing Level of
the Underlying on such Coupon Observation Date is either (A) below or (B) at or
below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon Trigger Level in respect of
such Coupon Observation Date; or

(i) inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, one of the following (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(A) the Coupon Fixing Basket Level on such Coupon Observation Date is
either (1) below or (I1) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the
Coupon Trigger Basket Level in respect of such Coupon Observation
Date; or

(B) the Coupon Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Coupon Observation
Date are either (1) below or (Il) at or below (as specified in the Issue
Terms) their respective Coupon Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date.

"Coupon Trigger Level” means in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and an Underlying,
each amount equal to the percentage of either (a) the Initial Fixing Level or (b) the Strike Level
(as specified in the Issue Terms) of such Underlying as specified in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such
percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account
prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and,
if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"CP" or "Cap Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if
such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Delivery Date" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout Conditions.

"DPP" or "Downside Participation Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the
Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the
Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Entitlement" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout Conditions.

"European Barrier Bonus Products" means Products in respect of which the Bonus Product
Style is specified as either 'European Barrier', 'European Barrier with Upside Participation’,
'European Barrier with Downside Participation' or 'European Barrier with Bonus Cap'.

"Final Fixing Basket Level" means an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
Z NUC; x Final Fixing Level;

i=1
Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:

"Final Fixing Leveli" means the Final Fixing Level of Underlying
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i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;

"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Final Fixing Level (Best) " means the Final Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying
in respect of the Final Fixing Date.

"Final Fixing Level (Worst)" means the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing
Underlying in respect of the Final Fixing Date.

"Final Performance" means either paragraph (a) or (b) below (as applicable):

(@)

if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Bullish' in the Issue Terms, one of the following (as
applicable):

(i in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the
Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Initial Fixing Level o

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level
Strike Level

(i) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the
Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)
Initial Fixing Level (Worst)’ or

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)
Strike Level (Worst) ot

© a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level

Initial Fixing Basket Level ot

(D) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:
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Final Fixing Basket Level
Strike Basket Level

(E) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Initial Fixing Level (Best)’ or

(F a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Strike Level (Best)

(b)  if 'Product Direction' is specified as '‘Bearish' in the Issue Terms, one of the following (as
applicable):

(i)

(i)

in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the
Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Initial Fixing Level ot

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level
Strike Level

in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the
Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Initial Fixing Level (Best)’ or

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Strike Level (Best) ot

(© a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level

* Initial Fixing Basket Level o

(D) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level
Strike Basket Level
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"Final Performance (Downside)" means either paragraph (a) or (b) below (as applicable):

(@) if 'Product Direction' is specified as '‘Bullish’ in the Issue Terms, one of the following (as
applicable):

(i)

(i)

in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the
Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Initial Fixing Level’ or

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level
Strike Level

in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the
Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)

Initial Fixing Level (Worst)’ or

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)
Strike Level (Worst) o

© a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level

Initial Fixing Basket Level ot

(D) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level
Strike Basket Level

(E) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Initial Fixing Level (Best)’ or

(F) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Strike Level (Best) ' or
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(b)  if 'Product Direction' is specified as 'Bearish' in the Issue Terms, one of the following (as
applicable):

M in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the
Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

"~ Initial Fixing Level ot

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level
Strike Level

(if)  in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the
Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Initial Fixing Level (Best)’ or

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Strike Level (Best) sor

© a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level

* Initial Fixing Basket Level For

(D) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level
Strike Basket Level

"Final Performance (Upside)" means either paragraph (a) or (b) below (as applicable):

@ if 'Product Direction' is specified as ‘Bullish' in the Issue Terms, one of the following (as
applicable):

Q) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the
Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

; or
Initial Fixing Level
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(i)

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level
Strike Level

in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the
Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)
Initial Fixing Level (Worst)’ or

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)
Strike Level (Worst) ’

© a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level

Initial Fixing Basket Level o

(D) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level
Strike Basket Level

(b)  if 'Product Direction' is specified as '‘Bearish' in the Issue Terms, one of the following (as
applicable):

(i)

(i)

in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the
Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

* Initial Fixing Level’ or

(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level
Strike Level

in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, one of the following as
specified in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula below in the
Issue Terms):

(A) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Initial Fixing Level (Best)’ or
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(B) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Best)
Strike Level (Best) ot

© a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level

* Initial Fixing Basket Level o

(D) a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with
the following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level
Strike Basket Level

"Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, the
amount specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Coupon Payment Date.

"Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions™ means the provisions of paragraph 5.1(a)(ii) of
these Payout Conditions, as applicable.

"Initial Fixing Basket Level" means either (a) or (a) below (as applicable):

@) if 'Initial Fixing Basket Level' is specified to be 'Specified Amount' in the Issue Terms,
the amount specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  if 'Initial Fixing Basket Level' is specified to be 'Calculated Amount' in the Issue Terms,
an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:
n
Z NUC; X Initial Fixing Level;
i=1
Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:
"Initial Fixing Leveli" means the Initial Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"I'" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Initial Fixing Level (Best)" means the Initial Fixing Level of the Best Performing Underlying.

"Initial Fixing Level (Worst)" means the Initial Fixing Level of the Worst Performing
Underlying.

"IP" or "Inverse Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and
if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"NPP" means the Normal Performance Participation Percentage.
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"Normal Performance Participation Percentage™" means the percentage specified as such in
the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the
Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Normal Performance Upside Cap" shall be specified as either 'Applicable’ or 'Not
Applicable' in the Issue Terms.

"Normal Performance Upside Cap Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the
Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the
Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"OPP" means the Outperformance Participation Percentage.

"Outperformance Participation Percentage” means the percentage specified as such in the
Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the
Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Outperformance Upside Cap" shall be specified as either 'Applicable’ or ‘Not Applicable' in
the Issue Terms.

"Outperformance Upside Cap Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the
Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the
Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market
conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the
maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Residual Cash Amount" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Set of Coupon Payment Dates" means one or more Coupon Payment Dates specified in the
Issue Terms as belonging to the same "set" of Coupon Payment Dates. Each Set of Coupon
Payment Dates shall be referred to in the Issue Terms as 'Coupon Payment Date Set i' where 'i’
is a number from 1 (one) up to the total number of distinct Sets of Coupon Payment Dates. In
respect of each Set of Coupon Payment Dates either the Conditional Coupon Provisions or the
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions shall be specified as 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms.

"Specified Coupon Amount" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@) if 'Conditional Coupon Style' is specified as 'Specified Conditional Coupon' in the Issue
Terms, an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Coupon Rate; or

(b)  if 'Conditional Coupon Style' is specified as 'Memory Coupon' in the Issue Terms, an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

N
Calculation Amount X [ Z Coupon Rate;

i=n+1

Where the summation is taken across each Coupon Payment Date specified in the Issue
Terms and:
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"Coupon Ratei" means the Coupon Rate in respect of Coupon Payment Date

"I'" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Coupon
Payment Date;

"n" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the last
Coupon Payment Date on which a Specified Coupon Amount was paid (if any)
preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, provided that if there are no
Coupon Payment Dates preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date prior to
the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, then "n" shall be zero.

"N" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the current
Relevant Coupon Observation Date.

(c) if ‘Conditional Coupon Style' is specified as 'Layered Memory Coupon' in the Issue
Terms, an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

N
Calculation Amount X I Z Coupon Rate; | X T

i=n+1

Where the summation is taken across each Coupon Payment Date specified in the Issue
Terms and:

"Coupon Rate;" means the Coupon Rate in respect of Coupon Payment Date "i";

"iI'" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Coupon
Payment Date;

"n" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the last
Coupon Payment Date on which a Specified Coupon Amount was paid (if any)
preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, provided that if there are no
Coupon Payment Dates preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date prior to
the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, then "n" shall be zero.

"N" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the current
Relevant Coupon Observation Date.

"T" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date, the number of times that a
Coupon Trigger Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon Observation Date
in respect of each Coupon Trigger Level.

(d) if 'Conditional Coupon Style' is specified as 'Layered Coupon' in the Issue Terms, an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Coupon Rate X T

"Strike Basket Level" means an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance

with the following formula:

n
Z NUC; x Strike Level;

i=1

Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:
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i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i";

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms; and

"Strike Leveli" means the Strike Level of Underlying "i".

"Strike Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms, PROVIDED THAT if 'Predetermined Strike Level' is specified to be
‘Applicable’ in respect of the Strike Level in the Issue Terms, notwithstanding that the Strike
Level is expressed as a percentage of the Initial Fixing Level in the Issue Terms, the Strike Level
was determined on a date prior to the date on which the Initial Fixing Level is determined.

"Strike Level (Best)" means the Strike Level of the Best Performing Underlying.
"Strike Level (Worst)" means the Strike Level of the Worst Performing Underlying.

"T" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date, the number of times that a Coupon Trigger
Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon Observation Date in respect of each Coupon
Trigger Level.

"Underlying Performance” means, in respect of an Underlying, a percentage determined by
the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Initial Fixing Level

"Underlying Trading Day" means, in respect of an Underlying, as specified in the relevant
Underlying Specific Conditions.

"UPP" means the Upside Participation Percentage.
"Upside Cap" shall be specified to be 'Applicable’ or ‘Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms.

"Upside Cap Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if
such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Upside Participation Percentage" means the percentage specified as such in the Issue Terms.
"Worst Performing Underlying” means the Underlying with the lowest Underlying
Performance, provided that if two or more Underlyings have the same lowest Underlying

Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine, in its discretion, which of such
Underlyings shall be deemed to be the Worst Performing Underlying.
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6.1

Reverse Convertible Products

This paragraph 6 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in respect of which the
Payout Style is specified to be 'Reverse Convertible Product' in the Issue Terms.

Reverse Convertible Product Payout

(@)

(b)

(©

Coupon Amount

The Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on each Coupon Payment Date
shall be determined in accordance with paragraph (i) or (ii) below (as applicable):

(i) if Coupon Style is specified to be '‘Coupon Accrual' in the Issue Terms, the
Coupon Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by
the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula (where the
Calculation Period for the purposes of determining the Day Count Fraction is the
relevant Coupon Period):

Calculation Amount X Coupon Rate X DCF; or

(i) if Coupon Style is specified to be 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount' in the
Issue Terms, the Coupon Amount shall be the Fixed Unconditional Coupon
Amount,

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of any Autocall Observation Date, the
Coupon Amount payable on the Coupon Payment Date falling on the relevant Autocall
Redemption Date (or if no such date, the Coupon Payment Date falling immediately prior
to the relevant Autocall Redemption Date) shall be the final Coupon Amount payable in
respect of the Products.

Autocall Amount

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms and the
Calculation Agent determines that an Autocall Event has occurred in respect of an
Autocall Observation Date, then unless the Products have been previously redeemed or
purchased and cancelled, the Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Autocall
Redemption Date corresponding to the Autocall Observation Date on which the Autocall
Event occurred at the Autocall Redemption Amount.

If the Conditions specify that the final Autocall Redemption Date is scheduled to fall on
the same date as the Redemption Date, and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of the
Autocall Observation Date corresponding to such final Autocall Redemption Date, each
Product shall be redeemed on the Redemption Date (which is also the final Autocall
Redemption Date) at the Autocall Redemption Amount and no further amounts shall be
payable in respect of such Products.

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms the
Autocall Provisions shall not apply to the Products.

Redemption Amount

Unless the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product in accordance with the relevant Reverse Convertible
Product Style and paragraph 6.1(c)(i) or 6.1(c)(ii) below (as applicable):

Q) Single Underlying

This paragraph 6.1(c)(i) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Reverse Convertible Product Style is specified as 'Single
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(i)

Underlying' in the Issue Terms. In respect of such Products, the Issuer shall
redeem each Product in accordance with (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if the Final Fixing Level of the Underlying is (x) in respect of Products
for which Redemption Determination Style is specified as 'Par
Redemption — At or Above OR Performance Redemption — Below' in
the Issue Terms, below the Strike Level of the Underlying or (y) in
respect of Products for which the Redemption Determination Style is
specified as 'Par Redemption - Above OR Performance Redemption —
At or Below' in the Issue Terms, at or below the Strike Level of the
Underlying, the Issuer shall redeem each Product in accordance with (1)
or (2) below (as applicable):

(1)  if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the
Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of
the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which shall be
an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level
Strike Level ' .

Calculation Amount X

(2)  if'Settlement Type'is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by (1) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf
of) the Entitlement on the Delivery Date in accordance with
General Condition 6.2 and (2) payment of the Residual Cash
Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date;

(B) if the Final Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (x) in respect of
Products for which Redemption Determination Style is specified as 'Par
Redemption — At or Above OR Performance Redemption — Below' in
the Issue Terms, at or above the Strike Level of the Underlying or (y) in
respect of Products for which the Redemption Determination Style is
specified as 'Par Redemption - Above OR Performance Redemption —
At or Below' in the Issue Terms, above the Strike Level of the
Underlying, the Redemption Amount payable on the Redemption Date
shall be equal to the Calculation Amount.

Basket of Underlyings

This paragraph 6.1(c)(ii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in
respect of which the Reverse Convertible Product Style is specified as 'Basket of
Underlyings' in the Issue Terms. In respect of such Products, the Issuer shall
redeem each Product in accordance with (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing Underlying is (X) in
respect of Products for which Redemption Determination Style is
specified as 'Par Redemption — At or Above OR Performance
Redemption — Below' in the Issue Terms, below the Strike Level of such
Underlying or (y) in respect of Products for which the Redemption
Determination Style is specified as 'Par Redemption - Above OR
Performance Redemption — At or Below' in the Issue Terms, at or below
the Strike Level of such Underlying, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product in accordance with (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

(1)  if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the

Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of
the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which shall be
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6.2

an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the
Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)

Calculation A tx ’
alculation Amoun Strike Level (Worst) or

(2)  if'Settlement Type'is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by (1) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf
of) the Entitlement on the Delivery Date in accordance with
General Condition 6.2 and (2) payment of the Residual Cash
Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date;

(B) if the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing Underlying is either
(x) in respect of Products for which Redemption Determination Style is
specified as 'Par Redemption — At or Above OR Performance
Redemption — Below' in the Issue Terms, at or above the Strike Level of
such Underlying or (y) in respect of Products for which the Redemption
Determination Style is specified as 'Par Redemption - Above OR
Performance Redemption — At or Below' in the Issue Terms, above the
Strike Level of such Underlying, the Redemption Amount payable on
the Redemption Date shall be equal to the Calculation Amount.

Reverse Convertible Product Definitions

The following terms and expressions shall have the following meanings in respect of Products
for which the Payout Style is specified to be 'Reverse Convertible Product' in the Issue Terms:

"Autocall Event" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date (and an Autocall Event
shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of such Autocall Observation Date if), one of the
following (as specified in the Issue Terms):

(a)  the Autocall Fixing Level of the Underlying in respect of such Autocall Observation
Date is either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Autocall
Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date; or

(b)  the Autocall Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Autocall Observation Date are
either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) their respective
Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date.

"Autocall Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, one of the following (as
applicable):

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the
Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings either:

Q) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified as 'Common Adjustment' in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified as 'Individual Adjustment' in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.
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"Autocall Fixing Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date.

"Autocall Redemption Amount" means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, the
amount specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Redemption Date" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date on which an
Autocall Event has occurred, one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@)  the date specified as an 'Autocall Redemption Date' in the Issue Terms that falls
immediately after such Autocall Observation Date; or

(b)  if an Autocall Redemption Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the
column entitled 'Autocall Redemption Date(s)' in the row corresponding to such Autocall
Observation Date,

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Redemption Table" the table specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Trigger Level” means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date and an
Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying
as specified in respect of such Autocall Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Amount™ has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Coupon Payment Date" means one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:
(@)  each date specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  ifaCoupon Payment Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the column
entitled 'Coupon Payment Date(s)’,

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Period" means, unless specified otherwise in the Issue Terms, in respect of a Coupon
Payment Date (for the purposes of this definition of Coupon Period, the "Relevant Coupon
Payment Date"), the period beginning on (and including) the immediately preceding Coupon
Payment Date (or if the Relevant Coupon Payment Date is the first Coupon Payment Date, the
Issue Date) and ending on (but excluding) the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, and, if the Issue
Terms specify that any particular Coupon Period shall be (i) 'Adjusted’, then each such Coupon
Period shall commence on or end on (as applicable) the relevant Coupon Payment Date after all
adjustments are made (if any) to such Coupon Payment Date in accordance with the Conditions,
or (ii) 'Unadjusted’, then each such Coupon Period shall commence on or end on (as applicable)
the date on which the relevant Coupon Payment Date is scheduled to fall, disregarding any
adjustments to such Coupon Payment Date in accordance with the Conditions.

"Coupon Rate" means the per annum rate specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.
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"Coupon Style" means one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms: ‘Coupon Accrual’
or 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount'.

"DCF" means Day Count Fraction.
"Delivery Date" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of the Payout Conditions.
"Entitlement" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of the Payout Conditions.

"Final Fixing Level (Worst)" means the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing
Underlying.

"Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount"” means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, the
amount specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Coupon Payment Date.

"Redemption Determination Style" means one of the following as specified in the Issue
Terms: 'Par Redemption — At or Above OR Performance Redemption — Below' or 'Par
Redemption - Above OR Performance Redemption — At or Below'".

"Residual Cash Amount” has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of the Payout
Conditions.

"Reverse Convertible Product Style" means one of the following as specified in the Issue
Terms: 'Single Underlying' or 'Basket of Underlyings'.

"Strike Level” means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms, PROVIDED THAT if 'Predetermined Strike Level' is specified to be
‘Applicable’ in respect of the Strike Level in the Issue Terms, notwithstanding that the Strike
Level is expressed as a percentage of the Initial Fixing Level in the Issue Terms, the Strike Level
was determined on a date prior to the date on which the Initial Fixing Level is determined.

"Strike Level (Worst)" means the Strike Level of the Worst Performing Underlying.

"Underlying Performance” means, in respect of an Underlying, a percentage determined by
the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Initial Fixing Level

"Worst Performing Underlying” means the Underlying with the lowest Underlying
Performance, provided that if two or more Underlyings have the same lowest Underlying
Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine, in its discretion, which of such
Underlyings shall be deemed to be the Worst Performing Underlying.
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7.1

Barrier Reverse Convertible Products

This paragraph 7 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in respect of which the
Payout Style is specified to be '‘Barrier Reverse Convertible Products' in the Issue Terms.

Barrier Reverse Convertible Products with European Barrier Payout

This paragraph 7.1 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in respect of which the
Barrier Reverse Convertible Products Style is specified as 'European Barrier' in the Issue Terms.

(@)

Coupon Amount

The Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on each Coupon Payment Date
shall be the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount pursuant to paragraph (i) below and,
if 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable' in the Issue Terms,
the potential payment of the Conditional Coupon Amount pursuant paragraph (ii) below.

(i)

(i)

Fixed Unconditional Coupon

The Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on
each Coupon Payment Date shall be determined in accordance with paragraph
(A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if Fixed Unconditional Coupon Style is specified to be 'Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Accrual' in the Issue Terms, the Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement
Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula (where the Calculation Period for the purposes of
determining the Day Count Fraction is the relevant Coupon Period):

Calculation Amount X Coupon Rate x DCF; or

(B) if Fixed Unconditional Coupon Style is specified to be 'Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Amount' in the Issue Terms, the Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Amount shall be the Specified Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Amount.

Conditional Coupon

If '‘Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms no Conditional Coupon Amounts will be payable in respect of the
Products.

If 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date and the Coupon Observation
Date falling immediately prior to such Coupon Payment Date, the Conditional
Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment
Date shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with paragraph
(A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Coupon Trigger Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be the Specified Conditional Coupon
Amount; or

(B) if a Coupon Trigger Event has not occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be zero.

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of any Autocall Observation Date, the
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount and the Conditional Coupon Amount (if any)
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(b)

(©

payable on the Coupon Payment Date falling on the relevant Autocall Redemption Date
(or if no such date, the Coupon Payment Date falling immediately prior to the relevant
Autocall Redemption Date) shall be the final Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount and
final Conditional Coupon Amount payable in respect of the Products.

Autocall Amount

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms and if the
Calculation Agent determines that an Autocall Event has occurred in respect of an
Autocall Observation Date, then unless the Products have been previously redeemed or
purchased and cancelled, the Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Autocall
Redemption Date corresponding to the Autocall Observation Date on which the Autocall
Event occurred at the Autocall Redemption Amount.

Notwithstanding any other applicable provisions of the Payout Conditions, if the
Conditions specify that the final Autocall Redemption Date is scheduled to fall on the
same date as the Redemption Date, and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of the
Autocall Observation Date corresponding to such final Autocall Redemption Date, each
Product shall be redeemed on the Redemption Date (which is also the final Autocall
Redemption Date) at the Autocall Redemption Amount and no further amounts shall be
payable in respect of such Products.

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms the
Autocall Provisions shall not apply to the Products.

Redemption Amount

Unless the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date or Delivery Date (as
applicable) in accordance with paragraph 7.1(c)(i) or 7.1(c)(ii) below (as applicable).

0] if a Barrier Event has occurred, the lIssuer shall redeem each Product in
accordance with either paragraph (A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the Issue
Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the
Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which shall be an amount
in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance; or

(B) if 'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by
(1) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf of) the Entitlement
on the Delivery Date in accordance with General Condition 6.2 and (I1)
payment of the Residual Cash Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date; or

(i)  if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by
payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount,
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PROVIDED THAT, if 'Lock-In Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms, and if a Lock-In Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount payable on the
Redemption Date shall be equal to the Calculation Amount.

Barrier Reverse Convertible Products with American Barrier Payout

This paragraph 7.2 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in respect of which the
Barrier Reverse Convertible Products Style is specified as 'American Barrier' in the Issue Terms.

(@)

Coupon Amount

The Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on each Coupon Payment Date
shall be the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount pursuant to paragraph (i) below and,
if 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable' in the Issue Terms,
the potential payment of the Conditional Coupon Amount pursuant paragraph (ii) below.

(i)

(i)

Fixed Unconditional Coupon

The Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on
each Coupon Payment Date shall be determined in accordance with paragraph
(A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if Fixed Unconditional Coupon Style is specified to be ‘Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Accrual' in the Issue Terms, the Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Amount shall be an amount in the Settlement
Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula (where the Calculation Period for the purposes of
determining the Day Count Fraction is the relevant Coupon Period):

Calculation Amount X Coupon Rate X DCF; or

(B) if Fixed Unconditional Coupon Style is specified to be 'Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Amount' in the Issue Terms, the Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Amount shall be the Specified Fixed
Unconditional Coupon Amount,

Conditional Coupon

If 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue
Terms no Conditional Coupon Amounts will be payable in respect of the
Products.

If 'Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms, in respect of each Coupon Payment Date and the Coupon Observation
Date falling immediately prior to such Coupon Payment Date, the Conditional
Coupon Amount payable in respect of each Product on such Coupon Payment
Date shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with paragraph
(A) or (B) below (as applicable):

(A) if a Coupon Trigger Event has occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be the Specified Conditional Coupon
Amount; or

(B) if a Coupon Trigger Event has not occurred in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date, the Conditional Coupon Amount payable on such
Coupon Payment Date shall be zero.

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of any Autocall Observation Date, the
Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount and the Conditional Coupon Amount (if any)
payable on the Coupon Payment Date falling on the relevant Autocall Redemption Date
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(or if no such date, the Coupon Payment Date falling immediately prior to the relevant
Autocall Redemption Date) shall be the final Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount and
final Conditional Coupon Amount payable in respect of the Products.

Autocall Amount

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms and if the
Calculation Agent determines that an Autocall Event has occurred in respect of an
Autocall Observation Date, then unless the Products have been previously redeemed or
purchased and cancelled, the Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Autocall
Redemption Date corresponding to the Autocall Observation Date on which the Autocall
Event occurred at the Autocall Redemption Amount.

Notwithstanding any other applicable provisions of the Payout Conditions, if the
Conditions specify that the final Autocall Redemption Date is scheduled to fall on the
same date as the Redemption Date, and an Autocall Event occurs in respect of the
Autocall Observation Date corresponding to such final Autocall Redemption Date, each
Product shall be redeemed on the Redemption Date (which is also the final Autocall
Redemption Date) at the Autocall Redemption Amount and no further amounts shall be
payable in respect of such Products.

If 'Autocall Provisions' are specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms the
Autocall Provisions shall not apply to the Products.

Redemption Amount

Unless the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date or Delivery Date (as
applicable) in accordance with paragraph 7.2(c)(i) or 7.2(c)(ii) below (as applicable).

0] if a Barrier Event has occurred and:
(A) a Strike Event has occurred, either (1) or (2) below (as applicable):

(1)  ‘'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Cash Settlement' in the Issue
Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the
Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which shall be an
amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation
Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Final Performance; or

(2)  if'Settlement Type' is specified to be 'Delivery and Residual Cash
Settlement' in the Issue Terms, the Issuer shall redeem each
Product by (1) delivery of (or procuring the delivery on its behalf
of) the Entitlement on the Delivery Date in accordance with
General Condition 6.2 and (1) payment of the Residual Cash
Amount (if any) on the Delivery Date; or

(B) a Strike Event has not occurred, the Redemption Amount payable on the
Redemption Date shall be equal to the Calculation Amount; or

(i)  if a Barrier Event has not occurred, the Issuer shall redeem each Product by
payment of the Redemption Amount on the Redemption Date, which shall be
equal to the Calculation Amount,

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Lock-In Provisions' are specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue
Terms, and if a Lock-In Event has occurred, the Redemption Amount payable on the
Redemption Date shall be equal to the Calculation Amount.
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7.3

Barrier Reverse Convertible Products Definitions

The following terms and expressions shall have the following meanings in respect of Products
for which the Payout Style is specified to be '‘Barrier Reverse Convertible Products' in the Issue

Terms:

"Autocall Coupon Amount” means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, the amount
specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Event" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date (and an Autocall Event
shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of such Autocall Observation Date if), one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(@)

(b)

in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Autocall Fixing Level of the
Underlying in respect of such Autocall Observation Date is either (i) above or (ii) at or
above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such
Autocall Observation Date; or

in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either:

0] the Autocall Fixing Level of all Underlyings on such Autocall Observation Date
are either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) their
respective Autocall Trigger Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date;
or

(if)  the Autocall Fixing Basket Level on such Autocall Observation Date are either
(i) above or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Autocall Trigger
Basket Level in respect of such Autocall Observation Date.

"Autocall Fixing Basket Level" means an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
Z NUC; x Autocall Fixing Level;

i=1

Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:

"Autocall Fixing Leveli" means the Autocall Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components™ means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, one of the following (as
applicable):

(@)

(b)

in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the
Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings either:

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified as 'Common Adjustment' in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
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Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i)  where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified as 'Individual Adjustment' in respect of the Autocall Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Autocall Fixing Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Autocall
Observation Date.

"Autocall Redemption Amount™ means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, either (a)
the amount specified as such in the Issue Terms or (b) if 'Fixed Autocall Redemption Amount
plus Autocall Coupon Amount' is specified in the Issue Terms, an amount determined by the
Calculation Agent as being equal to the sum of the Fixed Autocall Redemption Amount in
respect of such Autocall Redemption Date and the Autocall Coupon Amount in respect of such
Autocall Redemption Date.

"Autocall Redemption Date" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date on which an
Autocall Event has occurred, one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

(a) the date specified as an 'Autocall Redemption Date' in the Issue Terms that falls
immediately after such Autocall Observation Date; or

(b)  if an Autocall Redemption Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the
column entitled 'Autocall Redemption Date(s)' in the row corresponding to such Autocall
Observation Date,

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Redemption Table" the table specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Trigger Basket Level” means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date and a
basket of Underlyings, an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of
such Underlyings as specified in respect of such Autocall Observation Date in the Issue Terms,
and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent
shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial
Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage
specified in the Issue Terms.

"Autocall Trigger Level" means, in respect of an Autocall Observation Date and an
Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying
as specified in respect of such Autocall Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Basket Level" means, in respect of a basket of Underlyings, an amount equal to the
percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such Underlyings as specified in the Issue
Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation
Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.
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"Barrier Event" means (and a Barrier Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), one of the
following (as applicable):

(@)

(b)

in respect of Products for which the Barrier Reverse Convertible Products Style is
specified as 'European Barrier' in the Issue Terms, one of the following as specified in
the Issue Terms:

(i) the Final Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (A) below or (B) at or below
(as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level;

(i) the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified
in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level; or

(iif)  the Final Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (A) below or (B) at or
below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Barrier Level; or

in respect of Products for which the Barrier Reverse Convertible Products Style is
specified as 'American Barrier' in the Issue Terms, one of the following as specified in
the Issue Terms:

0] the Barrier Fixing Level of the Underlying is either (A) below or (B) at or below
(as specified in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Level on any Barrier Observation
Date falling in the Barrier Observation Period;

(i)  the Barrier Fixing Basket Level is either (A) below or (B) at or below (as specified
in the Issue Terms) the Barrier Basket Level on any Barrier Observation Date
falling in the Barrier Observation Period; or

(iii)  the Barrier Fixing Level of at least one Underlying is either (A) below or (B) at
or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its respective Barrier Level on any
Barrier Observation Date for such Underlying falling in the Barrier Observation
Period.

"Barrier Fixing Basket Level" means, an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
z NUC; x Barrier Fixing Level;

i=1

Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:

"Barrier Fixing Leveli" means the Barrier Fixing Level of Underlying "i";

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;

"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Fixing Level" means, in respect a Barrier Observation Date and an Underlying, the
Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.
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"Barrier Observation Date™" means, in respect of an Underlying, each Underlying Trading Day
falling in the relevant Barrier Observation Period.

"Barrier Observation Period" means the period specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Barrier Reverse Convertible Products Style" means, in respect of the Products, one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms: 'European Barrier' or 'American Barrier'.

"Common Lock-In Event" means, (and a Common Lock-In Event shall be deemed to have
occurred if), in respect of a Lock-In Observation Date and a basket of Underlyings, the Lock-In
Fixing Level of all Underlying's on such Lock-In Observation Date is either (i) above or (ii) at
or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) their respective Lock-In Barrier Level in respect of
such Lock-In Observation Date.

"Conditional Coupon Amount" means, if ‘Conditional Coupon Provisions' are specified to be
‘Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the amount determined in accordance with paragraph 7.1(a)(ii)
or 7.2(a)(ii) (as applicable) of these Payout Conditions.

"Conditional Coupon Provisions" means the provisions of paragraph 7.1(a)(i) or 7.2(a)(i) of
these Payout Conditions, as applicable.

"Coupon Amount™ has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Coupon Fixing Level" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date.

"Coupon Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying and a Coupon Payment Date,
one of the following (as applicable):

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the
Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either:

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be '‘Common Adjustment' in respect of the Coupon Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Individual Adjustment' in respect of the Coupon Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Coupon Payment Date" means one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:
(@)  each date specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  ifaCoupon Payment Table is set out in the Issue Terms, each date set forth in the column
entitled '‘Coupon Payment Date(s)’,

subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention specified in
the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Payment Table" means the table specified as such in the Issue Terms.
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"Coupon Period" means, unless specified otherwise in the Issue Terms, in respect of a Coupon
Payment Date (for the purposes of this definition of Coupon Period, the "Relevant Coupon
Payment Date"), the period beginning on (and including) the immediately preceding Coupon
Payment Date (or if the Relevant Coupon Payment Date is the first Coupon Payment Date, the
Issue Date) and ending on (but excluding) the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, and, if the Issue
Terms specify that any particular Coupon Period shall be (i) 'Adjusted’, then each such Coupon
Period shall commence on or end on (as applicable) the relevant Coupon Payment Date after all
adjustments are made (if any) to such Coupon Payment Date in accordance with the Conditions,
or (ii) 'Unadjusted’, then each such Coupon Period shall commence on or end on (as applicable)
the date on which the relevant Coupon Payment Date is scheduled to fall, disregarding any
adjustments to such Coupon Payment Date in accordance with the Conditions.

"Coupon Rate" means one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@) in respect of the Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions, the per annum rate specified
as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  in respect of the Conditional Coupon Provisions, the percentage specified as such in the
Issue Terms,

and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent
shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial
Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage
specified in the Issue Terms.

"Coupon Trigger Event" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date (and a Coupon
Trigger Event shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of such Coupon Observation Date
if), one of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Coupon Fixing Level of the
Underlying on such Coupon Observation Date is either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Coupon Trigger Level in respect of such Coupon
Observation Date; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, the Coupon Fixing Level of all
Underlyings on such Coupon Observation Date are either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as
specified in the Issue Terms) their respective Coupon Trigger Level in respect of such
Coupon Observation Date.

"Coupon Trigger Level" means, in respect of a Coupon Observation Date and an Underlying,
an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified in
respect of such Coupon Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified
to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion,
taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the
minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"DCF" means Day Count Fraction.
"Delivery Date" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout Conditions.
"Entitlement" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout Conditions.
"Final Fixing Basket Level" means, an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

n
Z NUC; x Final Fixing Level;

i=1
Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:

"Final Fixing Leveli" means the Final Fixing Level of Underlying
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i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;

"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Final Fixing Level (Worst)" means the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing
Underlying in respect of the Final Fixing Date.

"Final Performance" means either paragraph (a) or (b) below (as applicable):

(8 in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, one of the following as specified in
the Issue Terms: (by replicating the relevant formula below in the Issue Terms)

0] a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Initial Fixing Level o

(i)  a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Level
Strike Level

(iii)  the Final Return; or

(b) in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, one of the following as specified
in the Issue Terms (by replicating the relevant formula or text below in the Issue Terms):

0] a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Basket Level

Initial Fixing Basket Level sor

(i)  a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)
Initial Fixing Level (Worst)’ or

(iif)  a percentage determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the
following formula:

Final Fixing Level (Worst)
Strike Level (Worst) o

(iv)  the Final Return (Worst)

"Final Return" means, in respect of an Underlying, a percentage determined by the Calculation
Agent in accordance with the following formula:

(Final Fixing Level — Strike Level)

1000
00% + Initial Fixing Level

"Final Return (Worst)" means the Final Return of the Worst Performing Underlying.
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"Fixed Autocall Redemption Amount" means, in respect of an Autocall Redemption Date, the
amount specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount"” means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, the
amount determined in accordance with paragraph 7.1(a)(i) or 7.2(a)(i) (as applicable) of these
Payout Conditions.

"Fixed Unconditional Coupon Provisions" means the amount payable on a Coupon Payment
Date as determined in accordance with paragraph 7.1(a)(i) or 7.2(a)(i) (as applicable) of these
Payout Conditions.

"Fixed Unconditional Coupon Style" means one of the following as specified in the Issue
Terms: 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon Accrual' or 'Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount'.

"Initial Fixing Basket Level" means either (a) or (b) below (as applicable):

@) if 'Initial Fixing Basket Level' is specified to be 'Specified Amount' in the Issue Terms,
the amount specified as such in the Issue Terms; or

(b)  if 'Initial Fixing Basket Level' is specified to be 'Calculated Amount' in the Issue Terms,
an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

n
z NUC; X Initial Fixing Level;

=1
Where the summation is taken across each Underlying specified in the Issue Terms and:
"Initial Fixing Leveli" means the Initial Fixing Level of Underlying "i*;

"i" means a unique integer from 1 to n, each representing a separate Underlying in the
basket;

"n" means an amount equal to the number of Underlyings specified in the Issue Terms;
"NUC;" means the Number of Underlying Components in respect of Underlying "i"; and

"Number of Underlying Components" means, in respect of an Underlying, the number,
percentage or fraction specified as such in the Issue Terms.

"Initial Fixing Level (Worst)" means the Initial Fixing Level of the Worst Performing
Underlying.

"Lock-In Barrier Level" means, in respect of a Lock-In Observation Date and an Underlying,
an amount equal to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified in
respect of such Lock-In Observation Date in the Issue Terms, and if such percentage is specified
to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall determine in its discretion,
taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing Date, subject to the
minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Lock-In Event" means, (and a Lock-In Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@ in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Lock-In Fixing Level of the
Underlying on a Lock-In Observation Date is either (i) above or (ii) at or above (as
specified in the Issue Terms) the Lock-In Barrier Level in respect of such Lock-In
Observation Date; or

(b)  in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either (i) or (ii) below (as
specified in the Issue Terms):

(M a Common Lock-In Event has occurred in respect of a Lock-In Observation Date
and the basket of Underlyings; or
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(i)  aSingle Lock-In Event has occurred in respect of each Underlying on at least one
Lock-In Observation Date. The Lock-In Event shall be deemed to have occurred
on the first Lock-In Observation Date in respect of which a Single Lock-In Event
has occurred for all Underlyings.

"Lock-In Fixing Level" means, in respect of a Lock-In Observation Date and an Underlying,
the Level of such Underlying specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Lock-In
Observation Date.

"Lock-In Observation Date" means, in respect of an Underlying, one of the following (as
applicable):

(@  in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, subject as provided in the
Underlying Specific Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date
is not a Scheduled Trading Day, the next following Scheduled Trading Day; or

(b)  in respect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either:

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Common Adjustment' in respect of the Lock-In Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms, or if such date is not a
Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket, the next following day
that is a Scheduled Trading Day for all Underlyings in the basket; or

(i) where 'Underlying Valuation Dates - Adjustments for Scheduled Trading Days'
is specified to be 'Individual Adjustment' in respect of the Lock-In Observation
Date(s) in the Issue Terms, subject as provided in the Underlying Specific
Conditions, each date so specified in the Issue Terms in respect of an Underlying,
or if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying, the next
following Scheduled Trading Day for such Underlying.

"Lock-In Provisions" means the provisions of proviso (1) of paragraph 7.1(c) or 7.2(c) of these
Payout Conditions, as applicable.

"Redemption Amount" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Residual Cash Amount" has the meaning given to such term in paragraph 14 of these Payout
Conditions.

"Single Lock-In Event" means, (and a Single Lock-In Event shall be deemed to have occurred
if), in respect of a Lock-In Observation Date and an Underlying in a basket of Underlyings, the
Lock-In Fixing Level of such Underlying on such Lock-In Observation Date is either (i) above
or (ii) at or above (as specified in the Issue Terms) the Lock-In Barrier Level for such
Underlying in respect of such Lock-In Observation Date.

"Specified Conditional Coupon Amount" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date, one
of the following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@ if 'Conditional Coupon Style' is specified as Specified Conditional Coupon in the Issue
Terms, an amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in
accordance with the following formula:

Calculation Amount X Coupon Rate; or
(b)  if 'Conditional Coupon Style' is specified as 'Memory Coupon' in the Issue Terms, an

amount in the Settlement Currency determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance
with the following formula:
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N
Calculation Amount X [ Z Coupon Rate;

i=n+1

Where the summation is taken across each Coupon Payment Date specified in the Issue
Terms and:

"Coupon Ratei" means the Coupon Rate in respect of Coupon Payment Date "i";

"I'" means a unique integer from 1 to N, each representing a separate Coupon
Payment Date;

"n" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the last
Coupon Payment Date on which a Specified Coupon Amount was paid (if any)
preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, provided that if there are no
Coupon Payment Dates preceding the Relevant Coupon Payment Date prior to
the Relevant Coupon Payment Date, then "n" shall be zero.

"N" means, in respect of a Coupon Payment Date (for the purposes of this
definition, the "Relevant Coupon Payment Date"), the number of the current
Relevant Coupon Observation Date.

"Specified Fixed Unconditional Coupon Amount™ means, in respect of a Coupon Payment
Date, the amount specified as such in the Issue Terms in respect of such Coupon Payment Date.

"Strike Barrier Basket Level" means, in respect of a basket of Underlyings, an amount equal
to the percentage of the Initial Fixing Basket Level of such Underlying as specified in the Issue
Terms, and if such percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation
Agent shall determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the
Initial Fixing Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum
percentage specified in the Issue Terms.

"Strike Barrier Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage
of the Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms.

"Strike Event" means (and a Strike Event shall be deemed to have occurred if), one of the
following as specified in the Issue Terms:

@) in respect of Products linked to a single Underlying, the Final Fixing Level of the
Underlying is either (i) below or (ii) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) the
Strike Barrier Level; or

(b)  inrespect of Products linked to a basket of Underlyings, either:

(i) the Final Fixing Level of the Worst Performing Underlying is either (i) below or
(ii) at or below (as specified in the Issue Terms) its Strike Barrier Level; or

(i)  the Final Fixing Basket Level is either (i) below or (ii) at or below (as specified
in the Issue Terms) its Strike Barrier Basket Level.

"Strike Level" means, in respect of an Underlying, an amount equal to the percentage of the
Initial Fixing Level of such Underlying as specified as such in the Issue Terms, and if such
percentage is specified to be indicative, such percentage as the Calculation Agent shall
determine in its discretion, taking into account prevailing market conditions, on the Initial Fixing
Date, subject to the minimum percentage and, if applicable, the maximum percentage specified
in the Issue Terms, PROVIDED THAT if 'Predetermined Strike Level' is specified to be
'‘Applicable’ in respect of the Strike Level in the Issue Terms, notwithstanding that the Strike
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Level is expressed as a percentage of the Initial Fixing Level in the Issue Terms, the Strike Level
was determined on a date prior to the date on which the Initial Fixing Level is determined.

"Strike Level (Worst)" means the Strike Level of the Worst Performing Underlying.

"Underlying Performance” means, in respect of an Underlying, a percentage determined by
the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Final Fixing Level

Initial Fixing Level

"Underlying Trading Day" means, in respect of an Underlying, as specified in the relevant
Underlying Specific Conditions.

"Worst Performing Underlying"” means the Underlying with the lowest Underlying
Performance, provided that if two or more Underlyings have the same lowest Underlying
Performance, then the Calculation Agent shall determine, in its discretion, which of such
Underlyings shall be deemed to be the Worst Performing Underlying.
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8.1

Tracker Products

This paragraph 8 of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Products in respect of which the
Payout Style is specified to be "Tracker Product' in the Issue Terms.

Tracker Product Redemption Style

(@)

(b)

Fixed Term

Subject to early redemption pursuant to (i) or (ii) below (if applicable) or otherwise, each
Product for which the Redemption Style is specified to be 'Fixed Term'in the Issue Terms
will have a scheduled Final Fixing Date (subject to adjustment for Scheduled Trading
Days and Disrupted Days) and a scheduled Redemption Date (subject to adjustment for
Business Days) specified in the Issue Terms.

M Issuer's Call Option (Fixed Term)

If Issuer Call Option is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, unless the
Investor has already given notice of the exercise of its Investor Put Option (Fixed
Term) or the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and
cancelled, the Issuer may exercise its option to redeem all (but not some only) of
the outstanding Products on any Issuer Call Option (Fixed Term) Exercise Date
by giving not less than the Issuer Call Option (Fixed Term) Notice Period notice
prior to such Issuer Call Option (Fixed Term) Exercise Date to the Investors in
accordance with General Condition 16 (Notices). Such notice (the "lIssuer Call
Option (Fixed Term) Redemption Notice") shall specify the Issuer Call Option
(Fixed Term) Exercise Date in respect of which the Issuer intends to exercise its
Issuer Call Option (Fixed Term) and shall designate a Final Fixing Date.

For the avoidance of doubt, if an Investor has already given notice of the exercise
of its applicable Investor Put Option (Fixed Term) prior to the day on which the
Issuer gives notice of the exercise of its Issuer Call Option (Fixed Term), no such
Issuer Call Option (Fixed Term) may be exercised in respect of such Product and
such Product shall be redeemed in accordance with (ii) below.

(i) Investor's Put Option (Fixed Term)

If Investor Put Option is specified to be 'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, unless
the Issuer has already given notice of the exercise of its Issuer Call Option (Fixed
Term) or the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and
cancelled, the Issuer shall, at the option of the Investor exercising its Investor Put
Option (Fixed Term) in respect of such Security on any Investor Put Option
(Fixed Term) Exercise Date by giving notice to the Paying Agent not less than
the Investor Put Option (Fixed Term) Notice Period prior to such Investor Put
Option (Fixed Term) Exercise Date in such form as the Paying Agent may
approve, redeem such Products on the Redemption Date for such Products. Such
notice (the "Investor Put Option (Fixed Term) Redemption Notice™) shall
specify the Investor Put Option (Fixed Term) Exercise Date in respect of which
the Investor is exercising its Investor Put Option (Fixed Term).

For the avoidance of doubt, if the Issuer has already given notice of the exercise
of its applicable Issuer Call Option (Fixed Term) prior to the day on which the
Investor gives natice of the exercise of its Investor Put Option (Fixed Term), no
such Investor Put Option (Fixed Term) may be exercised in respect of such
Product and such Product shall be redeemed in accordance with (i) above.

Open Ended

Each Product for which the Redemption Style is specified to be Open Ended in the Issue
Terms shall only be redeemed upon (a) the Issuer exercising its Issuer Call Option (Open
Ended) in accordance with Payout Condition 8.1(b)(i) below or (b) the Investor
exercising its Investor Put Option (Open Ended) in accordance with Payout Condition
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8.2

8.1(b)(ii) below. Upon the exercise of either the Issuer Call Option (Open Ended) or the
Investor Put Option (Open Ended), the Final Fixing Date and the Redemption Date shall
be determined in accordance with the respective definition thereof.

M Issuer's Call Option (Open Ended)

Unless the Investor has already given notice of the exercise of its Investor Put
Option (Open Ended) or the Products have been previously redeemed or
purchased and cancelled, the Issuer may exercise its option to redeem all (but not
some only) of the outstanding Products on any Issuer Call Option (Open Ended)
Exercise Date by giving not less than the Issuer Call Option (Open Ended) Notice
Period notice prior to such Issuer Call Option (Open Ended) Exercise Date to the
Investors in accordance with General Condition 15 (Notices). Such notice (the
"Issuer Call Option (Open Ended) Redemption Notice") shall specify the
Issuer Call Option (Open Ended) Exercise Date in respect of which the Issuer
intends to exercise its Issuer Call Option (Open Ended) and shall designate a Final
Fixing Date.

For the avoidance of doubt, if an Investor has already given notice of the exercise
of its Investor Put Option (Open Ended) prior to the day on which the Issuer gives
notice of the exercise of its Issuer Call Option (Open Ended), no such Issuer Call
Option (Open Ended) may be exercised in respect of such Product and such
Product shall be redeemed in accordance with (ii) below.

(i) Investor's Put Option (Open Ended)

Unless the Issuer has already given notice of the exercise of its Issuer Call Option
(Open Ended) or the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and
cancelled, the Issuer shall, at the option of the Investor exercising its Investor Put
Option (Open Ended) in respect of such Security on any Investor Put Option
(Open Ended) Exercise Date by giving notice to the Paying Agent not less than
the Investor Put Option (Open Ended) Notice Period prior to such Investor Put
Option (Open Ended) Exercise Date in such form as the Paying Agent may
approve, redeem such Products on the Redemption Date for such Products. Such
notice (the "Investor Put Option (Open Ended) Redemption Notice™) shall
specify the Investor Put Option (Open Ended) Exercise Date in respect of which
the Investor is exercising its Investor Put Option (Open Ended).

For the avoidance of doubt, if the Issuer has already given notice of the exercise
of its Issuer Call Option (Open Ended) prior to the day on which the Investor
gives notice of the exercise of its Investor Put Option (Open Ended), no such
Investor Put Option (Open Ended) may be exercised in respect of such Product
and such Product shall be redeemed in accordance with (i) above.

Tracker Product Payout

(@)

(b)

(©

Coupon Amount

Not applicable — the Coupon Provisions do not apply to Products in respect of which the
Payout Style is specified to be 'Tracker Product' in the Issue Terms (and no Coupon
Amount(s) will be payable in respect of such Products).

Autocall Amount

Not applicable — the Autocall Provisions do not apply to Products in respect of which the
Payout Style is specified to be "Tracker Product' in the Issue Terms.

Redemption Amount

Unless the Products have been previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the
Issuer shall redeem each Product on the Redemption Date in accordance with the relevant
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Tracker Product Style and the corresponding paragraph from 8.2(c)(i) to 8.2(c)(xvi)
below (as applicable):

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Single Underlying with Quanto FX and Reinvestment of Dividends Payout

This paragraph 8.2(c)(i) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Tracker
Products in respect of which 'Tracker Product Style' is specified as 'Single
Underlying with Quanto FX and Reinvestment of Dividends' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date, which shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency
(notwithstanding that the Underlying Currency may be different to the Settlement
Currency) determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following
formula:

Conversion Ratio (Tracker) x W(Final) X FFL

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Management Fee Deduction' is specified to be
'‘Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be equal to (A) the
amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula above
multiplied by (B) the Management Fee Multiplier. For the avoidance of doubt, if
'Management Fee Deduction' is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms
the Redemption Amount shall remain as determined in accordance with the
formula above.

Single Underlying with Quanto FX and Dividends at Redemption Payout

This paragraph 8.2(c)(ii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Tracker
Products in respect of which 'Tracker Product Style' is specified as 'Single
Underlying with Quanto FX and Dividends at Redemption' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date, which shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency
(notwithstanding that the Underlying Currency may be different to the Settlement
Currency) determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following
formula:

[Conversion Ratio (Tracker) x W (Initial) X FFL] + Accumulated Dividends

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Management Fee Deduction' is specified to be
'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be equal to (A) the
amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula above
multiplied by (B) the Management Fee Multiplier. For the avoidance of doubt, if
'Management Fee Deduction' is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms
the Redemption Amount shall remain as determined in accordance with the
formula above.

Single Underlying with Quanto FX and no Dividends Payout

This paragraph 8.2(c)(iii) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Tracker
Products in respect of which 'Tracker Product Style' is specified as 'Single
Underlying with Quanto FX and no Dividends' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date, which shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency
determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

Conversion Ratio (Tracker) x Final Fixing Level

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Management Fee Deduction' is specified to be
'Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be equal to (A) the
amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula above
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)

multiplied by (B) the Management Fee Multiplier. For the avoidance of doubt, if
'Management Fee Deduction' is specified to be 'Not Applicable'in the Issue Terms
the Redemption Amount shall remain as determined in accordance with the
formula above.

Single Underlying with Composite FX and Dividends at Redemption Payout

This paragraph 8.2(c)(iv) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Tracker
Products in respect of which 'Tracker Product Style' is specified as 'Single
Underlying with Composite FX and Dividends at Redemption' in the Issue Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date, which shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency
determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

[(Conversion Ratio (Tracker) X W (Initial) x FFL X FX Rate (Final)] + Accumulated Dividends

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Management Fee Deduction' is specified to be
'‘Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be equal to (A) the
amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula above
multiplied by (B) the Management Fee Multiplier. For the avoidance of doubt, if
'Management Fee Deduction' is specified to be 'Not Applicable' in the Issue Terms
the Redemption Amount shall remain as determined in accordance with the
formula above.

Single Underlying with Composite FX and Reinvestment of Dividends Payout

This paragraph 8.2(c)(v) of the Payout Conditions shall apply to all Tracker
Products in respect of which "Tracker Product Style' is specified as 'Single
Underlying with Composite FX and Reinvestment of Dividends' in the Issue
Terms.

The Issuer shall redeem each Product by payment of the Redemption Amount on
the Redemption Date, which shall be an amount in the Settlement Currency
determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

[(Conversion Ratio (Tracker) X W (Final) X FFL x FX Rate (Final)]

PROVIDED THAT, if 'Management Fee Deduction' is specified to be
'‘Applicable’ in the Issue Terms, the Redemption Amount shall be equal to (A) the
amount calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the formula above
multiplied by (B) the Managemen